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Information Memorandum for issue of Debentures on a private placement basis on
July 20, 2021

Issue of 480 (Four Hundred and Eighty) Rated, Listed, Senior, Secured, Redeemable, Taxable,
Non-Convertible Debentures (“NCDs” or “Debentures”) of face value of Rs. 10,00,000/-
(Rupees Ten Lakh Only) each, aggregating up to Rs. 48,00,00,000/- (Rupees Forty Eight Crores
Only) issued on a fully paid basis and on a private placement basis (the “Issue”)

Background

This Information Memorandum is related to the Debentures to be issued by Oxyzo Financial Services
Private Limited (the “Issuer” or “Company”) on a private placement basis and contains relevant
information and disclosures required for the purpose of issuing of the Debentures. The issue of the
Debentures comprised in the Issue and described under this Information Memorandum has been
authorised by the Issuer through resolutions passed by the shareholders of the Issuer on July 19, 2021
and the Board of Directors of the Issuer dated July 12, 2021 and the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company. Pursuant to the resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders dated
July 19, 2021 in accordance with provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has been
authorised to issue non-convertible debentures, upon such terms and conditions as the Board may think
fit, for amounts up to INR 48,00,00,000/- (Rupees Forty Eight Crores only). The present issue of NCDs
in terms of this Information Memorandum is within the overall powers of the Board as per the above
shareholder resolution(s).

General Risks

Investment in debt and debt related securities involve a degree of risk and Investors should not invest
any funds in the debt instruments, unless they can afford to take the risks attached to such investments
and only after reading the information carefully. For taking an investment decision, the Investors must
rely on their own examination of the Company and the Issue including the risks involved. The
Debentures have not been recommended or approved by Securities and Exchange Board of India
(“SEBI”) nor does SEBI guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of this document. Specific attention of
Investors is invited to the statement of Risk Factors at SECTION 3 of this memorandum of private
placement for issue of Debentures on a private placement basis (“Information Memorandum” or
“Disclosure Document”). This Information Memorandum has not been submitted, cleared or approved
by SEBL
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Issuer’s Absolute Responsibility

The Issuer, having made all reasonable inquiries, confirms and represents that the information contained
in this Information Memorandum/ Disclosure Document is true and correct in all material respects and
is not misleading in any material respect, that the opinions and intentions expressed herein are honestly
held and that there are no other facts, the omission of which makes this document as a whole or any of
such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading in any material respect.
The Issuer is solely responsible for the correctness, adequacy and disclosure of all relevant information
herein.

Credit Rating

The Debentures proposed to be issued by the Issuer have been rated by CRISIL Limited (“CRISIL”).
The Rating Agency have, vide their rationale dated May 06, 2021 assigned a rating of CRISIL A/Stable
(Assigned) in respect of the Non -Convertible Debentures. The above rating is not a recommendation to
buy, sell or hold securities and Investors should take their own decision. The ratings may be subject to
revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agency and should be evaluated independently of any
other ratings. Please refer to Annexure II of this Information Memorandum for the rationale dated May
06, 2021 from the Rating Agency assigning the credit rating abovementioned.

Issue Schedule

Issue Opens on: July 20, 2021
Issue Closing on: July 22, 2021
Deemed Date of Allotment: July 22, 2021

The Issuer reserves the right to change the Issue Schedule including the Deemed Date of Allotment at
its sole discretion, without giving any reasons or prior notice. The Issue shall be open for subscription
during the banking hours on each day during the period covered by the Issue Schedule.

The Debentures are proposed to be listed on the wholesale debt market of the BSE Limited / Bombay
Stock Exchange (“BSE”).

Debenture Trustee Registrar and Transfer Agent
E@ IDBI trustee KARV VI
IDBI Trusteeship Services Ltd
Kfin Technologies Private Limited
IDBI Trusteeship Services LimitedAddress: Plot No. 17-24, Vittal Rao Nagar, Madhapur,
Asian Building, Ground Floor, 17. R. Kamani Hyderabad-500 081
Marg, Ballard Estate, Mumbai — 400001 Contact Person: Mr Amit Verma
Contact Person: Deepak Avasthi Tel: 040-23420818
Tel.: 022 40807000 Fax: 040-23420814
Email: itsl@idbitrustee.com Email: amit.verma@karvy.com;
Website: https://idbitrustee.com/ support@karvy.com
Website: www.karvycomputershare.com
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SECTION 1: DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

Unless the context otherwise indicates or requires, the following terms shall have the meanings given
below in this Information Memorandum.

Allot/Allotment/Allotted

Unless the context otherwise requires or implies, the allotment of the
Debentures pursuant to this Issue.

Applicable Law Includes all applicable statutes, enactments or acts of any legislative
body in India, laws, ordinances, rules, bye-laws, regulations,
notifications, guidelines, policies, directions, directives and orders of any
Governmental Authority and any modifications or re-enactments thereof.

Application Form The form used by the recipient of this Disclosure Document and/or the

Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s), to apply for
subscription to the Debentures, which is annexed to this Information
Memorandum and marked as Annexure IV.

Board/Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Issuer.

Business Day

any day of the week (excluding Sundays, and any day on which banks
are closed for business in New Delhi) on which banks are open for
business in New Delhi, and “Business Days” shall be construed
accordingly;

CDSL

Central Depository Services (India) Limited.

Client Loan

Each loan made by the Issuer as a lender, and “Client Loans” shall refer
to the aggregate of such loans.

Control

shall mean (a) the direct or indirect beneficial ownership of or the right
to vote in respect of, directly or indirectly, more than 51% (Fifty One
percent) of the voting shares or securities of such person; (b) the power
to control the majority of the composition of the board of directors of
such person; (c) the power to control the management or policy decisions
exercisable by a Person or Persons acting individually or in concert,
directly or indirectly, including by virtue of their shareholding or
management rights or shareholder’s agreements or voting agreements or
in any other manner; or (d) any combination of (a), (b) and (c). For
avoidance of doubt, it is clarified that the term “Control” shall also
include the instances covered within the definition of control in Section
2(27) of the Companies Act, 2013.

Debentures / NCDs

480 (Four Hundred and Eighty) Rated, Listed, Senior, Secured,
Redeemable, Taxable, Non-Convertible Debentures (“NCDs” or
“Debentures”) of face value of Rs. 10,00,000/- (Rupees Ten Lakh only)
each, aggregating up to Rs. 48,00,00,000/- (Rupees Forty-Eight Crores
only) issued on a fully paid basis and on a private placement basis (the
“Issue”)

Debenture Holders /
Investors

The holders of the Debentures issued by the Issuer and shall include the
registered transferees of the Debentures from time to time.

Debenture Trustee

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited

Debenture Trustee
Agreement

Agreement executed / to be executed by and between the Debenture
Trustee and the Company for the purposes of appointment of the
Debenture Trustee to act as debenture trustee in connection with the
issuance of the Debentures.

Debenture Trust Deed

Shall mean the debenture trust deed executed / to be executed by and
between the Debenture Trustee and the Company on or prior to the
Deemed Date of Allotment infer alia recording the terms and conditions
upon which the Debentures are being issued and shall include the




Information Memorandum
Date: July 20, 2021

Private & Confidential
For Private Circulation Only

(This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus)

representations and warranties and the covenants to be provided by the
Issuer.

Deed of Hypothecation means the unattested deed of hypothecation executed /to be execute into
between the Issuer and the Debenture Trustee before applying for listing
from the Deemed Date of Allotment and in any case prior to the Deemed
Date of Allotment.

Deemed Date of July 22,2021

Allotment

Demat Refers to dematerialized securities which are securities that are in

electronic form, and not in physical form, with the entries noted by the
Depository.

Depositories Act

The Depositories Act, 1996, as amended from time to time.

Depository A Depository registered with SEBI under the SEBI (Depositories and
Participant) Regulations, 2018, as amended from time to time.

Depository Participant / A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

DP

Director(s) Director(s) of the Issuer.

Disclosure Document / This document which sets out the information regarding the Debentures

Information being issued on a private placement basis.

Memorandum

DP ID Depository Participant Identification Number.

Due Date Any date on which the holders of the Debentures are entitled to any
payments, whether on maturity or earlier, prior to the scheduled Maturity
Date or acceleration.

EFT Electronic Fund Transfer.

Financial Indebtedness

“Financial Indebtedness” means in relation to an entity any indebtedness

without double counting for or in respect of:

a) moneys borrowed,;

b) any amount raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit, bill
acceptance or bill endorsement facility or dematerialised
equivalent;

¢) any amount raised pursuant to any note purchase facility or the issue
of bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or any similar instrument;

d) the amount of any liability in respect of any lease or hire purchase
contract which would, in accordance with GAAP, be treated as a
finance or capital lease;

e) receivables sold or discounted (other than any receivables to the
extent they are sold on a non-recourse basis);

f) any amount raised under any other transaction (including any
forward sale or purchase agreement) having the commercial effect
of a borrowing;

g) any derivative transaction entered into in connection with protection
against or benefit from fluctuation in any rate or price (and, when
calculating the value of any derivative transaction, only the marked
to market value if payable by a borrower under each such
transaction shall be taken into account);

h) (A) shares which are expressed to be redeemable or (B) any shares
or instruments convertible into shares which are the subject of a put
option or any form of buyback guarantee granted by the issuer
issuing such shares or convertible instruments;

i) any obligation under any put option including any form of
guarantee, letter of comfort, short fall undertaking, keep fit letter or
indemnity in respect of any shares or instruments convertible into
shares or otherwise issued by another entity;
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j) any counter-indemnity obligation in respect of a guarantee,
indemnity, bond, standby or documentary letter of credit or any
other instrument issued by a bank or financial institution; and

k) the amount of any liability in respect of any guarantee or indemnity
for any of the items referred to in paragraphs (a) to (j) above,

1) andincludes all Financial Indebtedness in respect of any of the items
referred to in paragraphs (a) to (k) above.

Final Settlement Date

the date on which the entire outstanding amounts of the Company in
relation to the Debentures including the principal amounts, the Coupon
accrued thereon, the Default Interest, additional interest, costs, fees,
charges, etc. and all obligations of the Company under the Transaction
Documents have been irrevocably and unconditionally discharged in full,
to the satisfaction of the Debenture Trustee.

Financial Year/ FY Twelve months period commencing from April 1 of a particular calendar
year and ending on March 31 of the subsequent calendar year.
GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles prescribed by the Institute of

Chartered Accountants of India from time to time and consistently
applied by the Issuer.

Governmental Authority

The President of India, the Government of India, the Governor and the
Government of any State in India, any Ministry or Department of the
same, any municipal or local government authority, any authority or
private body exercising powers conferred by applicable law and any
court, tribunal or other judicial or quasi-judicial body and shall include,
without limitation, a stock exchange and any regulatory body.

IND AS shall mean the Indian generally accepted accounting principles issued
under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as
amended, together with any pronouncements issued under applicable law
thereon from time to time, and applied on a consistent basis

Issue Private Placement of the Debentures.

Issue Closing Date

July 22, 2021

Issue Opening Date

July 20, 2021

Issuer/ Company

Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited.

Majority Debenture
Holders

Debenture Holders whose participation or share in the principal
amount(s) outstanding with respect to the Debentures aggregate to more
than 51% (Fifty One Percent) of the value of the nominal amount of the
Debentures for the time being outstanding.

Material Adverse Effect

The effect or consequence of an event, circumstance, occurrence or
condition (not being an event or circumstance arising out of any
legislative or regulatory actions) which has caused or is likely to cause,
as of any date of determination, in the sole opinion of the Debenture
Trustee, a material and adverse effect on: (i) the financial condition,
business or operation of the Issuer; (ii) the ability of the Issuer to enter
into and to perform their obligations under the Transaction Documents or
any other related document to which Company is or will be a party; or
(iii) the legality or validity or enforceability of any of the Transaction
Documents or any other related document (including the ability of any
party to enforce any of its remedies thereunder).

Maturity Date

22" July 2023, being 24 (Twenty Four) months from the Deemed Date
of Allotment, or such other date on which the final payment of the
principal amount of the Debentures becomes due and payable provided
by the Debenture Holders, whether at such stated maturity date, by
declaration of acceleration, or otherwise.

N.A.

Not Applicable.
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NBFC Non-banking financial company

NBFC Directions Non-Banking Financial Company - Non-Systemically Important Non-
Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 dated
September 1, 2016 (each as amended, modified or restated from time to
time) as may be applicable.

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited.

PAN Permanent Account Number.

Private Placement Offer
cum Application Letter

Shall mean the private placement offer cum application letter prepared
in compliance with Section 42 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the
Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of Securities) Rules, 2014.

Promoter OFB Tech Private Limited

Rating Agency CRISIL Limited, being credit rating agency registered with SEBI
pursuant to SEBI (Credit Rating Agency) Regulations 1999, as amended
from time to time.

RBI Reserve Bank of India.

Record Date The date which will be used for determining the Debenture Holders who

shall be entitled to receive the amounts due on any Due Date, which shall
be the date falling 15 (Fifteen) calendar days prior to such Due Date.

Register of Debenture
Holders

The register maintained by the Company containing the name(s) of
Debenture Holder(s) in the form and manner as prescribed under the
Companies (Management and Administration Rules), 2014, which shall
be maintained at the registered office of the Company.

R&T Agent Registrar and Transfer Agent to the Issue, in this case being Karvy
Fintech Private Limited.

ROC Registrar of Companies.

Rs. /INR Indian Rupee.

RTGS Real Time Gross Settlement.

SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India constituted under the Securities
and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (as amended from time to time).

SEBI Debt Listing The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt

Regulations Securities) Regulation, 2008 issued by SEBI, as amended from time to
time.

TDS Tax Deducted at Source.

The Companies Act/ the | The Companies Act, 1956 as amended from time to time and to the extent

Act repealed and replaced, by the Companies Act, 2013 shall mean the

Companies Act, 2013 and the relevant rules issued thereunder.

Terms & Conditions

Shall mean the terms and conditions pertaining to the Issue as outlined
in the Transaction Documents.

Transaction Documents

Shall mean the documents executed or to be executed in relation to the
issuance of the Debentures as more particularly set out in SECTION 7:
and shall include the Information Memorandum, the Private Placement
Offer cum Application Letter, the Debenture Trustee Agreement, the
Deed of Hypothecation, the shareholder resolution authorising private
placement of debentures under the Companies Act, 2013, board
resolution authorising the issuance of Debentures under Section 179 of
the Companies Act, 2013, the credit rating letter/rationale from the
Rating Agency the consent letter from the Debenture Trustee, the
Debenture Trust Deed, the tripartite agreements with the Depository(ies)
and registrar and transfer agent and any other document that may be
designated by the Debenture Trustee as a Transaction Document.

WDM

Wholesale Debt Market segment of the BSE.

Wilful Defaulter

Shall mean an issuer who is categorized as a wilful defaulter by any Bank
or financial institution or consortium thereof, in accordance with the
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guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by the Reserve Bank of India and
includes an issuer whose director or promoter is categorized as such in
accordance with Regulation 2(n) of SEBI (Issue and Listing of Debt
Securities) Regulations, 2008.
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SECTION 2: NOTICE TO INVESTORS AND DISCLAIMERS

2.1 ISSUER’S DISCLAIMER

This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus and should
not be construed to be a prospectus or a statement in lieu of a prospectus under the Companies Act. The
issue of the Debentures to be listed on the WDM segment of the BSE is being made strictly on a private
placement basis. Multiple copies hereof given to the same entity shall be deemed to be given to the same
person and shall be treated as such. This Information Memorandum does not constitute and shall not be
deemed to constitute an offer or invitation to subscribe to the Debentures to the public in general.

As per the applicable provisions, it is not necessary for a copy of this Information Memorandum/
Disclosure Document to be filed or submitted to the SEBI for its review and/or approval.

This Information Memorandum has been prepared in conformity with the SEBI Debt Listing Regulations
as amended from time to time and the applicable RBI Circulars governing private placements of
debentures by NBFCs. This Information Memorandum has been prepared solely to provide general
information about the Issuer to the eligible investors to whom it is addressed and who are willing and
eligible to subscribe to the Debentures. This Information Memorandum does not purport to contain all
the information that any eligible investor may require. Further, this Information Memorandum has been
prepared for informational purposes relating to this transaction only and upon the express understanding
that it will be used only for the purposes set forth herein.

Neither this Information Memorandum nor any other information supplied in connection with the
Debentures is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and any recipient of this
Information Memorandum should not consider such receipt as a recommendation to subscribe to any
Debentures. Each potential Investor contemplating subscription to any Debentures should make its own
independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs of the Issuer, and its own appraisal of the
creditworthiness of the Issuer. Potential Investors should consult their own financial, legal, tax and other
professional advisors as to the risks and investment considerations arising from an investment in the
Debentures and should possess the appropriate resources to analyze such investment and the suitability
of such investment to such potential Investor’s particular circumstances.

The Issuer confirms that, as of the date hereof, this Information Memorandum (including the documents
incorporated by reference herein, if any) contains all the information that is material in the context of the
Issue and regulatory requirements in relation to the Issue and is accurate in all such material respects.
No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation not contained or
incorporated by reference in this Information Memorandum or in any material made available by the
Issuer to any potential Investor pursuant hereto and, if given or made, such information or representation
must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Issuer. The Issuer certifies that the disclosures
made in this Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s)
are adequate and in conformity with the SEBI Debt Listing Regulations. Further, the Issuer accepts no
responsibility for statements made otherwise than in the Information Memorandum or any other material
issued by or at the instance of the Issuer and anyone placing reliance on any source of information other
than this Information Memorandum would be doing so at its own risk.

This Information Memorandum, the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) and the
contents hereof are restricted only for the intended recipient(s) who have been addressed directly
and specifically through a communication by the Issuer and only such recipients are eligible to
apply for the Debentures. All Investors are required to comply with the relevant
regulations/guidelines applicable to them for investing in this Issue. The contents of this
Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) are
intended to be used only by those potential Investors to whom it is distributed. It is not intended
for distribution to any other person and should not be reproduced by the recipient.

No invitation is being made to any person other than those to whom Application Forms along with this
Information Memorandum and the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) being issued have
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been sent. Any application by a person to whom the Information Memorandum and/or the Private
Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) has not been sent by the Issuer shall be rejected without
assigning any reason.

The person who is in receipt of this Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum
Application Letter(s) shall not reproduce or distribute in whole or part or make any announcement in
public or to a third party regarding the contents hereof without the consent of the Issuer. The recipient
agrees to keep confidential all information provided (or made available hereafter), including, without
limitation, the existence and terms of the Issue, any specific pricing information related to the Issue or
the amount or terms of any fees payable to us or other parties in connection with the Issue. This
Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) may not be
photocopied, reproduced, or distributed to others at any time without the prior written consent of the
Issuer. Upon request, the recipients will promptly return all material received from the Issuer (including
this Information Memorandum) without retaining any copies hereof. If any recipient of this Information
Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) decides not to participate in
the Issue, that recipient must promptly return this Information Memorandum and/or the Private
Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) and all reproductions whether in whole or in part and any
other information statement, notice, opinion, memorandum, expression or forecast made or supplied at
any time in relation thereto or received in connection with the Issue to the Issuer.

The Issuer does not undertake to update the Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement
Offer cum Application Letter(s) to reflect subsequent events after the date of Information Memorandum
and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) and thus it should not be relied upon with
respect to such subsequent events without first confirming its accuracy with the Issuer.

Neither the delivery of this Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum
Application Letter(s) nor any sale of Debentures made hereafter shall, under any circumstances,
constitute a representation or create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the
Issuer since the date hereof.

This Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) does not
constitute, nor may it be used for or in connection with, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any
jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or to any person to whom it is unlawful
to make such an offer or solicitation. No action is being taken to permit an offering of the Debentures or
the distribution of this Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application
Letter(s) in any jurisdiction where such action is required. Persons into whose possession this
Information Memorandum comes are required to inform themselves about and to observe any such
restrictions. The Information Memorandum is made available to potential Investors in the Issue on the
strict understanding that it is confidential.

2.2 DISCLAIMER CLAUSE OF STOCK EXCHANGES

As required, a copy of this Information Memorandum has been filed with the BSE in terms of the SEBI
Debt Listing Regulations. It is to be distinctly understood that submission of this Information
Memorandum to the BSE should not in any way be deemed or construed to mean that this Information
Memorandum has been reviewed, cleared, or approved by the BSE; nor does the BSE in any manner
warrant, certify or endorse the correctness or completeness of any of the contents of this Information
Memorandum, nor does the BSE warrant that the Issuer’s Debentures will be listed or will continue to
be listed on the BSE; nor does the BSE take any responsibility for the soundness of the financial and
other conditions of the Issuer, its promoters, its management or any scheme or project of the Issuer.

2.3 DISCLAIMER CLAUSE OF RBI

The Company is having a valid certificate of registration issued by the Reserve Bank of India under
Section 45 IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. However, the RBI does not accept any
responsibility or guarantee about the present position as to the financial soundness of the company or for
the correctness of any of the statements or representations made or opinions expressed by the company
and for repayment of deposits/ discharge of liability by the company.

10
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24 DISCLAIMER CLAUSE OF SEBI

As per the provisions of the SEBI Debt Listing Regulations, it is not stipulated that a copy of this
Information Memorandum has to be filed with or submitted to the SEBI for its review / approval. It is to
be distinctly understood that this Information Memorandum should not in any way be deemed or
construed to have been approved or vetted by SEBI and that this Issue is not recommended or approved
by SEBI. SEBI does not take any responsibility either for the financial soundness of any proposal for
which the Debentures issued thereof is proposed to be made or for the correctness of the statements made
or opinions expressed in this Information Memorandum. However, the Company undertakes to file this
Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) with SEBI
within T+4 from closure date of issue as per the provisions of the Act and the rules thereunder (As per
Listing Application).

2.5 DISCLAIMER IN RESPECT OF JURISDICTION

This Issue is made in India to Investors as specified under the clause titled “Eligible Investors” of this
Information Memorandum, who shall be/have been identified upfront by the Issuer. This Information
Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) does not constitute an offer
to sell or an invitation to subscribe to Debentures offered hereby to any person to whom it is not
specifically addressed. Any disputes arising out of this Issue will be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction
of the courts and tribunals at New Delhi, India. This Information Memorandum and/or the Private
Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) does not constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to
subscribe to the Debentures herein, in any other jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to
make an offer or invitation in such jurisdiction.

2.6 DISCLAIMER IN RESPECT OF RATING AGENCY

Ratings are opinions on credit quality and are not recommendations to sanction, renew, disburse or recall
the concerned bank facilities or to buy, sell or hold any security. The Rating Agency has based its ratings
on information obtained from sources believed by it to be accurate and reliable. The Rating Agency does
not, however, guarantee the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of any information and is not
responsible for any errors or omissions or for the results obtained from the use of such information. Most
entities whose bank facilities/instruments are rated by the Rating Agency has paid a credit rating fee,
based on the amount and type of bank facilities/instruments.

2.7 ISSUE OF DEBENTURES IN DEMATERIALISED FORM

The Debentures will be issued in dematerialised form. The Issuer has made arrangements with the
Depositories for the issue of the Debentures in dematerialised form. Investors will have to hold the
Debentures in dematerialised form as per the provisions of Depositories Act. The Issuer shall take
necessary steps to credit the Debentures allotted to the beneficiary account maintained by the Investor
with its depositary participant. The Issuer will make the Allotment to Investors on the Deemed Date of
Allotment after verification of the Application Form, the accompanying documents and on realisation of
the application money.

2.8 DISCLAIMER IN RELATION TO ISSUER

This Information Memorandum in relation to the Debentures is made available by the Issuer to the
applicant on the further strict understanding that (i) in providing this Information Memorandum to the
applicant, there will be no violation of rules, regulations and byelaws issued by any applicable authority
including those issued by the Securities and Exchange Board of India; (ii) the applicant has sufficient
knowledge, experience, and professional advice to make its own evaluation of the merits and risks of a
transaction of the type under this Information Memorandum and (iii) the applicant is not relying on the
Issuer nor on any of the affiliates of the Issuer for information, advice or recommendations of any sort
except for the accuracy of specific factual information about the possible terms of the transaction.

11
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The Issuer is not acting as the advisor or agent of the applicant. This Information Memorandum does not
purport to identify for the applicant, the risks (direct or indirect) or other material considerations, which
may be associated with the applicant entering into the proposed transaction. Prior to entering into any
proposed transaction, the applicant should independently determine, without reliance upon the Issuer or
the affiliates of the Issuer, the economic risks and merits, as well as the legal, tax, and accounting
characterizations and consequences of the transaction and including that the applicant is able to assume
these risks.

This Information Memorandum and the contents herein are the Issuer’s property, and are to be
considered proprietary information and may not be reproduced or otherwise disseminated in whole or in
part without the Issuer’s written consent unless required to by judicial or administrative proceeding, and
then with prior notice to the Issuer.

2.9 DISCLAIMER OF THE ISSUE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE

The Debenture Trustee does not guarantee the terms of payment regarding the Issue as stated in this
Disclosure Document and shall not be held liable for any default in the same. Neither the Debenture
Trustee nor any of its affiliates / representatives make any representations or assume any responsibility
for the accuracy of the information given in this Disclosure Document.

The Debenture Trustee ipso facto does not have the obligations of a borrower or a principal debtor or a
guarantor as to the monies paid/invested by the subscribers to the Debentures.
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SECTION 3: RISK FACTORS

The following are the risks relating to the Company, the Debentures and the market in general envisaged
by the management of the Company. Potential Investors should carefully consider all the risk factors in
this Information Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) for
evaluating the Company and its business and the Debentures before making any investment decision
relating to the Debentures. The Company believes that the factors described below represent the principal
risks inherent in investing in the Debentures but does not represent that the statements below regarding
risks of holding the Debentures are exhaustive. The ordering of the risk factors is intended to facilitate
ease of reading and reference and does not in any manner indicate the importance of one risk factor over
another. Investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Information
Memorandum and/or the Private Placement Offer cum Application Letter(s) and reach their own views
prior to making any investment decision.

3.1 REPAYMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE CREDIT RISK OF THE ISSUER.

Potential Investors should be aware that receipt of the principal amount and any other amounts that may
be due in respect of the Debentures is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer. Potential Investors assume
the risk that the Issuer will not be able to satisfy their obligations under the Debentures. In the event that
bankruptcy proceedings or composition, scheme of arrangement or similar proceedings to avert
bankruptcy are instituted by or against the Issuer, the payment of sums due on the Debentures may not
be made or may be substantially reduced or delayed.

3.2 THE SECONDARY MARKET FOR DEBENTURES MAY BE ILLIQUID.

The Debentures may be very illiquid and no secondary market may develop in respect thereof. Even if
there is a secondary market for the Debentures, it is not likely to provide significant liquidity. Potential
Investors may have to hold the Debentures until redemption to realize any value.

3.3 CREDIT RISK & RATING DOWNGRADE RISK

The Rating Agency has assigned the credit ratings to the Debentures. In the event of deterioration in the
financial health of the Issuer, there is a possibility that the Rating Agency may downgrade the rating of
the Debentures. In such cases, potential Investors may incur losses on revaluation of their investment or
make provisions towards sub-standard/ non-performing investment as per their usual norms.

3.4 CHANGES IN INTEREST RATES MAY AFFECT THE PRICE OF NCDS.

All securities where a fixed rate of interest is offered, such as this Issue, are subject to price risk. The
price of such securities will vary inversely with changes in prevailing interest rates, i.e. when interest
rates rise, prices of fixed income securities fall and when interest rates drop, the prices increase. The
extent of fall or rise in the prices is a function of the existing coupon, days to maturity and the increase
or decrease in the level of prevailing interest rates. Increased rates of interest, which frequently
accompany inflation and/or a growing economy, are likely to have a negative effect on the pricing of the
Debentures.

3.5 TAX CONSIDERATIONS AND LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

Special tax considerations and legal considerations may apply to certain types of investors. Potential
Investors are urged to consult with their own financial, legal, tax and other advisors to determine any
financial, legal, tax and other implications of this investment.

3.6 ACCOUNTING CONSIDERATIONS

Special accounting considerations may apply to certain types of taxpayers. Potential Investors are urged
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to consult with their own accounting advisors to determine implications of this investment.

3.7 SECURITY MAYBE INSUFFICIENT TO REDEEM THE DEBENTURES

In the event that the Company is unable to meet its payment and other obligations towards Investors
under the terms of the Debentures, the Debenture Trustee may enforce the Security as per the terms of
security documents, and other related documents. The Investor’s recovery in relation to the Debentures
will be subject to (i) the market value of such secured property, (ii) finding willing buyers for the Security
at a price sufficient to repay the potential Investors amounts outstanding under the Debentures. The value
realised from the enforcement of the Security may be insufficient to redeem the Debentures.

3.8 MATERIAL CHANGES IN REGULATIONS TO WHICH THE ISSUER IS SUBJECT
COULD IMPAIR THE ISSUER’S ABILITY TO MEET PAYMENT OR OTHER
OBLIGATIONS.

The Issuer is subject generally to changes in Indian law, as well as to changes in government regulations
and policies and accounting principles. Any changes in the regulatory framework could adversely affect
the profitability of the Issuer or its future financial performance, by requiring a restructuring of its
activities, increasing costs or otherwise.

3.9 LEGALITY OF PURCHASE

Potential Investors of the Debentures will be responsible for the lawfulness of the acquisition of the
Debentures, whether under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or the jurisdiction in which it
operates or for compliance by that potential Investor with any law, regulation or regulatory policy
applicable to it.

3.10 POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC RISK IN INDIA

The Issuer operates only within India and, accordingly, all of its revenues are derived from the domestic
market. As a result, it is highly dependent on prevailing economic conditions in India and its results of
operations are significantly affected by factors influencing the Indian economy. An uncertain economic
situation, in India and globally, could result in a further slowdown in economic growth, investment and
consumption. A slowdown in the rate of growth in the Indian economy could result in lower demand for
credit and other financial products and services and higher defaults. Any slowdown in the growth or
negative growth of sectors where the Issuer has a relatively higher exposure could adversely impact its
performance. Any such slowdown could adversely affect its business, prospects, results of operations
and financial condition.

3.11 RISKS RELATED TO THE BUSINESS OF THE ISSUER

A. Majority of the Issuer’s loans are secured and the clients of these loans are of the high risk
category and if the Issuer is unable to control the level of non-performing loans (“NPAs”) in
the future, or if the Issuer’s loan loss reserves are insufficient to cover future loan losses, the
financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

The loans provided by the Issuer are 70% secured and if the Issuer is unable to control the level
of NPAs in the future, or if the loan loss reserves are insufficient to cover future loan losses, the
financial condition of the Issuer and results of operations may be materially and adversely
affected.

As on 31 March 2021, the gross NPA was Rs. 16.72 crores on a gross portfolio of Rs 1368.18
crores (including managed portfolio of Rs.0).

The Issuer cannot assure that the Issuer will be able to effectively control and reduce the level

of the impaired loans in its total loan portfolio. The amount of the Issuer’s reported non-
performing loans may increase in the future as a result of growth in the total loan portfolio, and
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also due to factors beyond the Issuer’s control, such as over-extended member credit that we are
unaware of. Failure to manage NPAs or effect recoveries will result in operations being
adversely affected.

The Issuer’s current loan loss reserves may not be adequate to cover an increase in the amount
of NPAs or any future deterioration in the overall credit quality of the Issuer’s total loan
portfolio. As a result, if the quality of the Issuer’s total loan portfolio deteriorates the Issuer may
be required to increase the loan loss reserves, which will adversely affect the Issuer’s financial
condition and results of operations. The Issuer’s members largely belong to low-income segment
and, as a result, might be vulnerable if economic conditions worsen or growth rates decelerate
in India, or if there are natural disasters such as floods and droughts in areas where the Issuer’s
members live. Moreover, there is no precise method for predicting loan and credit losses, and
the Issuer cannot assure that the Issuer’s monitoring and risk management procedures will
effectively predict such losses or that loan loss reserves will be sufficient to cover actual losses.
If the Issuer is unable to control or reduce the level of its NPAs or poor credit quality loans, the
Issuer’s financial condition and results of the Issuer’s operations could be materially and
adversely affected.

B. The Issuer’s business operates through a large number of rural and semi urban branches and
is exposed to operational risks including fraud

The Issuer is exposed to operational risks, including fraud, petty theft and embezzlement, as it
handles a large amount of cash due to high volume of small transactions. This could harm its
operations and its financial position.

As the Issuer handles a large amount of cash through a high volume of small transactions taking
place in its network, the Issuer is exposed to the risk of fraud or other misconduct by its
employees or outsiders. These risks are further compounded due to the high level of delegation
of power and responsibilities that the Issuer’s business model requires. Given the high volume
of transactions processed by the Issuer, certain instances of fraud and misconduct may go
unnoticed before they are discovered and successfully rectified. Even when the Issuer discovers
such instances of fraud or theft and pursue them to the full extent of the law or with its insurance
carriers, there can be no assurance that the Issuer will recover any such amounts. In addition, the
Issuer’s dependence upon automated systems to record and process transactions may further
increase the risk that technical system flaws or employee tampering or manipulation of those
systems will result in losses that are difficult to detect.

The Issuer maintains an internal audit process to ensure the operations team follows the defined
procedures and reports any deviations to the operations staff and management team. The Issuer
also has a strong MIS system that has a wide range of data that can be used to monitor financial
and operational performance.

To mitigate the above risk, the Issuer maintains an internal audit process to ensure the operations
team follows the defined procedures and reports any deviations to the operations staff and
management team. The Issuer also has a MIS system able to generate data analysis that can be
used to monitor financial and operational performance.

C. Loans due within three years account for almost all of the Issuer’s interest income, and a
significant reduction in short term loans may result in a corresponding decrease in its interest
income

All of the loans the Issuer issues are due within approximately two years of disbursement. The

relatively short-term nature of the Issuer’s loans means that the Issuer’s long-term interest
income stream is less certain than if a portion of its loans were for a longer term. In addition, the
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Issuer’s customers may not obtain new loans from the Issuer upon maturity of their existing
loans, particularly if competition increases. The potential instability of the Issuer’s interest
income could materially and adversely affect the Issuer’s results of operations and financial
position.

The loans given by the issuer are at fixed interest rate, and the tenor of the underlying asset has
increased from one year to two year which has provided stability to the portfolio and interest
income and has also smoothened operating expense.

D. The Issuer is exposed to certain political, regulatory and concentration of risks

Due to the nature of its operations, the Issuer is exposed to political, regulatory and concentration
risks. The Issuer believes a mitigant to this is to expand its geographical reach and may
consequently expand its operations other states. If it is not effectively able to manage such
operations and expansion, it may lose money invested in such expansion, which could adversely
affect its business and results of operations.

E. All Lending to small businesses poses unique risks not generally associated with other forms
of lending in India, and, as a result, the Issuer may experience increased levels of NPAs and
related provisions and write-off that negatively impact results of operations.

Issuer’s core business is to provide loans to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise (“MSME”)
segments primarily in the urban and semi-urban areas. Any downturn in the area of activity by
borrowers could adversely affect the ability of borrowers to make loan repayment on time and
in turn negatively impact the Issuer’s operation. Due to the precarious circumstances of
borrowers and non-traditional lending practices the Issuer may, in the future experience
increased level of non-performing loans and related provisions and write-offs that negatively
impact its business and results of operations.

The Issuer has separated sales from credit risk department. This helps in better credit evaluation
of the customer. A credit enhancement happens by the way of hypothecation of
stocks/machineries and or mortgage of immovable property. The ability to repay the loan is
taken care of by the internal credit evaluation and intention to repay is taken care of by the
collaterals obtained.

The relatively short-term nature of the Issuer’s loans means that the Issuer’s long-term interest
income stream is less certain than if a portion of its loans were for a longer term. In addition, the
Issuer’s customers may not obtain new loans from the Issuer upon maturity of their existing
loans, particularly if competition increases. The potential instability of the Issuer’s interest
income could materially and adversely affect the Issuer’s results of operations and financial
position.

The loans given by the issuer are at fixed interest rate, and the tenor of the underlying asset has
increased from one year to two year which has provided stability to the portfolio and interest
income and has also smoothened operating expense.

F. The Issuer’s business and results of operations would be adversely affected by strikes, work
stoppages or increased wage demands by employees

The employees are not currently unionized. However, there can be no assurance that they will
not unionize in the future. If the employees unionize, it may become difficult to maintain flexible
labour policies, and could result in high labour costs, which would adversely affect the Issuer’s
business and results of operations.
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The Issuer’s insurance coverage may not adequately protect it against losses. Successful
claims that exceed its insurance coverage could harm the Issuer’s results of operations and
diminish its financial position

The Issuer maintains insurance coverage of the type and in the amounts that it believes are
commensurate with its operations and other general liability insurances. The Issuer’s insurance
policies, however, may not provide adequate coverage in certain circumstances and may be
subject to certain deductibles, exclusions and limits on coverage.

In addition, there are various types of risks and losses for which the Issuer does not maintain
insurance, such as losses due to business interruption and natural disasters, because they are
either uninsurable or because insurance is not available to the Issuer on acceptable terms. A
successful assertion of one or more large claims against the Issuer that exceeds it’s available
insurance coverage or results in changes in its insurance policies, including premium increases
or the imposition of a larger deductible or co-insurance requirement, could adversely affect the
Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Issuer requires certain statutory and regulatory approvals for conducting business and failure
to obtain or retain them in a timely manner, or at all, may adversely affect operations.

NBFCs in India are subject to strict regulation and supervision by the RBI. The Issuer requires
certain approvals, licenses, registrations and permissions for operating, including registration
with the RBI as a non-deposit taking NBFC (NBFC-ND). Further, such approvals, licenses,
registrations and permissions must be maintained/renewed over time, applicable requirements
may change and the Issuer may not be aware of or comply with all requirements all of the time.
Additionally, the Issuer may need additional approvals from regulators to introduce new
insurance and other fee based products to its members. In particular, the Issuer is required to
obtain a certificate of registration for carrying on business as a NBFC that is subject to numerous
conditions. In addition, branches are required to be registered under the relevant shops and
establishments laws of the states in which they are located. The shops and establishment laws
regulate various employment conditions, including working hours, holidays and leave and
overtime compensation. If the Issuer fails to obtain or retain any of these approvals or licenses,
or renewals thereof, in a timely manner, or at all, business may be adversely affected. If the
Issuer fails to comply, or a regulator claims that the Issuer has not complied with any of these
conditions, its certificate of registration may be suspended or cancelled and the Issuer shall not
be able to carry on such activities. If the Issuer fails to comply with the NBFC Directions and
fails to maintain the status of NBFC. it may attract penal provisions under the RBI Act, 1934 for
non-compliance. The penal action can also result in RBI cancelling the Certificate of
Registration issued to the NBFC.

Competition from banks and financial institutions, as well as state-sponsored social programs,
may adversely affect our profitability and position in the Indian lending industry

The Issuer faces most significant competition from other NBFCs and banks in India. Many of
the institutions with which Issuer competes have greater assets and better access to, and lower
cost of, funding than the issuer. In certain areas, they may also have better name recognition
and larger member bases than Issuer. The Issuer anticipates that it may encounter greater
competition as they continue expanding the operations in India, which may result in an adverse
effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition.

The economic fallout from the spread of the COVID-19 virus may impact the Issuer’s business
prospects, financial condition, result of operations and credit risk
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The spread of the COVID-19 virus has affected millions across the globe and the same coupled
with measures taken by the governments including lockdowns/ curfew has not only affected day
to day lives of people but has also given a hard blow to the supply chain of factories, with trade
routes being disturbed and slowing down of the industry, trade, commerce and business activities
across all sectors.

The COVID-19 virus pandemic is adversely affecting, and is expected to continue to adversely
affect, our operations, business, liquidity and cashflows, and we have experienced and expect to
continue to experience unpredictable reductions in demand for certain of our products and
services. Further, since a good fraction of our borrowers are small transport road operators, the
disruption due to COVID-19 virus will also have an impact on their business as well as
repayment capacity of the loans taken from us.

However, the extent of negative financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time but
a sustained economic slowdown may significantly affect our business, financial condition,
liquidity, cashflows and results of operations and the same will depend on future developments,
which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may
emerge concerning the severity of the COVID-19 virus and the actions to contain the COVID-
19 virus or treat its impact, among others. Consequently, there may be a negative effect on the
Company’s ability to service the obligations in relation to the Debentures.
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SECTION 4: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited financial statements of the Issuer for the FY ended 31.03.2021 are set out in Annexure V
hereto
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SECTION 5: REGULATORY DISCLOSURES
The Information Memorandum is prepared in accordance with the provisions of SEBI Debt Listing
Regulations and in this section, the Issuer has set out the details required as per Schedule I of the SEBI
Debt Listing Regulations.
51 Documents Submitted to the Exchanges

The following documents have been / shall be submitted to the BSE:

A. Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Issuer and necessary resolution(s) for the
allotment of the Debentures;

B. Copy of last 3 (Three) years audited Annual Reports;

C. Statement containing particulars of, dates of, and parties to all material contracts and agreements;

D. Certified copy of the Board Resolution dated July 12, 2021 authorising the issuance of the
Debentures;

E. Certified true copy of the shareholders' resolution passed by the Company at the General

Meeting held on July 19, 2021 authorizing the Company to issue non-convertible debentures
under Section 42 of the Companies Act, 2013;

F. An undertaking from the Issuer stating that the necessary documents for the creation of the
charge, including the Debenture Trust Deed would be executed within the time frame prescribed
in the relevant regulations/acts/rules etc. and the same would be uploaded on the website of the
BSE, where the debt securities have been listed, within 5 (Five) working days of execution of
the same;

G. Where applicable, an undertaking that permission / consent from the prior creditor for a second
or pari passu charge being created, in favour of the trustees to the proposed issue has been
obtained; and

H. Any other particulars or documents that the recognized stock exchange may call for as it deems
fit.
5.2 Documents Submitted to Debenture Trustee

The following documents have been/shall be submitted to the Debenture Trustee in electronic form (soft
copy) on or before the allotment of the Debentures:

A. Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Issuer and necessary resolution(s) for the
allotment of the Debentures;

B Copy of last 3 (Three) years audited Annual Reports;

C. Statement containing particulars of, dates of, and parties to all material contracts and agreements;

D Latest audited / limited review half yearly consolidated (wherever available) and standalone
financial information (profit & loss statement, balance sheet and cash flow statement) and
auditor qualifications, if any.

E. An undertaking to the effect that the Issuer would, until the redemption of the debt securities,
submit the details mentioned in point (D) above to the Debenture Trustee within the timelines
as mentioned in Simplified Listing Agreement issued by SEBI vide circular No.
SEBI/IMD/BOND/1/2009/11/05 dated May 11, 2009 as amended from time to time, for
furnishing / publishing its half yearly/ annual result. Further, the Issuer shall within 180 (One
Hundred and Eighty) calendar days from the end of the financial year, submit a copy of the latest
annual report to the Debenture Trustee and the Debenture Trustee shall be obliged to share the
details submitted under this clause with all ‘Qualified Institutional Buyers’ and other existing
debenture-holders within 2 (two) Business Days of their specific request.

20



Information Memorandum
Date: July 20, 2021

Private & Confidential
For Private Circulation Only

(This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus)

Name and Address of Registered Office of the Issuer:

Name:

Registered Office of Issuer:

Corporate Office of Issuer:

Compliance Officer of

Issuer:

CFO of Issuer:

Registration Number:

Corporate Identification
Number:

Phone No.:

Contact Person:

Email:
Website of Issuer:

Auditors of the Issuer:

Trustee to the Issue:

Registrar to the Issue:

Credit Rating Agency
of the Issue:

Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Shop No. G-22 C (UGF) D-1 (K-84) Green Park Main New
Delhi, South Delhi -110016 IN

Unit-101, Vipul Agora Mall, MG Road,
Gurgaon, Haryana — 122 002, India

Mr. Brij Kishore Kiradoo,
Company Secretary

101, First Floor, Vipul Agora Mall,
MG Road, Gurgaon-122002

Ms. Ruchi Kalra,

101, First Floor, Vipul Agora Mall,
MG Road, Gurgaon-122002

306174

U65929DL2016PTC306174
+91-9540013068

Mr. Prashant Roy Sharma,

101, First Floor, Vipul Agora Mall,
MG Road, Gurgaon-122002

liabilities@oxyzo.in

WWW.0XYZ0.in

Deloitte Haskins & sells (Firm Reg No. 015125N)
Address: Building No.10, 7th Floor, Tower-B, DLF Cyber
City, Phase-1I, Gurgaon-122002

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited
Address: Asian Building, Ground Floor, 17. R. Kamani Marg,
Ballard Estate, Mumbai — 400001
Contact Person: Deepak Avasthi
Tel.: 022 40807000
Email: itsl@idbitrustee.com
Website: https://idbitrustee.com/

KFin Technologies Private Limited

Address: Karvy Selenium, Tower B, Plot no.31 & 32,
Gachibowli Financial District, Nankramguda, Hyderabad-
500 032

CRISIL Limited,
Central Avenue,
Hiranandani Business Park, Powali,
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Mumbai 400 076, India
Phone : +91 22 3342 3000
Fax : +91 22 3342 3001

A brief summary of business / activities of the Issuer and its line of business
Overview:

Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited is a technology-enabled Small and Medium Enterprise
financing NBFC based out of Gurugram, India that thrives to add value to SME’s business
beyond financing through its parent’s raw material fulfilment engine (OFB Tech Private
Limited) and new opportunities platform (BidAssist).

Oxyzo has developed a niche in deep understanding of the needs of manufacturing and
infrastructure SMEs who are aligned to the commanding heights of the Indian economy and
thrives to provide formal working capital solutions at affordable rates that deliver high value.
Oxyzo follows a hub based approach to financing and is present across 60 clusters around 12
hubs spread across Himachal Pradesh, Haryana, Punjab, Uttarakhand, Rajasthan, Delhi, Uttar
Pradesh, Gujarat, Maharashtra, Telangana, Tamil Nadu, Karnataka and Andhra Pradesh. Oxyzo
initially identifies a potential hub for entry based on market research and anchor insights,
consequently expanding in radial directions around the hub to expand its geographical footprint.
Oxyzo has innovated a “Non-DSA led acquisition model” by instituting a unique in-house SME
servicing tech product for acquiring SMEs.

Oxyzo Financial Services is a 100% fully owned subsidiary of OFB Tech. OfBusiness Group
(comprising of OFB Tech & Oxyzo Financial Services) is led by an experienced and dedicated
team with academic and professional excellence. The promoters of OFB Tech Asish Mohapatra,
Ruchi Kalra and Bhuvan Gupta jointly hold 25.36% in OFB Tech Private Limited as on June 30,
2021 (Last Quarter). OFB Tech is backed by marquee set of dedicated PE investors which
include Matrix India Partners, Creation Capital, Falcon Edge and Zodius Capital and Norwest
(NVP).

Corporate Structure/Organization Structure

(Intentionally Left Blank)
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Current Corporate Status:

The Issuer was incorporated as a private limited company under the 2013 Act on 21st September
2016 and is registered with the Reserve Bank of India as a non-deposit accepting NBFC. The
Issuer derives the following benefits of being registered as an NBFC.

Access to Funds: Commercial lenders have greater comfort lending to a regulated NBFC with

transparent ownership. As an Issuer, Oxyzo can raise equity and offer commercial returns.

Diverse Funding Sources: An NBFC can access commercial investors and international capital
markets, diversifying away from donors or members as equity funders.

Commercialisation: Classifying Oxyzo as an NBFC increases its commercial credibility and
integrates it and its clients into the formal financial sector which ultimately increases its outreach

potential.

Mainstream Resources: As a for-profit commercial NBFC, Oxyzo will be more likely to attract
mainstream capital resources which societies or trusts would find difficult to attract.

Regulatory Coverage: As Oxyzo grows in size, operating as an NBFC within the regulatory
framework mitigates risks from political and regulatory intervention.

Stakeholder Involvement: As an NBFC, Oxyzo can bring a variety of stakeholders to the table,
including clients, management, employees and investors.

Brief Profile of the Board of Directors:

Board of Directors

Name

Designation Experience

Ms. Ruchi Kalra Executive-Director | Prior to leading finance at OfBusiness, Ruchi was a

(WTD) and CFO Partner at McKinsey and adds an extensive
experience in the financial services sector to the team.
She has worked with numerous Banks and NBFCs on
turnaround projects and led the Retail and SME
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Board of Directors

Name

Designation

Experience

banking service practice in India. Prior to McKinsey,
Ruchi worked with Evalueserve in the Business
Research Division.

Ruchi holds an MBA from Indian School of Business,
Hyderabad and a B-Tech in Chemical Engineering
from Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi

Mr. Vasant Sridhar

Executive Director

Vasant is part of the Founding Team at OfBusiness
and led the company’s entry into the manufacturing
vertical. He has built the entire business in Southern
India and established a strong customer base across
SME clusters. Prior to OfBusiness, he headed the
Business Excellence Function at ITC Limited — Agri
Business Division (ILTD). A certified Lean Six
Sigma Black Belt, he drove the deployment of
advanced analytics and process excellence across
multiple functions, mentoring 200+ managers. As
special assignments from the Chief Executive’s
Office, he also developed the complete strategy
blueprint for backward integration for launching
ITC’s Dairy Business.

Prior to ITC, Vasant holds a Bachelors in Chemical
Engineering from IIT Madras

Mr. Asish Mohapatra

Non-Executive
Director

Asish brings deep operational expertise in managing
and defining vision for new age businesses from his
past roles as a Director at Matrix Partners, India as an
Engagement Lead at McKinsey (where he led
assignments across Operations and Healthcare) and as
an Operations manager at ITC, where he led the turn-
around of a production plant acquired by ITC.

Asish holds an MBA from Indian School of Business,
Hyderabad and a B. Tech in Mechanical Engineering
from Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur.

Mr. Rohit Kapoor

Independent
Director

Rohit is a proven professional with over 20 years of
experience and is entrusted with the responsibility to
drive new real estate business opportunities for the
company, which will include exploring new domains
and categories, and other strategic initiatives. Rohit
holds a PGD from Indian School of Business where
he was ranked in the top 5 students in the batch and
was the recipient of the Young Leader Award which
was awarded for best all-around performance in the
batch. In addition to the PGD, he is also a certified
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA Institute, USA).
He is also a visiting faculty at SP Jain Institute of
Management and Research, IMT Ghaziabad and
Vedica Scholars.
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Board of Directors

Name Designation Experience
Mr. Akshat Pande Independent Akshat is the Founder and Managing Partner of Alpha
Director Partners, a corporate and commercial law firm based

in Delhi NCR. Akshat has an experience of 15 years
in the field of corporate and commercial law. He
completed his law graduation from Delhi University
(2005) and post-graduation from University of East
Anglia, Norwich, UK (2006). He is also a member of
the Institute of Company Secretaries of India (2002).

Mr. Sathyan David Independent Sathyan was previously the Chief General Manager,
Director Department of Non-Banking Super- vision, Reserve

Bank of India and has designed regulatory
frameworks over the entire NBFC sector. In 35 years
with RBI, David has served as a member / chair of
various committees and was RBI’s Nominee Director
at Indian Bank and Karur Vysya Bank.

Brief Profile of the management of the Company:

Name & Designation

Background

Mr. Asish Mohapatra —
Group Head, Operations and
Director

Asish leads the entire operations efforts at the Group. He brings deep
operational expertise in managing and defining vision for new age
businesses from his past roles as a Director at Matrix Partners, India
as an Engagement Lead at McKinsey (where he led assignments
across Operations and Healthcare) and as an Operations manager at
ITC, where he led the turn-around of a production plant acquired by
ITC.

Asish holds an MBA from Indian School of Business, Hyderabad and
a B. Tech in Mechanical Engineering from Indian Institute of
Technology, Kharagpur.

Ms. Ruchi Kalra- CFO and
WTD

As the CFO and WTD, Ruchi leads the entire efforts towards finance
control, Accounts and audit, Compliance - Legal and Secretarial and
capital management for optimal utilization. Ruchi has worked with
numerous Banks and NBFCs on turnaround projects in the past as she
led the Retail and SME banking service practice for Mckinsey in
India.

Ruchi holds an MBA from Indian School of Business, Hyderabad and
a B-Tech in Chemical Engineering from Indian Institute of
Technology, Delhi (2004).
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Mr. Bhuvan Gupta — Group A dedicated Technocrat, Bhuvan brings more than 17 years of diverse
CTO experience across Technology capabilities. Bhuvan spent nearly a
decade devising and heading market-centric technological solutions
at Fiorano Software as its ‘Solutions Architect’ and Exponential Inc.
as its ‘Director of Engineering’. Post that, he was instrumental in
conceptualising and developing multiple consumer-facing
applications such as Wynk Music, My Airtel, Hike Messenger App
at Bharti Soft Bank Portal. Before cofounding Ofbusiness group in
2015, Bhuvan was VP Engineering at Snapdeal where he was
responsible for managing the entire customer facing product portfolio
and the data platform.

Bhuvan holds an MBA from FMS and B.E. from BITS Pilani.

Mr. Vasant Sridhar, Head Vasant led the company’s entry into the manufacturing vertical. He
Sales and Director heads the Sales function in Southern India where he built the entire
business and established a strong customer base across SME clusters.
Prior to Oxyzo, he headed the Business Excellence Function at ITC
Limited — Agri Business Division (ILTD). A certified Lean Six
Sigma Black Belt, he drove the deployment of advanced analytics
and process excellence across multiple functions, mentoring 200+
managers. As a special assignment from the Chief Executive’s
Office, he developed the complete strategy blueprint for backward
integration for launching ITC’s Dairy Business.

Vasant holds a Bachelors in Chemical Engineering from IIT Madras

(2013).
Mr. Aishvarya Abhishek, An experienced banking professional with more than 7 Years of
Head Credit experience in SME & Corporate lending, Aishvarya is a management

graduate from Narsee Monjee Institute of Management Studies and
holds dual Certified Credit Analyst, CAIIB and risk management
professional. He has extensive experience in Credit underwriting and
research, Policy and strategy matters, developing credit rating model
on lending side.

He has previously worked with a State Bank of Mauritius where he
worked on credit evaluation assignments of corporate entities &
SMEs from different industry segments.

Mr. Brij Kishore Kiradoo, Prior to Ofbusiness, Brij was working with Fortis Healthcare
Company Secretary Limited, Gurgaon as a Company Secretary in one of its Subsidiary
Company and was responsible for Secretarial and Legal
Compliances. After becoming a member of Institute of Company
Secretaries of India in July 2015, he joined Religare Aviation
Limited, New Delhi as Company Secretary and Compliance Officer
and was directly overlooking all the compliance related matters.

He is also a Law Graduate from Law College, Bikaner-Rajasthan.
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C. Key Operational and Financial Parameters for the last 3 audited years on a consolidated
basis (wherever available) else on a standalone basis.

Audited | Audited | Audited | Audited | Audited
Parameters 31-Mar- | 31-Mar- | 31-Mar- | 31-Mar- | 31-Mar-
17 18 19 20 21
(Currency) La(lilllls) La(ll<rllls) La(lilllls) La(ll<rllls) La(lilllls)
Net Worth 200 2,525 10,508 31,865 44,962
Total Debt
ggﬁggfgf maturities of . . 19,058 | 26279 | 43,159
Current maturities of Borrowings - 5,792 6,800 35,884 73,678
Net Fixed Assets - 6 51 60 35
Non-Current Assets - 520 4,290 10,176 11,697
Cash and Cash equivalents 200 331 493 5,146 20,809
Current investments
Current Assets 200 8,103 33,595 86,288 1,52,815
Current liabilities - 6,081 17,261 37,536 76,211
Assets Under Management - 8,230 36,129 89,783 1,35,652
Off balance sheet assets - - - - -
Interest Income - 290 3,949 13,518 19,757
Interest Expense - 93 1,687 6,029 9,022
Provisioning for loan portfolio - 21 180 1,032 713
PAT - 17 475 2,105 3,993
Gross NPA (%) - 0% 1.00% 0.92% 1.22%
Net NPA (%) - 0% 0.65% 0.29% 0.50%
CRAR - 30.91% 27.57% 35.14% 32.32%
Tier I Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) - 30.91% 27.30% 34.66% 31.34%
Tier II Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) - - 0.27% 0.48% 0.98%

D. Gross Debt: Equity Ratio of the Company (As on March 31, 2021):

Before the issue of debt securities 2.57
After the issue of debt securities 2.68
Calculations:
Before the issue, debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as follows: -
Debt — INR lakhs 115,541
Equity — INR lakhs 44,961
Debt/Equity 2.57
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Subsequent to the issue, debt-to-equity ratio shall be calculated as follows: -

1,20,341

Debt — INR lakhs

Equity — INR lakhs 44,961

Debt/Equity 2.68

E. Project cost and means of financing, in case of funding new projects: N.A.
5.5 A Brief history of Issuer since its incorporation giving details of its following activities:

A. Details of Share Capital as on last quarter end i.e. June 30, 2021:

Share Capital Amount (INR)

Authorised

Equity Share Capital 52,013,744 of Rs. 10 each 520,137,440

Issued, Subscribed and Fully Paid- up

Equity Shares 50,103,388 of Rs. 10 each 501,033,880

B. Changes in its capital structure as on last quarter end i.e. June 30, 2021, for the last five
years:
Date of change INR Particulars of change in authorized share
(AGM/ EGM) capital

21-09-2016 5,00,00,000 At the time of Incorporation
07-11-2017 10,00,00,000 Increase in Share Capital
05-12-2017 25,00,00,000 Increase in Share Capital
10-07-2018 28,50,00,000 Increase in Share Capital
20-07-2018 29,10,00,000 Increase in Share Capital
25-09-2018 33,60,00,000 Increase in Share Capital
26-10-2018 37,60,00,000 Increase in Share Capital
03-06-2019 39, 63,40,000 Increase in Share Capital
01-07-2019 43,70,20,000 Increase in Share Capital
08-11-2019 46,28,86,570 Increase in Share Capital
20-11-2019 49,39,26,460 Increase in Share Capital
06-10-2020 52,01,37,440 Increase in Share Capital

C. Equity Share Capital History of the Company as on last quarter end i.e. June 30, 2021, for
the last five years:
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, ) Facevalue | Issue Price . Cumulative # Cumulative equity Cumulative
Date of allotment # of equity sharesissued Consideration Nature of Allotment } i )

¥ "I (INR) "] (INR) ¥ "1 ofequityshares | "| sharecapital (INR) ™| share premium (INR)
21-09-2016 19,99,990 10 1000 Cash Right Issue 19,95,990 1,99,99,900
21-09-2016 10 10 1000 Cash Right Issue 20,00,000 2,00,00,000
07-11-2017 30,00,000 10 1000 Cash Right Issue 50,00,000 5,00,00,000
30-11-2007 50,00,000 10 1000 Cash Right Issue 1,00,00,000 10,00,00,000
20-12-2007 60,00,000 10 1000 Cash Right Issue 1,60,00,000 16,00,00,000
17-01-2018 40,00,000 10 1000 Cash Right Issue 2,00,00,000 20,00,00,000
24012018 50,00,000 10 1000 Cash Right Issue 250,00,000 25,00,00,000 -
20:07-2018 16,1813 10 6180 Cash Right Issue 2661813 26,61,81,230 8381871
06-08-2018 2,27,185 10 6180 Cash Right Issue 290,45,308 29,04,53,080 20,95,46,954
25:09-2018 1618123 10 6180 Cash Right Issue 306,603,431 30,66,34,310 29,33,65,726
26-10-2018 2,27185 10 6180 Cash Right Issue 33090616 33,0,06,160 41,90,93,909
31-10-2018 80,062 10 6180 Cash Right Issue 33899678 33,89,96,780 46,103,320
14-03-2019 6,50,883 10 1291 Cash Right Issue 3,45,50,561 34,550,610 53,44,94.490
18-03-2019 406,300 10 1291 Cash Right Issue 349,557,361 34,9,73,610 58,04,26,260
2:03-2019 5,69,520 10 1291 Cash Right Issue 3,55,26,881 35,52,68,810 64,47,30,738
30-04-2019 813,600 10 1229 Cash Right Issue 36340481 36,34,04,810 73,65,94.278
06-05-2019 406,300 10 12291 Cash Right Issue 36747281 36,74,72,810 78,25,26,047
30:05-2019 813,600 10 1291 Cash Right Issue 375,600,881 37,5,08810 81,43,89.587
07-06-2019 406,300 10 1291 Cash Right Issue 3,79,67,681 37,%,76,810 9,03,2,357
17-06-2019 4,06,300 10 1291 Cash Right Issue 38374481 38,374,810 9,62,93,126
29-06-2019 813,600 10 9 Cash Right Issue 391,883,081 39,18.80,810 1,05,81,16,666
03-07-2019 406,300 10 9 Cash Right Issue 395,94.881 39,59,48,810 1,10,40,48,435
26-07-2019 569,520 10 1291 Cash Right Issue 4,01,64.401 40,164,010 1,16,83,52913
03-09-2019 406,300 10 1291 Cash Right Issue 4,05,71,201 405712010 1,20,42,84,683
06-09-2019 813,600 10 1291 Cash Right Issue 41384801 41,3848,010 1,30,61,48,222
21-09-2019 175,99 10 193.30 Cash Right Issue 4.21,60,7% 4216,07,960 1,44.83,87818
23-09-2019 206,932 10 19330 Cash Right Issue 4367728 236,778 1,48,63,18377
29-10-2019 362,132 10 19330 Cash Right Issue 42729860 42,729,600 1,55,26,97,039
31-10-2019 2,58,665 10 19330 Cash Right Issue 42988525 42,98,85,250 1,60,01,10,238
01-11-2019 258,665 10 193.30 Cash Right Issue 4324719 432471900 164,753,437
08-11-2019 413,865 10 193.30 Cash Right Issue 436,61,055 43,66,10,550 1,72,33,84,738
2-11-2019 16,55,461 10 19330 Cash Right Issue 45316516 45,31,65,160 202,6830127
29-11-2019 2,58,665 10 193.30 Cash Right Issue 45575181 45,575,810 2074243326
03-02-2020 175,99 10 193.30 Cash Right Issue 46351176 46,35,11,760 20,6489
12:03-2020 360,13 10 193.30 Cash Right Issue 46713308 46,71,33,080 228,861,584
24-03-2000 51731 10 193.30 Cash Right Issue 472,30,639 47.3,06,39 237,76,88,165
27-03-2020 51731 10 19330 Cash Right Issue ATIAT9N0 477479700 247,514 74
29-09-2020 511,89 10 293,03 Cash Right Issue 4.82,59,862 48,259,620 261,73,95,538
30-09-2020 341,062 10 293,03 Cash Right Issue 48601124 48,601,240 21,3989
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24-03- 6,93,353 | 10 432.68 Cash Right Issue | 4,92,94,477 | 49,29,44,770 | 3,00,70,49,368
2021
30-03- 8,08,911 | 10 432.68 Cash Right Issue | 5,01,03,388 | 50,10,33,880 | 3,34,89,59,869
2021
D. Details of any Acquisition or Amalgamation in the last 1 (one) year: NIL
E. Details of any Reorganization or Reconstruction in the last 1 (one) year: NIL

5.6 Details of the shareholding of the Company as on the latest quarter end, i.e., June 30, 2021:
A. Shareholding pattern of the Company as on the latest quarter end, i.e., June 30, 2021:
No. of Shalr'l:l)lt:lldin
S.N Particulars / Category of Total No. shares in as a % of to tgl
o the Shareholder of Shares demat p .
no. of equity
form
shares
1 Promoter Group
OFB Tech Private Limited 50,103,378 NIL 100%
Ruchi Kalra (Nominee of . ..
2 OFB Tech private Limited) 10 Nil Negligible
3 Other Shareholders - - -
3 Foreign Investors - - -
TOTAL 50,103,388 NIL 100%

10 equity Shares held by Ms. Ruchi Kalra (Nominee of OFB Tech Private Limited)
Notes: Details of shares pledged or encumbered by the promoters (if any): NIL

B. List of top 10 holders of equity shares of the Company as on June 30, 2021:

No. of Total
shares in Sharehol
S. Name of demat ding as a
N No. of Shares form % of
Shareholder
0 total no.
of equity
shares
1 OFB Tech Private 100%
Limited 50,103,378
2 | Ruchi Kalra 10 Negligible
TOTAL 50,103,388 100%
5.7 Following details regarding the directors of the Company:
A. Details of current directors of the Company:

This table sets out the details regarding the Company’s Board of Directors as on the date of this
Information Memorandum:
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Director of
S. No.| Name of the Directors | Designation | Date of Birth| Age Address DIN PAN |the company Director in other company
since

X H-12 Second Floor, Green Park Main, Hauz Khas, . .
1 |Ms.RuchiKalra WTD &CFO | 25-06-1983 | 36 ) 3103474| AMXPK3042K | 21-09-2016 |OFB Tech Private Limited
South Delhi- 110016

N0‘28,1“ Cross Street, West CIT Nagar, Nandanam,
Chennai, Tamil Nadu-600035

7685035| CTZPS8124H | 26-12-2016 |N

2 |Mr. Vasant Sridhar Director 15-06-1991 | 27 L

1. OFB Tech Private Limited

) 2. New Delhi Centre For Sight Limited
. X H-12 Second Floor, Green Park Main, Hauz Khas, ] o
3 |Asish Mohapatra Director 07-11-1980 | 39 X 6666246| AJEPM7270P | 05-02-2019 |3. OFCONS Projects and ServicesPrivate
South Dethi- 110016 Limited
imite

4.0AGRI Farm Private Limited

o |akshat Vikram Pand Independent 04104979 | 39 15-D, HIG Swarnim Vihar Sector 82, Noida, Gautam 3410636 | amrprazsaa | 05022009 |
SnALVIKram Fande 1 pivector i Buddha Nagar, Noida-UP 201304 e

L

Independent H.No-C3-1202, The Legend Apartments, Suhant Lok-
5 |Rohit Kapoor Direcptor 17-10-1974 | 44 |3 Sector-57 Chakarpur(74) Gurgaon Chakkarpur  {6529360|AFOPK6915M| 05-02-2019 (N
Haryana - 122002

L

6 lsathvan David Independent 7030958 | 61 2001, Marathon Era-I0ff G K Marg Veer Santaji 9386521 | AALPDZ706M | 11-04-2019 Infinity Fincorp Solutions Pvt. Ltd. And
athyan Bav Director e Lane, Lower Parel (W) Mumbai- 400013 T |Arem Finance Private Limited

*Company to disclose name of the current directors who are appearing in the RBI defaulter list and/or
ECGC default list, if any: None of the Directors of the Company are appearing on the RBI/ECGC
defaulters list

B. Details of change in directors since last three years as on June 30, 2021:
Date of Director of
Appointme | the Company
Name Designation DIN nt/ since (in case | Remarks
Resignatio | of
n resignation)
September 21,
Mr. Srinath Non-Executive- September | 2016 - . .
Ramakrishnan Director 07596310 21,2016 December 26, Resignation
2016
. September 21,
Ms. Ruchi Kalra | EXecutive- 03103474 | SePtember fogic i | NA.
Director 21,2016
Date
Mr. Dhaval Executive- December December 26,
Dineshchandra . 07688760 2016- July 31, | Resignation
. Director 26,2016
Radia 2018
. December 26
Mr. Vasant Executive- December oy
Sridhar Director 07685035 26,2016 2D(;§ — Till N.A.
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. Non -Executive February 05,
Mr. Asish Additional 06666246 | LMY 1 2019 _Till | Appointment
Mohapatra ) 05,2019
Director Date
Akshat Vikram | Independent | 03419636 | February | L coruary 05, .
. 2019 — Till Appointment
Pande Director 05,2019
Date
February 05
. Independent 06529360 | February oy .
Rohit Kapoor Director 05,2019 2019 - Till Appointment
Date
. Independent April 11, April 11, 2019 .
Sathyan David Director 08386521 2019 _ Till date Appointment
February 05, .
Ms Ruchi Kalra | CFO and WTD | 03103474 | FSPTUaY | 5619 Ty Change in
05,2019 designation
Date
. February 05, .
Mr. Asish Director 06666246 | September | og1q gy | Changein
Mohapatra 30,2019 designation
Date
5.8 Following details regarding the auditors of the Company:
A. Details of the auditor of the Company:
Name Address Auditor since Remark
Deloitte Haskins & 7th Floor, Building 10, Tower Date of Period of account
Sells B, DIf Cyber City, Complex, Appointment — for which re-
DLF City Phase -1, Gurgaon- November 01, appointedfrom
HR -122002 2019 01/04/2020 to
31/03/2024 (re-
appointed at the
AGM)
B. Details of change in auditors since last three years:
Auditor of
Date of the Company
Name Address appointment / | since (in case Remark
resignation of
resignation)
14, Government Place East, September 22,
é;fg;f (Ij\?(; Kolkata, West Bengal- September 22, 2016 to Casual
30105 lgE) ’ 700069/12, Bhagat Singh 2016 November 30, Vacancy
Marg, New Delhi-110001 2017
BSR &
Assfﬁlstes Building No.10, 8th Floor, January 01 January 01, Appointed
. Tower-B, DLF Cyber City, SN 2018 —Till due to casual
(Firm Reg No. Phase-II, Gurgaon-122002 2018 Date vacanc
11623 1W/W- > VU8 Y
100024)
BSR &
Associates Building No.10, 8th Floor, . January 01,
LLP . Resign- October 2018 to . .
. Tower-B, DLF Cyber City, Resignation
(Firm Reg No. Phase-IT. Gureaon-122002 16,2019 October 16,
11623 1W/W- > DUTE 2019
100024)
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Deloitte
Haskins &
sells (Firm

Reg No.
015125N)

7th Floor, Building 10, Tower

B, DIf Cyber City , Complex,

DLF City Phase -1I, Gurgaon-
HR -122002

Appointment —
November 01,
2019

November 01,
2019 to till
now

Period of
account for
which re-
appointedfrom
01/04/2020 to
31/03/2024
(re-appointed
at the AGM )

5.9

A. Details of Secured Loan Facilities as on June 30, 2021

Details of borrowings of the Company as on latest quarter end i.e. June 30, 2021:

NS(;. Name of Financial Institution F:;:Lty sanl.citri':::ie d Pri(r)\;ispal (;Z:;Les) E:;I:rsgl‘(:e
(times)
1 Water Equity (Global Access Fund) NCD 519 51.90 48 1x
2 Federal Bank TL 0.0 20.00 24 1.2x
3 Unifi AIF NCD 220 22.00 20 1.2x
4 responsAbility Investments AG ECB 475 475 60 1.1x
5 Bajaj Finance TL 15.0 14.38 24 1.2x
6 APAC Financial Services TL 10.0 6.53 15 1.1x
7 Bandhan Bank CC/WCDL 5.0 25.00 12 1.2x
8 Bandhan Bank CC/WCDL 20.0 20.00 12 1.2 x
9 A. K. Capital NCD 5.0 20.83 18 1.1x
10 Capri Global Capital TL 0.0 15.00 24 1.15x
11 Hinduja Leyland Finance TL 15.0 13.92 36 1.1x
12 IDFC First Bank TL 40.0 36.67 36 1.1x
13 Ll:ﬂn?ietlzgveeya Development & Finance Private L . 2500 24 11x
14 MAS Financial Services TL 250 22.22 18 1.1x
15 Hero Fincorp TL 15.0 15.00 24 1.15x
16 Utkarsh SFB TL 20.0 15.83 18 1.1x
17 ESAF SFB TL 25.0 22.86 36 1.15x
18 Suryoday Bank TL 10.0 8.47 18 1.1x
19 DCB Bank CC/wcCDL 15.0 15.0 12 1.15x
20 Yes Bank CC/WCDL 20.0 19.9 12 1.25 x
21 CholaMandalam Investments TL 297 12 1.1x
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22 AU SFB TL 15.0 11.67 18 1.2x
23 Credit Saisson TL 5.0 25.00 18 1.1x
24 | Ujjivan SFB CC/WCDL 210 15.00 12 1.15 x
25 Punjab National Bank NCD 10.0 10.0 18 1.1x
26 Kotak Mahindra Bank CC/WCDL 50.0 45.77 12 1.25x
27 Nabkisan Finance TL 10.0 750 24 1.1x
28 Bank of Baroda NCD 50.0 50.00 18 1.1x
29 ICICI Bank CC/WCDL 10.0 10.00 12 1.2x
30 Nabsamruddhi Finance TL 25.0 21.41 36 1.1x
31 Punjab National Bank NCD 10.0 10.0 18 1.1x
32 Enabling Qapital NCD 783 78.3 36 1.1x
33 Vivriti Asset Management NCD 15.0 15.0 36 1.1x
34 Federal Bank TL 0.0 17.14 24 1.2x
35 Northern Arc Capital TL 45.0 45.00 24 1.1x
36 AU SFB CC/wCDL 10.0 97 12 1.2x
37 Bandhan Bank CC/WCDL 230 23.00 12 1.2 x
38 MAS Financial Services TL 250 15.28 18 1x

39 Vivriti Capital TL 15.0 947 18 1.1x
40 Northern Arc Capital TL 15.0 11.03 24 1.1x
41 Bajaj Finance CC/wCDL 15.0 15.00 12 1.2x
42 Hinduja Leyland Finance TL 5.0 19.48 36 1.1x
43 Sundaram Finance TL 10.0 6.53 24 1.18 x
44 MAS Financial Services TL 15.0 750 18 1x

45 State Bank of India CC/WCDL 400 347 12 1.2x
46 Hero Fincorp TL 200 15.61 24 1.15x
47 CholaMandalam Investments TL 74 1.92 12 1.1x
48 IDFC First Bank CC/WCDL 5.0 15.10 12 1.1x
49 IDFC First Bank TL 10.0 792 36 1.1x
50 APAC Financial Services TL 10.0 0.97 12 1.1x
51 Credit Saisson TL 0.0 5.00 12 1.1x
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52 | Utkarsh SFB TL 200 5.00 15 1.1x
53 | RBLBank CC/WCDL <o 12 1.25x
54 | Ujjivan SFB TL 150 550 18 1.15x
55 | Unifi AIF NCD 9.0 9.0 24 1.1x
56 | Unifi AIF NCD 8.0 8.0 36 1.1x
57 | ESAFSFB TL 100 435 24 1.11x
58 Scient Capital NCD 10.0 6.0 30 1.1x
59 Magma Fincorp TL 175 477 24 1.1x
60 Hinduja Leyland Finance TL 3.0 1.83 24 1.2x
61 responsAbility Investments AG NCD 35.0 35.0 48 1.1x
62 Credit Saisson TL 20.0 10.00 24 1.1x
63 Fed Bank Financial Services TL 15.0 250 24 1.1x
64 Northern Arc Investments NCD 17.0 17.0 36 1.1x
65 Northern Arc Investments NCD 10.0 10.0 36 1.1x
66 IDFC First Bank TL 100.0 50.00 36 1.1x
67 Hinduja Leyland Finance TL 200 227 30 1.1x
68 Vivriti Capital TL 300 703 36 1x
B. Details of Unsecured Loan Facilities as on June 30, 2021:
NIL
C. Details of Non-Convertible Debentures as on June 30, 2021:
Tenor/
. R ti .
Period Date of Bty Credit | Secured/ .
Debenture Coupo | Amou on on . Securit
. of allotme Ratin | Unsecure
Series Maturit n nt nt Date/ d y
. Schedule g
Linked ICRA-
UNIFI- to 13-03- 13-03- PP-
Series 2 24 I Market | ° 2020 2022 mrLp | Secured | LIx
Index BBB+
Linked ICRA-
UNIFI- to 13-03- 13-03- PP-
Series 3 36 | Market | 8 2020 2023 mrLp | Seeured | LIx
Index BBB+
13.80
Northern 36 % 10 08-07- 30-06- ICRA Secured 11x
Arc NCD ba °p . 2019 2022 BBB+ '
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Linked ICRA-
Northern to 24-09- 27-06- PP-
Arc MLD 3| Market | 17 2019 2022 mrp | Seeured | LIx
Index BBB+
responsibili
ty 13% 25-11- 12-12- | CARE
Investment | * | papq| > 2019 2023 | BBB+ | Secured | LIx
s AG
Scient 30 120)85 6 28-01- 2807- | ICRA | o |
Capital ° 2020 2022 BBB+ u '
p.a.p.q
0
A K. 18 li'zfx’l 2083 | 3003 30-09- 1 ICRA 1 g ired | 11 x
Capital p-a-p: : 2021 2022 | BBB+ u :
ICRA
Punjab 10% 10-12- | 10-06- | BBBT
National 18 a 10 2001 2022 , Secured 1.1x
Bank p-ap-q CARE
BBB+
1\?;?&?121 18 10% 10 31-12- 30-06- | ICRA g red | 1.1 x
Bank p.a.p.q. 2021 2022 BBB+
ICRA
Bank of 10% 10-12- | 10-06- | BBBT
Baroda 18 a >0 2021 2022 : Secured | 1.1x
BBB+
Vivriti 12.75
Asset % 18-12- 15-12- ICRA
Manageme 36 p-a.p.m 15 2020 2023 BBB+ Secured L1x
nt .
. 12.60
Enabling o 31-12- 18-12- ICRA
Qapital 36 % 28.25 2020 2023 BBB+ Secured 1.1x
p.a.p.m
Water
Equity 11.24
28-06- 27-06- | CRISI
0,
(Global 48 % 519 2021 2025 LA Secured 1x
Access p-a.p.m
Fund)
UNIFI- iy 1?,)93 | 1eos | azaoe ferist| o
Series 4 ° 2021 2022 LA eeure - X
p.a.p.m
UNIFI- 11.03 16-06- 16-02- | CRISI
(V)
Series 5 20 /0 1 2021 2023 LA | Secured | 1.2x
p.a.p.m

(Intentionally left Blank)
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List of Top 10 Debenture Holders (as on June 30, 2021):

S. No. | Name of Debenture Holder(s) | Amount (in cr)
Water Equity (Global Access
1 | Fund) 51.9
2 | Bank of Baroda 50
3 | Unifi AIF 39
4 | responsAbility Investments AG 35
5 | Enabling Qapital 28.25
6 | Northern Arc Investments 27
7 | A. K. Capital 20.83
8 | Punjab National Bank 20
9 | Vivriti Asset Management 15
10 | Scient Capital 6

Note: Top 10 holders’ (in value terms, on cumulative basis for all outstanding debentures issues)
details should be provided

E.

5.10

The amount of corporate guarantee issued by the Issuer along with name of the
counterparty (like name of the subsidiary, JV entity, group-company, etc) on behalf of
whom it has been issued. (if any)

NIL

Details of Commercial Paper:
NIL

Details of rest of the borrowing (if any including hybrid debt like FCCB, Optionally
Convertible Debentures / Preference Shares) as on June 30, 2021:

NIL

Details of all default/s and/or delay in payments of interest and principal of any kind of
term loans, debt securities and other financial indebtedness including corporate guarantee
issued by the Company, in the past 5 years:

NIL

Details of any outstanding borrowings taken / debt securities issued where taken / issued
(i) for consideration other than cash, whether in whole or part, (ii) at a premium or
discount, or (iii) in pursuance of an option:

NIL

Details of Promoters of the Company:

Details of Promoter Holding in Company as on latest quarter end, i.e. June 30, 2021:
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# of

Total o
Name of Total No. share-zs Shareholding as N0, O GO N () O
S. . held in o shares shares pledged
Sharehold | of Equity percentage (%) of .
No. demater . Pledg with respect to
ers shares g total no. of equity
ialised ed shares owned
shares
form
OFB Tech
1 Private 50,103,378 NIL 100% NIL NIL
Limited
Ruchi
Kalra
(Nominee
2 of OFB 10 NIL NIL NIL NIL
Tech
Private
Limited)
5.11  Abridged version of the Audited Consolidated and Standalone Financial Information (like

Profit and Loss statement, Balance Sheet and Cash Flow statement) for at least last three

years and auditor qualifications, if any.

[Note: Financial information submitted must be in line with the timelines specified in the
Simplified Listing Agreement, issued vide Circular no. SEBI/IMD/BOND/1/2009/11/05, dated

May 11, 2009]

(Intentionally Left Blank)
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31.3.2021 31.3.2020 31.3.2019 31.03.2018 | 31.03.2017
Profit and L Stat t (INR)(in Lakh
rofit and Loss Statement (INR)(in Lakhs) ™™ gited Audited Audited | Audited | Audited

Interest Income 19,753 13,518 4,526 370 -

Less: Interest Expenses 9,021 6,029 1,792 99 -

Net Interest Income 10,732 7,489 2,734 271 -

Other Income 4 1 35 3 -

Total Income 10,736 7,490 2,769 274 -

Operating Expenses 3,752 3,221 1,916 214 -

Provisions & Write Offs 1,576 1,417 180 21 -

Operating Profit 5,408 2,852 673 40 -

Depreciation 26 22 5 0 -

Profit Before Tax 5,382 2,830 668 40 -

Prior Period Item - - - 6 -

Provisions for tax 1,388 724 193 17 -

Profit After Tax 3,994 2,106 475 17 -

Balance Sheet (INR)(in Lakhs) 31.3.2021 31.3.2020 31.03.2019 | 31.03.2018 | 31.03.2017

Equity capital 5,010 4,775 3,553 2,500 200

Reserve & Surplus 39,951 27,090 6,955 25 0

TNW (A) 44,962 31,865 10,508 2,525 200

Total NonCurrent Liabilities 43,340 26,279 10,117 16 0

Current Liabilities+ Provisions 76,211 38,320 17,261 6,081 0

Total Outside Liabilities (B) 1,19,551 64,599 27,378 6,098 0

Total Liabilities (A + B) 1,64,513 96,464 37,886 8,623 200

Fixed assets (Net) 35 60 51 6 0

Investments 6,970 0 808 0 0

Gross Advances 1,38,408 91,201 36,129 8,230 0

Less: Loan Loss Reserve 2,756 1,418 176 30 0

Net Loan Outstanding 1,35,652 89,783 35,953 8,200 0

Cash / Liquid Investments 199 5,086 493 331 200

Other current assets 21,155 1,535 343 56 0

Deferred Tax Assets 502 0 0 0 0

Intangible Assets - 0 0 0 0

Other Non-Current Assets - 0 0 0 0

Total Assets 1,64,513 96,464 37,886 8,623 200
Cash Flow Statement (Rupees in Lakhs) 31.03.2021 | 31.3.2020 | 31.03.2019 | 31.03.2018 | 31.03.2017
Cash flow from operating activities:
Net Profit before tax 5,381.68 2,830.19 510.59 33.62 0.00
Adjustment for:
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined -1.64 -2.56 3.21 0.00 0.00
benefit plans
Depreciation and amortisation expense 26.44 22.07 5.35 0.02 0.00
Net gain on Alternative investment funds -88.39 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Profit on sale of mutual funds 0.00 -25.66 -3.67 -3.02 0.00
Interest income on bonds -233.35 -105.11 -16.34 0.00 0.00
Interest income on fixed deposits -132.03 -25.42 -3.71 0.00 0.00
Interest on income tax refund -3.56 -1.47 0.00 0.00 0.00
Profit from sale of property, plant & -0.64 -0.03 0.00 0.00 0.00
equipment
Loss on sale of bonds/Investment property 1.04 19.22 0.00 0.00 0.00
Impairment allowance on loans 713.28 1,032.02 207.31 20.57 0.00
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Impairment allowance on investment 8.43 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Impairment on account of COVID-19 245.50 154.12 0.00 0.00 0.00
Loss on loans & advances written off 609.26 385.11 75.00 0.00 0.00
Employee stock options expense 106.67 51.91 49.06 8.55 0.00
Operating profit before working capital 6,632.69 4,334.39 826.80 59.74 0.00
changes

Changes in working capital

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 31.38 93.62 -14.63 95.33 0.00
Increase/(decrease) in other payables -70.54 -379.12 468.69 0.00 0.00
Increase/(decrease) in Other current 0.00 0.00 0.00 168.84 0.00
liabilities

Increase/(decrease) in Other financial 876.83 496.46 366.57 0.00 0.00
liabilities

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 75.08 61.79 40.71 9.61 0.00
Increase/(decrease) in Other non-financial 332.12 29.00 244.44 0.00 0.00
liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in Loans and advances -47,710.11 | -55,389.61 | -28,021.11 -8,227.70 0.00
Increase/(decrease) in Other current asssets 0.00 0.00 0.00 -55.73 0.00
(Increase)/decrease in Other financial assets 342.34 -552.01 -72.37 0.00 0.00
(Increase)/decrease in Other non-financial -2.26 256.45 -232.95 0.00 0.00
assets

Cash flow from operating activities post -39,492.47 | -51,049.03 | -26,393.85 -7,949.91 0.00

working capital changes

Income taxes paid -1,980.13 -617.25 -188.97 -13.65 0.00

Net cash used by operating activities (A) -41,472.60 | -51,666.28 | -26,582.82 -7,963.56 0.00

Cash flow from investing activities:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment -17.58 -63.33 -26.82 -0.32 0.00
Purchase of Investment property -23.41 -136.60 -13.32 0.00 0.00
Proceeds from sale of Investment property 22.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Investment in units of Alternative -5,057.25 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
investment funds

Redemption from units of Alternative 2,088.39 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
investment funds

Investment in mutual fund 0.00 -9,000.00 -1,550.00 -1,360.00 0.00
Proceeds from sale of mutual funds 0.00 9,025.66 1,553.67 1,363.02 0.00
Investment in bonds -3,802.91 0.00 -730.00 0.00 0.00
Investment in Pass through certificates -3,990.36 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Redemption from Pass through certificates 1,882.07 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 17.44 2.68 0.00 0.00 0.00
equipment

Proceeds from sale of bonds 2,002.91 710.78 0.00 0.00 0.00
Investment in Fixed deposits -757.00 -73.00 -50.00 0.00 0.00
Interest income on Income Tax refund 3.56 1.47 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest received on fixed deposit and 334.04 148.17 -8.67 0.00 0.00

security deposit
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Net cash provided/ (used) by investing -7.298.10 615.83 -825.14 2.70 0.00
activities (B)

Cash flow from financing activities:

Proceeds from debt securities 30,299.94 16,429.07 7,921.64 0.00 0.00
Repayments of debt securities -12,360.91 -9,821.64 0.00 0.00 0.00
Net proceeds from cash credit and bank 2,158.09 712.81 1,097.64 0.00 0.00
overdraft

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 0.00 0.00 0.00 7,117.00 0.00
Repayments of short-term borrowings 0.00 0.00 0.00 -1,325.00 0.00
Proceeds from other borrowings 98,248.81 59,565.79 28,774.34 0.00 0.00
Repayments of other borrowings -63,757.92 | -30,722.96 | -17,515.94 0.00 0.00
Proceeds from issue of equity shares 8,997.77 19,480.45 7,291.70 2,300.00 200.00
including share premium

Net cash flow from financing activities 63,585.78 55,643.52 27,569.38 8,092.00 200.00
©

Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents 14,815.08 4,593.07 161.42 131.14 200.00
(A+B+C)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of | 5,085.63 492.56 331.14 200.00 0.00
year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19,900.71 5,085.63 492.56 331.14 200.00

Abridged version of Latest Audited/ Limited Review Half Yearly Consolidated and

[Note: Financial information submitted must be in line with the timelines specified in the
Simplified Listing Agreement, issued vide Circular no. SEBI/IMD/BOND/1/2009/11/05, dated

Any material event/ development or change having implications on the financials/credit
quality (e.g. any material regulatory proceedings against the Issuer/promoters, tax
litigations resulting in material liabilities, corporate restructuring event etc) at the time of
Issue which may affect the issue or the Investor’s decision to invest / continue to invest in

The Issuer hereby declares that there has been no material event, development or change at the
time of issue from the position as on the date of the last audited financial statements of the Issuer,
which may affect the Issue or the Investor’s decision to invest/ continue to invest in the debt

5.12
Standalone Financial Information and auditors’ qualifications, if any.:
May 11, 2009]
Please refer Point 5.11 and Annexure V below.
5.13
the debt securities.
securities of the Issuer.
5.14 Names of the Debentures Trustees and Consents thereof

The Debenture Trustee of the proposed Debentures is IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited. IDBI
Trusteeship Services Limitedhas given its written consent for its appointment as debenture
trustee to the Issue and inclusion of its name in the form and context in which it appears in this
Information Memorandum and in all the subsequent periodical communications sent to the
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5.15

5.16

5.17

5.18

5.19

(This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus)

Debenture Holders. The consent letter from Debenture Trustee is provided in Annexure III of
this Information Memorandum.

Rating Rationale(s) adopted (not older than one year on the date of opening of the Issue)/
credit rating letter issued (not older than one month on the date of opening of the Issue).

The Rating Agency have assigned ratings of CRISIL A/Stable (Assigned) to the Debentures.
Instruments with this rating are considered to have moderate degree of safety regarding timely
servicing of financial obligations. Such instruments carry low credit risk. The rating Rationale
from the Rating Agency are provided in Annexure II of this Information Memorandum.

If the security is backed by a guarantee or letter of comfort or any other document / letter
with similar intent, a copy of the same shall be disclosed. In case such document does not
contain detailed payment structure (procedure of invocation of guarantee and receipt of
payment by the investor along with timelines), the same shall be disclosed in the offer
document.

NIL

Names of all the recognized stock exchanges where the debt securities are proposed to be
listed:

The Debentures are proposed to be listed on the WDM segment of the BSE. The Issuer shall
comply with the requirements of the listing agreement for debt securities to the extent applicable
to it on a continuous basis. The approval of the BSE has been applied in this regard.

Other details:
Debenture Redemption Reserve Creation:

As per Section 71 of the Act, any company that intends to issue debentures must create a
debenture redemption reserve to which adequate amounts shall be credited out of the profits of
the company until the redemption of the debentures. However, at present under the Companies
(Issuance of Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014, non-banking financial companies are
exempt from this requirement in respect of privately placed debentures. Pursuant to this
exemption, the Company does not presently intend to create any reserve funds for the redemption
of the Debentures.

Issue / instrument specific regulations:

The Issue of Debentures shall be in conformity with the applicable provisions of the Companies
Act including the notified rules thereunder, the SEBI Debt Listing Regulations, the SEBI
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (Listing Regulations) the
NBFC Directions, and the applicable guidelines and/or directions issued by the SEBI and the
RBI guidelines.

Application process:

The application process for the Issue is as provided in Clause 8.10 of this Information
Memorandum.

A statement containing particulars of the dates of, and parties to all material contracts,
agreements:

43



Information Memorandum Private & Confidential
Date: July 20, 2021 For Private Circulation Only
(This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus)

The contracts and documents referred to hereunder are material to the Issue, may be inspected
at the Registered Office of the Company between 10.00 am to 4.00 pm on working days.

Sr. Nature of Contract
No.
1 Certified true copy of the Memorandum & Articles of Association of the Issuer.
Board Resolution dated July 12, 2021 authorizing the issue of Debentures offered
2 . .
under terms of this Information Memorandum.
3 Shareholder Resolution dated July 19, 2021 authorizing the issue of non-
convertible debentures by the Company.
4 Copies of Annual Reports of the Company for the last three financial years.
5 Credit rating rationale (s) from the Rating Agency dated May 06, 2021
6 Letter from IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited giving its consent to act as
Debenture Trustee dated July 19, 2021.
7 Letter for Register and Transfer Agent.
8 Certified true copy of the certificate of incorporation of the Company.
9 Certified true copy of the tripartite agreement between the Company, the Registrar
& Transfer Agent and NSDL/CDSL.
10 Copy of application made to BSE for grant of approval for listing of Debentures.

5.20  Details of Debt Securities Sought to be Issued

Under the purview of the current document, the Issuer intends to raise an amount of Rs. 48,00,00,000/-
(Rupees Forty Eight Crores only) by issue of Secured Rated Listed Redeemable Non-Convertible
Debentures, on a private placement basis.

For further details of the Debentures, please refer to the terms and conditions of the debentures set out
in Section 5.23 of this Information Memorandum.

5.21  Issue Size

The aggregate issue size for the Debentures is Rs. 48,00,00,000/- (Rupees Forty Eight Crores only).
5.22  Utilization of the Issue Proceeds

The proceeds of this issue shall be utilized for:

(i)  the general corporate purposes of the Company;
(i)  for the ordinary course of business of the Company; and
(iii)  any other purpose as may be agreed between the Company and the Debenture Holders.

The Issuer shall not use the proceeds of the Issue towards:
(i)  any capital market instrument such as equity, debt, debt linked, and equity linked instruments or
any other capital market related activities; or
(i)  any speculative purposes; or
(iii)  any payments towards dividends;
(iv)  any activity on the Exclusion List;
(v)  investment in the real estate sector; or
(vi)  any purpose, that is prohibited for bank finance to non-banking financial companies, or, which
results in a breach of the RBI's master circular no. DBR.BP.BC.N0.5/21.04.172/2015-16 dated
July 2015 on "Bank Finance to Non-Banking Financial Companies (NBFCs)"; or
(vil))  in contravention of any guidelines, rules or regulations of the SEBI applicable to non-banking
financial companies related to private placement of the debentures.
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The Issuer also undertakes that the proceeds of this Issue shall be used for loan portfolio growth of the
company and shall be utilized for the deployment of funds on its own balance sheet and not to facilitate
resource requests of its group entities/parent company/associates.

The Issue shall not be utilised towards acquisition financing: viz buyback of shares/securities, purchase
of shares of other companies and/or promoter contribution towards the equity capital of a company or as
a bridge loan.

The Company undertakes that proceeds of this Issue shall not be utilized for the following purposes as
specified in the RBI Master Circular No. DBOD.BP.BC.N0.5/21.04.172/2015-16 dated July 1, 2015
including inter alia:

1)  Bills discounted / rediscounted by NBFCs, except for rediscounting of bills discounted by NBFCs
arising out of: Commercial vehicles (including light commercial vehicles) and two wheeler and
three wheeler vehicles, subject to the following conditions: The bills should have been drawn by
the manufacturer on dealers only; The bills should represent genuine sale transactions as may be
ascertained from the chassis / engine number and; Before rediscounting the bills, the bona fides
and track record of NBFCs which have discounted the bills would be verified.

2) Investments of NBFCs both of current and long-term nature, in any company / entity by way of
shares, debentures, etc. However, Stock Broking Companies may be provided need-based credit
against shares and debentures held by them as stock-in-trade.

3)  Unsecured loans / inter-corporate deposits by NBFCs to / in any company.

4)  All types of loans and advances by NBFCs to their subsidiaries, group companies / entities.

5) Finance to NBFCs for further lending to individuals for subscribing to Initial Public Offerings
(IPO) and for purchase of shares from secondary market.

5.23  Issue Details

Security Name 9.3%0OFSPL2023

Issuer Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Type of Instrument Non-Convertible Debentures

Nature of Instrument

Senior Secured Rated Listed Redeemable Taxable Non-Convertible

Debentures
Seniority Secured
Mode of Issue Private placement

Eligible/Identified Investors

As provided in Clause 8.14 below.

Listing

The Debentures are proposed to be listed on the WDM segment of the
BSE within a maximum period of 4 (Four) trading days from the date of
closing of Issue.

In case of delay in listing of the debt securities beyond 4 (Four) trading
days from the date of closing of the Issue, the Company will (i) pay penal
interest of 1% (One percent) p.a. over the Coupon Rate for the period of
delay from date of allotment till the listing of such Debentures, to the
Debenture Holder(s); and (ii) be permitted to utilize the issue proceeds of
its subsequent two privately placed issuances of securities only after
receiving final listing approval from BSE in respect of the Debentures.

Rating of the Instrument

CRISIL A/Stable (Assigned) (pronounced as “CRISIL A” with “stable”
outlook)

Issue Size

Up to Rs. 48,00,00,000/- (Rupees Forty Eight Crores only).
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Option to retain
oversubscription

N.A.

Objects of the Issue

To raise secured debt to the extent up to Rs. 48,00,00,000/- (Rupees Forty
Eight Crores only).

Details of the utilization of the
Proceeds

To raise debt to the extent of up to Rs. 48,00,00,000/- (Rupees Forty Eight
Crores only) for the following purposes:
(i)  the general corporate purposes of the Company;
(i)  for the ordinary course of business of the Company; and
(iii)  any other purpose as may be agreed between the Company and
the Debenture Holders.

The Issuer shall not use the proceeds of the Issue towards:

(i)  any capital market instrument such as equity, debt, debt linked,
and equity linked instruments or any other capital market related
activities; or

(i)  any payments towards dividends;

(iii)  any speculative purposes; or

(iv)  any activity on the Exclusion List;

(v)  investment in the real estate sector; or

(vi)  any purpose, that is prohibited for bank finance to non-banking
financial companies, or, which results in a breach of the RBI's
master circular no. DBR.BP.BC.N0.5/21.04.172/2015-16 dated
July 2015 on "Bank Finance to Non-Banking Financial
Companies (NBFCs)"; or

(vil)  in contravention of any guidelines, rules or regulations of the
SEBI applicable to non-banking financial companies related to
private placement of the debentures.

Coupon Rate

shall mean the coupon payable on a monthly basis (floating) in respect of
the Debentures from the Deemed Date of Allotment on each Coupon
Payment Date until the Maturity Date, which shall be the aggregate of:

(i) Reference Rate being the policy Repo rate issued by the Reserve Bank
of India which is presently at 4% (Four Percent) (“Reference Rate”);
and

(i1) Credit Spread being 5.3% (Five Decimal Point Three Zero Percent)
per annum (“Credit Spread”).

It is hereby clarified that the Coupon Rate, payable as on date of this
Disclosure Document / Information Memorandum, shall be 9.3% (Nine
Decimal Point Three Zero Percent).

The Coupon Rate shall be reset subject to the mechanism as set out in the
Transaction Documents including under paragraph 2.1.3 (Coupon Rate
Reset) of Part B of the Debenture Trust Deed and as specified below.

Step Up/ Step Down Coupon
Rate

In the event the credit rating assigned to the Debentures is downgraded
by the Rating Agency or any other external credit rating agency, the
Coupon Rate shall, without any act, deed or thing, automatically increase
by 25 (Twenty-five) basis points for each notch of credit rating
downgrade by such credit rating agency. The increase in the Coupon Rate
/ Credit Spread shall be applicable on and from the date of the downgrade

46




Information Memorandum
Date: July 20, 2021

Private & Confidential
For Private Circulation Only

(This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus)

of credit rating of the Debentures by such credit rating agency. As on the
date of this Disclosure Document, the credit rating of the Debentures is
“Crisil A/Stable.

In the event the credit rating assigned to the Debentures is upgraded by
the Rating Agency or any other external credit rating agency by 1 (one)
notch, from the credit rating of “CRISIL A / Stable” existing as on the
date of this Disclosure Document, the Coupon Rate shall, without any act,
deed or thing, automatically decrease by 15 (Fifteen) basis points for such
1 (One) notch of credit rating upgrade by such credit rating agency. The
decrease in the Coupon Rate / Credit Spread shall be applicable on and
from the date of the upgrade of credit rating of the Debentures by such
credit rating agency by 1 (One) notch.

In the event the credit rating assigned to the Debentures is upgraded by
the Rating Agency or any other external credit rating agency by 2 (Two)
notches, from the credit rating of “CRISIL A / Stable” existing as on the
date of this Disclosure Document, the Coupon Rate shall, without any act,
deed or thing, automatically decrease by 50 (Fifty) basis points for such 2
(Two) notches of credit rating upgrade by such credit rating agency. The
decrease in the Coupon Rate / Credit Spread shall be applicable on and
from the date of the upgrade of credit rating of the Debentures by such
credit rating agency by 2 (Two) notches. As on the date of this Disclosure
Document, the credit rating of the Debentures is “Crisil A/Stable.

Coupon Payment Frequency

On a monthly basis and as set out more particularly in Annexure VI
({llustration of Bond Cash Flows) below.

Coupon Payment Dates

Coupon shall be payable monthly until the Maturity Date with the first
Coupon Payment Date commencing from August 22, 2021 and as set out
more particularly in Annexure VI (Hllustration of Bond Cash Flows)
below.

effective date, interest rate cap
and floor etc).

Coupon Type Floating Coupon rate.

Coupon Reset Date July 22,2022

Coupon Reset Process | (a) Coupon Rate reset on Coupon Reset Date:
(including  rates,  spread,

The Majority Debenture Holder(s) shall have the right to reset the Credit
Spread in the manner set out below:

@) Credit Spread Reset on the Coupon Reset Date(s)

A. The Debenture Trustee, acting on the instructions of
Majority Debenture Holders, shall also have the right to
change, at its discretion, the Credit Spread on the Coupon
Reset Date(s).

B.  The Majority Debenture Holders shall decide the revised
Credit Spread which shall be applicable on and from the
relevant Coupon Reset Date. The revised Credit Spread so
approved by the Majority Debenture Holders, shall be
communicated to the Debenture Trustee, with a copy
marked to the Issuer, no later than 5 (Five) Business Days
prior to the relevant Coupon Reset Date.
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(i)
A.

The Debenture Trustee shall communicate the revised Credit
Spread to the Issuer, by way of a written notice, no later than
4 (Four) Business Days prior to the relevant Coupon Reset
Date (“Credit Spread Reset Notice”).

Upon receiving the Credit Spread Reset Notice, the Issuer
shall communicate their written acceptance or rejection of
the revised Credit Spread to the Debenture Holders and the
Debenture Trustee, no later than 2 (Two) Business Days
prior to the relevant Coupon Reset Date.

If the Issuer accepts the revised Credit Spread pursuant to
the written acceptance notice, as provided for hereinabove,
the revised Credit Spread shall be applicable on and from the
relevant Coupon Reset Date as set out in the Credit Spread
Reset Notice, until the Maturity Date.

If the Issuer rejects the revised Credit Spread by way of the
written rejection notice, then the Issuer shall redeem the
Debentures and shall prepay the principal amount of the
Debentures along with accrued Coupon & Default Interest
(if any).

It is hereby clarified that in the event the Issuer fails in
communicating their acceptance or rejection of the revised
Credit Spread in the manner stated herein above, then the
revised Credit Spread as communicated by the Debenture
Trustee and/or the Debenture Holder to the Issuer, in the
Credit Spread Reset Notice, shall be applicable on and from
the relevant Coupon Reset Date as set out in the Credit
Spread Reset Notice, until the Maturity Date.

Notwithstanding above, if the Issuer rejects the revised calculated rate due
to reset by way of the written rejection notice, then the Issuer shall redeem
the Debentures and shall prepay the principal amount of the Debentures
along with accrued Coupon & Default Interest (if any).

Reference Rate Reset on the Coupon Reset Date

Save and except as set out in paragraph (i) above, the
Debenture Trustee, acting on the instructions of Majority
Debenture Holders, shall also have the right to change, at its
discretion, the Reference Rate on the Coupon Reset Date.

The Majority Debenture Holders shall decide the revised
Reference Rate which shall be applicable on and from the
Coupon Reset Date. The revised Reference Rate so
approved by the Majority Debenture Holders, shall be
communicated to the Debenture Trustee, with a copy
marked to the Issuer, no later than 2 (Two) Business Days
prior to the Coupon Reset Date.
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C. The Debenture Trustee shall communicate the revised
Reference Rate to the Issuer, by way of a written notice, no
later than 1 (One) Business Day prior to the Coupon Reset
Date.

D. Upon the notices being issued by the Majority Debenture
Holders and the Debenture Trustee in accordance with
paragraph B and C above, the revised Reference Rate shall,
without any act, deed or thing, be automatically reset and the
Issuer shall be obligated to pay the same, on and from the
Coupon Reset Date.

Day Count Basis

Actual/Actual

Interest on Application Money

At the Coupon Rate (subject to deduction of tax at source under the
provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961, or any other statutory
modification or re-enactment thereof, as applicable) from the credit of
subscription monies in respect of the Debentures, until 1 (One) day prior
to the Deemed Date of Allotment and the same shall be paid to the
relevant Investors within 7 (Seven) Business Days from the Deemed Date
of Allotment. Where Pay-in Date and Deemed Date of Allotment are the
same, no interest on application money is to be paid.

Default Interest Rate

(a) In case of failure by the Issuer in the performance of its payment
obligations under the Debentures on the relevant Due Dates, the
Issuer shall be liable to pay further default interest which shall be
calculated at 2% (Two Percent) per annum over and above the
Coupon Rate computed on the entire obligations, outstanding on the
Debentures, for the period commencing from the date of the default
and expiring on the date on which the default ceases. The default
interest under the terms of this paragraph shall be payable monthly.
The default interest under the terms of this paragraph may be waived
by the Majority Debenture Holder(s) in the event the failure by the
Issuer in the performance of its payment obligations is for the
following technical reasons as set below and does not exceed 2 (Two)
Business Days from the date of such failure to pay:

(i) The Due Date for such payment falls on a day which is not a
Business Day.

(i) Payment infrastructure i.e. RTGS transfers, experiencing any
downtime

(b) Without prejudice to any other rights and remedies available to the
Debenture Trustee pursuant to the terms of Transaction Documents,
in case of default by the Issuer in the performance of any other
covenants, including Financial Covenants as provided for in the
Debenture Trust Deed, the Issuer shall be liable to pay default interest
which shall be calculated at 2% (Two Percent) per annum over the
Coupon Rate computed on the entire obligations, outstanding on the
Debentures, for the period commencing from the date of the default
and expiring on the date on which the default ceases.

(The default interest payable in terms of this paragraph is hereinafter
referred to as the “Default Interest”).
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Delay Penalty In case of any delay in execution of the Debenture Trust Deed and the
Deed of Hypothecation, the Company will refund the subscription monies
with agreed rate of interest or will pay interest of 2% (Two percent) per
annum over and above the Coupon Rate till these conditions are complied
with at the option of the Debenture Holder.

Tenor 24 (Twenty Four) months from the Deemed Date of Allotment

Redemption Date/Maturity | July 22, 2023 being 24 (Twenty Four) months from the Deemed Date of

Date Allotment.

Principal Payment Date(s)

Quarterly on 22" October 2021, 22" January 2022, 22" April 2022, 22"
July 2022, 22" October 2022, 22" January 2023, 22" April 2023, 22"
July 2023 in the manner set out in Annexure VI (//lustration of Bond
Cashflows) of this Information Memorandum.

Redemption Amount

The principal amount of the Debenture shall be payable on the Principal
Payment Date(s) plus accrued Coupon along with the Default Interest (if
any), and other such costs, charges and expenses if any, payable on the
Due Date(s) under the Transaction Documents.

Redemption Premium/

Discount

N.A.

Issue Price

INR 10,00,000 (Indian Rupees Ten Lacs Only) per debenture

Discount at which security is
issued and the effective yield as
a result of such discount

N.A.

Put Option Date N.A.
Put Option Price N.A.
Put Option Notification Time | N.A.
Call Option Date N.A.
Call Option Price N.A.
Call Option Notification Time | N.A.

Face Value

INR 10,00,000 (Indian Rupees Ten Lacs only) per Debenture

Minimum Application size and
in multiples of 1 thereafter

10 Debentures and in multiples of 1 Debenture thereafter

Issue Timing

Issue Opens on: July 20, 2021

Issue Closing on: July 22, 2021

Deemed Date of Allotment: July 22, 2021
Pay-in Date: July 22, 2021

Issuance mode of the

Instrument

Demat only

Trading mode of the Instrument

Demat only

Settlement mode of the | Cheque(s)/ electronic clearing services (ECS)/credit through RTGS

Instrument system/funds transfer to the specified bank account of the Debenture
Holder.

Depositories NSDL, CDSL

Business Days

Any day of the week (excluding non-working Saturdays, Sundays, and
any day on which banks are closed for business in New Delhi) on which
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banks are open for business in New Delhi, and “Business Days” shall be
construed accordingly.

Business Day Convention

If any Coupon Payment Date or the due date for the performance of any
event falls on a day that is not a Business Day, the payment shall be made
on the immediately succeeding Business Day. If the Redemption Date /
Maturity Date (also being the last Coupon Payment Date) of the
Debentures falls on a day that is not a Business Day, the redemption
proceeds shall be paid on the immediately preceding Business Day.

Record Date

The date which will be used for determining the Debenture Holders who
shall be entitled to receive the amounts due on any Due Date, which shall
be the date falling 15 (Fifteen) calendar days prior to any Due Date.

All covenants of the issue

(including side letters,
accelerated payment
clause,

etc.)

As set out in in Clause 7.3 below and under the Transaction Documents.

Description regarding Security
(where applicable) including
type of security (movable /
immovable / tangible etc.), type
of charge (pledge /
hypothecation / mortgage etc.),
date of creation of security /
likely date of creation of
security, minimum security
cover, revaluation, replacement
of security, interest to the
debenture holder over and
above the coupon rate as
specified in the Trust Deed and
disclosed in  the  Offer
Document /  Information
Memorandum.

The Debentures and all interest, additional interest, liquidated damages,
indemnification payments, fees, costs, expenses and other monies owing
by, and all other present and future obligations and liabilities shall be
secured by a first and exclusive charge by the Issuer in favour of the
Debenture Trustee (for the benefit of the Debenture Holders) being an
exclusive first ranking charge by way of hypothecation over specific
identified receivables, present and future (as set out more particularly in
the Deed of Hypothecation), representing amounts due from the various
borrowers of the Company (“Hypothecated Property”) such that the
value of security shall be equal to 1.20 (One Decimal Point Two Zero)
times the aggregate amount of principal, interest / Coupon amount
outstanding and any other amount outstanding in respect of the
Debentures (“Asset Cover”);:

The Issuer undertakes:

(@
(b)

to maintain the value of the Asset Cover at all times till the
obligations under the Issue are discharged.

to create the security over the Hypothecated Property by executing
a duly stamped deed of hypothecation (“Deed of Hypothecation™)
prior to the Deemed Date of Allotment;

To perfect the security created over the Hypothecated Property by
filing the relevant Form CHG-9 with the Registrar of Companies
immediately and no later than 30 (Thirty) calendar days from the
date of execution of the Deed of Hypothecation.

Upon the execution of the Deed of Hypothecation, in the event of
any fall in the Asset Cover, additional Hypothecated Property shall
be taken in the manner as provided for in the Deed of
Hypothecation.

The receivables constituting the Hypothecated Property shall meet
the selection criteria as set out under the Deed of Hypothecation.

(c)

(d)

(e)
All disclosures with respect to creation of security are in confirmation
with the clauses of debenture trustee agreement.

Further, no consents/ permissions is required for creation of further charge
on assets / Hypothecated Property since they are unencumbered as on date
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and the Debentures are therefore proposed to be secured by way of a first
ranking, exclusive and continuing charge on identified receivables.

The Debentures shall be considered to be secured only in the event the
Security is registered with Sub-registrar and Registrar of Companies or
Central Registry of Securitisation Asset Reconstruction and Security
Interest of India (CERSAI) or Depository etc., as applicable or is
independently verifiable by the Debenture Trustee.

Due diligence certificate issued
by the Debenture Trustee

The due diligence certificate issued by the Debenture Trustee to BSE in
accordance with the SEBI circular dated November 03, 2020 (bearing
reference no SEBI/HO/MIRSD/CRADT/CIR/P/2020/218) is annexed
hereto as Annexure VIII

Terms and conditions of
debenture trustee agreement
including fees charged by
debenture trustees(s), details of
security to be created and
process of due diligence carried
out by the debenture trustee.

Please refer to Annexure IX below.

Transaction Documents

Shall be as set out in Clause 7.1 below.

Conditions Precedent to
Deemed Date of Allotment

The Company shall fulfil the following Conditions Precedent the

satisfaction of the Debenture Trustee and submit Conditions Precedent

documentation where applicable to the Debenture Trustee, prior to the

Deemed Date of Allotment:

(a) The Company shall have obtained all corporate approvals from
the Board of Directors authorizing the issue of Debentures as also
execution of the necessary documents in that behalf and a
certified true copy of the resolution of the shareholders of the
Company under section 42 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the
execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the
Transaction Documents in accordance with the Companies Act,
2013, the Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of Securities)
Rules, 2014, the Companies (Share Capital and Debentures)
Rules, 2014 and other rules prescribed,;

(b) The Company shall have obtained the governmental and issued

the corporate authorizations (including board / committee

resolution permitting the issuance of the Debentures and the
listing of the Debentures), as applicable.

(c) Execution by the Company of the Debenture Trustee Agreement,

the Deed of Hypothecation and the Debenture Trust Deed, in a

form and manner satisfactory to the Debenture Trustee shall have

taken place;

(d) The Company shall have submitted to the Debenture Trustee, the

rating letter from the Rating Agency within a minimum credit

rating of “CRISIL A” (pronounced as “CRISIL Single A”) with

a “stable” outlook;
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S

(g

(h)

(1)

W)

(k)

M

(m)

The Company shall have submitted to the Debenture Holders or
the Debenture Trustee, all required documents for the purpose of
satisfying its respective know your customer requirements;

The Company shall have submitted to the Debenture Trustee a
certified true copy of the constitutional documents of the
Company and the Certificate of Incorporation;

The Company shall have submitted to the Debenture Trustee, its
audited account statements for the most recent financial year or
audited financial half-year.

The Company shall have provided a certificate to the Debenture
Trustee, (including board resolution permitting issuer for listing
of securities), confirming that issuance and allotment of the
Debentures would not cause any borrowing, or similar limit
binding on the Issuer to be exceeded.

The Company shall have obtained the consent letter from the
Debenture Trustee;

The Company shall provide such other undertaking as may be
required by the Debenture Holder(s);

The Company shall ensure that all necessary approvals have been
obtained for the Issue.

The Company shall have submitted due diligence certificate
issued by the Debenture Trustee to BSE in accordance with the
SEBI circular dated November 03, 2020 (bearing reference no
SEBI/HO/MIRSD/CRADT/CIR/P/2020/218) in relation to the
Hypothecated property; and

The Company shall have submitted any other documents that may
be requested by the Debenture Trustee and/or the Debenture
Holders.

Conditions ~ Subsequent
Deemed Date of Allotment

to

The

Issuer shall ensure that the following documents are

executed/activities are completed as per the time frame stipulated in the
Debenture Trust Deed

(a)

(b)

On or prior to the utilisation of the subscription monies by the
Company in respect of the Debentures and in any case, within 15
(Fifteen) days from the Deemed Date of Allotment, the Company
shall file of a return of allotment on the issue of the Debentures
in Form PAS-3 specified pursuant to Rule 12 and 14 of the
Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of Securities) Rules, 2014,
along with the requisite fee with the Registrar of Companies;

Within 2 (Two) Business Days from the Deemed Date of
Allotment, the Company shall ensure credit of dematerialised
account(s) of the allottee(s) of the Debentures with the number of
Debentures allotted;
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(c) Within 4 (Four) Business Days from the date of closing of the
Issue, the Company shall list the Debentures on the BSE and
obtain the listing approval from the BSE;

(d) Filing of the relevant forms with the Registrar of Companies for
the perfection of charge over the Hypothecated property within
and no later 30 (Thirty) calendar days from the date of execution
of the Deed of Hypothecation;

(e) The Company shall ensure compliance with SEBI / Companies
Act, 2013 (as applicable) for issuance of Debentures.

Events of Default (including
manner of

voting /conditions of joining
Inter Creditor Agreement)

As mentioned in Clause 7.4 and Annexure I below.

Creation of recovery expense
fund

(1) Details and purpose of the recovery expense fund

The Issuer shall create a recovery expense fund in accordance with the
applicable SEBI regulations, including but not limited to the SEBI
circular dated October 22, 2020 (bearing reference number:
SEBI/HO/MIRSD/CRADT/CIR/P/2020/207)

Conditions for breach of
covenants (as specified in the
Debenture Trust Deed)

As mentioned in Clause 7.4 and under Annexure I below.

Provisions related to Cross
Default Clause

As mentioned in Clause 7.4 and under Annexure I below.

Role and Responsibilities of
Debenture Trustee

To oversee and monitor the overall transaction for and on behalf of the
Debenture Holders.

Risk factors pertaining to the
issue

As mentioned in SECTION 3: above.

Covenants

As mentioned in Clause 7.3 and Annexure I below.

Representation and warranties

As mentioned in Clause 7.2 and Annexure I below.

Illustration of Bond Cashflows

Kindly refer to Annexure VI of this Information Memorandum

Governing Law and | The Debentures and documentation will be governed by and construed in
Jurisdiction accordance with the laws of India and the parties submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of the courts in New Delhi, India and as more particularly
provided for in the Debenture Trust Deed.
Note:
1. Ifthere is any change in Coupon Rate pursuant to any event including elapse of certain time period

or downgrade in rating then such new Coupon Rate and events which lead to such change shall be

disclosed.

The procedure used to decide the dates on which the payment can be made and adjusting payment

dates in response to days when payment can’t be made due to any reason like sudden bank holiday

etc., should be laid down
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3. The list of documents which has been executed or will be executed in connection with the issue and
subscription of debt securities shall be annexed.

4. While the debt securities are secured to the tune of 120% (One Hundred and Twenty Percent) of the
principal amount and coupon amounts accrued in relation to the Debentures or as per the terms of
offer document/ information Memorandum, in favour of Debenture Trustee, it is the duty of the
Debenture Trustee to monitor that the security is maintained, however, the recovery of 120% (One
Hundred and Twenty Percent) of the amount shall depend on the market scenario prevalent at the
time of enforcement of the security.

Creation of Security: The Issuer shall give an undertaking in the Information Memorandum that
the assets on which charge is created are free from any encumbrances and in cases where the assets
are already charged to secure a debt, the permission or consent to create a second or pari-passu
charge on the assets of the issuer has been obtained from the earlier creditor

The Issuer hereby undertakes that the assets on which the first ranking exclusive charge is created /
proposed to be created by the Company in favour of the Debenture Trustee to secure the obligations of
the Company in relation to the Debentures under the terms of the Deed of Hypothecation, being the
Hypothecated Property, are free from any encumbrances.
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SECTION 6: DISCLOSURES PERTAINING TO WILFUL DEFAULT

In case of listing of debt securities made on private placement, the following disclosures are required to
be made vide SEBI (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) (Amendment) Regulations, 2016 w.e.f. 25-05-
16:

A. Name of the Bank declaring the entity as a Wilful Defaulter: NIL

B. The year in which the entity is declared as a Wilful Defaulter: NIL

C. Outstanding amount when the entity is declared as a Wilful Defaulter: NIL

D. Name of the entity declared as a Wilful Defaulter: NIL

E. Steps taken, if any, for the removal from the list of wilful defaulters: NIL

F. Other disclosures, as deemed fit by the Issuer in order to enable investors to take informed
decisions: NIL

G. Any other disclosure as specified by the Board: NIL
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SECTION 7: TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS AND KEY TERMS
7.1 Transaction Documents
The following documents shall be executed in relation to the Issue (“Transaction Documents™):

A. Debenture Trustee Agreement, which will confirm the appointment of IDBI Trusteeship
Services Limited as the Debenture Trustee (“Debenture Trustee Agreement”);

B. Debenture Trust Deed, which will set out the terms upon which the Debentures are being issued
and shall include the representations and warranties and the covenants to be provided by the
Issuer (“Debenture Trust Deed”);

C. Deed of Hypothecation whereby the Issuer will create an exclusive charge by way of
hypothecation over the Hypothecated Property in favour of the Debenture Trustee acting in trust
for and on behalf of and for the benefit of the Debenture Holders to secure its obligations in
respect of the Debentures (“Deed of Hypothecation”);

D. Such other documents as agreed between the Issuer and the Debenture Trustee.

The Debenture Trustee Agreement shall be executed on or prior to the Issue Opening Date. The
Debenture Trust Deed and the Deed of Hypothecation shall be executed prior to the date of application
of listing and in any case prior to the Deemed Date of Allotment.

7.2 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE ISSUER

The Company hereby, represents and warrants to the Debenture Trustee and the Debenture
Holders as follows. The representations and warranties made by the Company herein below are
(a) made on the date of this Information Memorandum; and (b) unless otherwise specifically
provided, shall be deemed to be repeated by the Company on and as on each day upto the Final
Settlement Date as if made with respect to the facts and circumstances existing on such dates,
except where expressly stated to be made as of a particular date.

(a)  STATUS:

(1) It is a company, duly incorporated, registered and validly existing under the
Applicable Law.

(i1) As on date, the Company is registered with the Reserve Bank of India as a non-
banking financial company.

(iii) It has the power to own its assets and carry on its business in substantially the
same manner as it is being conducted.

(b) BINDING OBLIGATIONS:

The obligations expressed to be assumed by it under the Transaction Documents are
legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations.

(c) NON-CONFLICT WITH OTHER OBLIGATIONS:

The entry into, and performance by it of, and the transactions contemplated by the
Transaction Documents do not and will not conflict with:
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(1) any Applicable Law; or
(i1) its constitutional documents; or

(iii)  any agreement or instrument entered into by the Company or binding upon it or
any of its assets.

TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS:

The Company has duly executed / will execute and delivered / will deliver each of the
Transaction Documents and each of such Transaction Documents constitute upon
execution a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable against the
Company without any further action being required with respect to such documents.

NO DEFAULT:

(1) No Event of Default or potential Event of Default has currently occurred and is
continuing as of the date hereof or might reasonably be expected to result from
the execution or performance of any Transaction Documents or the issuance of
the Debentures.

(i) No other event or circumstance is outstanding which constitutes as on the date
hereof (or which would, with the lapse of time, the expiry of a grace period, the
giving of notice, the making of any determination under the relevant document,
the satisfaction of any other condition or any combination of any of the
foregoing, constitute) a default or termination event (however described) under
any other agreement or instrument under which the Company has incurred any
Financial Indebtedness or which is binding on the Company or to which any of
its assets are subject in respect of which the Company has received a notice or
which might have a Material Adverse Effect.

PARI PASSU RANKING:

Its payment obligations under the Transaction Documents rank pari passu with the
claims of all of its present and future senior secured creditors except for obligations
mandatorily preferred by law applying to companies generally.

NO PROCEEDINGS PENDING:

(1) No litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings of or before any
Governmental Authority (to the best of its knowledge and belief), has been made,
are pending, or is threatened, against the Company, which may result in the
occurrence of a Material Adverse Effect.

(i1) There is no unsatisfied judgment or award passed by any court,
arbitrator or other body against the Company, currently subsisting (to the best of
its knowledge and belief), which has not been satisfied by the Company within
the time frame stipulated in such judgment or award.

NO MISLEADING INFORMATION:

All information set out in the financial statements furnished by the Company to the
Debenture Trustee and all information provided by the Company to the Debenture
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Holders for the purposes of this Issue is true and accurate in all respects as at the date it
was provided or as at the date (if any) on which it is stated.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

It is in compliance in all respects with all Applicable Law for the performance of its
obligations with respect to this Issue for them to carry on their business and is not subject
to any liability by reason of non-compliance with any Applicable Law.

ASSETS:

Except for the security interests and encumbrances created and recorded with the
Ministry of Corporate Affairs (available using CIN U65929DL2016PTC306174 on the
website http:/www.mca.gov.in/MCA21/index.html under the heading Index of
Charges), the Company has, free from any security interest or encumbrance, the absolute
legal, marketable and beneficial title to, or valid leases or licenses of, or is otherwise
entitled to use (in each case, where relevant, on arm's length terms), all assets necessary
or desirable for the conduct of its business as it is being, and is proposed to be,
conducted.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

(1) Its financial statements most recently supplied to the Debenture Trustee were
prepared in accordance with GAAP / IND AS consistently applied save to the
extent expressly disclosed in such financial statements.

(i1) Its financial statements most recently supplied to the Debenture Trustee as of
March 31, 2021 give a true and fair view and represent its financial condition
and operations during the relevant financial year save to the extent expressly
disclosed in such financial statements.

SOLVENCY:

@) The Company is able to, and has not admitted its inability to, pay its debts as
they mature and has not suspended making payment on any of its debts and it
will not be deemed by a court to be unable to pay its debts within the meaning
of Applicable Law, nor in any such case, will it become so in consequence of
entering into the Debenture Trust Deed.

(i1) The Company has not by reason of actual or anticipated financial difficulties,
commenced, and neither does it intend to commence, negotiations with one or
more of their creditors with a view to rescheduling any of their Financial
Indebtedness;

(iii)  The value of the assets of the Company is more than its respective liabilities
(taking into account contingent and prospective liabilities) and it has sufficient
capital to carry on its business.

(iv) Except as separately disclosed to the Debenture Holder(s), no moratorium has

been, or may, in the reasonable foreseeable future be, declared in respect of any
Financial Indebtedness of the Company.
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) As on the date hereof, the Company has neither taken any corporate action nor
has taken any legal proceedings or other procedure or steps in relation to any
bankruptcy proceedings.

TAXATION MATTERS

(1) The Company has duly and punctually paid and discharged all taxes within the
time period allowed under Applicable Law.

(i1) The Company has complied with all the requirements as specified under the
respective tax laws as applicable to it in relation to returns, computations, notices
and information which are or are required to be made or given by the Company
to any tax authority for taxation and for any other tax or duty purposes, have
been made and are correct.

MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT

The Company hereby represents that there is no Material Adverse Effect existing and
that there are no event or circumstances existing which could give rise, with the passage
of time or otherwise, to a Material Adverse Effect on the Debentures (or on the
Debenture Holder(s)) or on the ability of the Company to make the scheduled Payments
in relation to the Debentures.

INSOLVENCY

The Company has not taken any action, including actions under the IBC, nor (to the best
of its knowledge and belief) has any application been made for its winding-up,
dissolution or re-organisation or for the enforcement of any security over its assets or
for the appointment of a liquidator, supervisor, receiver, administrator, administrative
receiver, compulsory manager, trustee or other similar officer of it or in respect of any
of its assets.

SECURITY

@) Save and except the charge created to secure the Debentures (and any other
charges disclosed to the Debenture Trustee), the Hypothecated Property herein
before expressed to be granted, conveyed, assigned, transferred and assured unto
the Debenture Trustee is the sole and absolute property of the Company and is
free from any other mortgage, charge or encumbrance and is not subject to any
lis pendens, attachment, or other order or process issued by any Governmental
Authority and that the Company has a clear and marketable title to the
Hypothecated Property.

(i1) There are no legal proceedings, suits, appeals or other actions under Applicable
Law, whether judicial, fiscal or administrative, pending or threatened in writing,
or claims in respect of the Hypothecated Property, which may result in the
occurrence of a Material Adverse Effect.

DEFAULTER STATUS
Neither the Company nor any of the directors of the Company appear on the Reserve

Bank of India's list of defaulters and Export & Credit Guarantee Corporation's caution
list.
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(r) POWER AND AUTHORITY:
It has the power to enter into, perform and deliver, and has taken all necessary action to
authorise its entry into, performance and delivery of, the Transaction Documents to
which it is a party and the transactions contemplated by those Transaction Documents.

(s) VALIDITY AND ADMISSIBILITY IN EVIDENCE:

All approvals, authorizations, consents, permits (third party, statutory or otherwise)
required or desirable:

@) to enable it lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights and comply with its
obligations in the Transaction Documents to which it is a party;

(i1) to make the Transaction Documents to which it is a party admissible in evidence
in its jurisdiction of incorporation; and

(iii)  to enable it to carry on its business, trade and ordinary activities;
have been obtained or effected and are in full force and effect.
7.3 COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER
7.3.1. AFFIRMATIVE AND REPORTING COVENANTS
The Company hereby covenants with the Debenture Trustee that the Company shall (except as

may otherwise be previously agreed in writing by the Debenture Trustee (acting upon the
instructions of the Majority Debenture Holders), undertakes to comply with the following

covenants:
(a) Utilisation of proceeds of Debentures
1) The Company shall utilise the monies received towards the general corporate

purposes of the Company and for the ordinary course of business of the
Company and any other purpose as may be agreed between the Company and
the Debenture Holders (the “Purpese”). The Company undertakes that no part
of the proceeds of the Debentures shall be utilized by the Company directly or
indirectly towards capital markets (including equity, debt, debt linked and
equity linked instruments or any other capital market land activities), any
payments towards dividends, any speculative purposes, any activity in the
exclusion list or investment in the real estate sector, any purpose, that is
prohibited for bank finance to non-banking financial companies, or, which
results in a breach of the RBI's master circular no.
DBR.BP.BC.N0.5/21.04.172/2015-16 dated July 2015 on "Bank Finance to
Non-Banking Financial Companies (NBFCs)" or in contravention of any
guidelines, rules or regulations of the SEBI applicable to non-banking financial
companies related to private placement of debentures.

(i1) The Company undertakes that the proceeds of the Debentures shall be utilised
in accordance with Applicable Law.

(b) Validity of Transaction Documents
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Ensure that the Transaction Documents shall be validly executed and delivered and will
continue in full force and effect and will constitute valid, enforceable and binding
obligations of the Company.

Further documents and acts

Execute all such deeds, documents, instruments and assurances and do all such acts and
things including the appointment of any consultant as the Debenture Trustee may
reasonably require for exercising the rights under the Debenture Trust Deed and the
Debentures on behalf of and for perfecting the Debenture Trust Deed or for effectuating
and completing the Security intended to be hereby created or for ensuring that the
Security is adequately insured and is in proper condition and shall from time to time and
at all times after the Security hereby constituted shall become enforceable, execute and
do all such deeds, documents, assurance, acts, and things as the Debenture Trustee may
require for facilitating realisation of the Hypothecated Property and in particular the
Company shall execute all transfers, conveyances, assignments and assurance of the
Hypothecated Property whether to the Debenture Trustee or to their nominees and shall
give all notices and directions which the Debenture Trustee may think expedient.

Make the Relevant filings with the Registrar of Companies/SEBI

Pursuant to the Act and the relevant rules thereunder, the Company undertakes to make
the necessary filings of the documents mandated therein including the Form PAS-3 for
return of allotment with the Registrar of Companies and/or SEBI within the timelines
stipulated under the Act and the relevant rules thereunder.

Compliance with laws
The Company shall comply with:

1) all laws, rules, regulations and guidelines (including the Act) as applicable in
respect to the Issue, and obtain such regulatory approvals as may be required
from time to time, including but not limited, in relation to the following (i) the
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities)
Regulations, 2008, as may be in force from time to time during the currency of
the Debentures; (ii) the provisions of the listing agreement entered into by the
Company with the stock exchange in relation to the Debentures including the
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015
(Listing Regulations), and (iii) the Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of
Securities) Rules, 2014 and the other notified rules under the Act;

(i1) comply with all the applicable provisions as mentioned in the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Debenture Trustee) Regulations, 1993, the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations,
2008, the Act, Issuance of Non-Convertible Debentures (Reserve Bank)
Directions, 2010, RBI Master Direction dated September 1, 2016 bearing
reference no. DNBR.PD.007/03.10.119/2016-17 on ‘Non-Banking Financial
Company —Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company (Reserve
Bank) Directions, 2016’ as amended from time to time, as applicable and and/or
any other notification, circular, press release issued by the SEBI/RBI, from time
to time.

(iii) The Company shall, while submitting half yearly/ annual financial results to the
BSE disclose inter alia the following line items along with the financial results
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accompanied by a certificate from the Debenture Trustee confirming that it has
taken note of the said content and the same shall be communicated to the
Debenture Holder(s) on a half-yearly basis:

A. Credit rating of the Issue and change in credit rating, if any;
B. Debt- equity ratio of the Company;
C. Previous due date for the payment of interest/ repayment of principal

and whether the same has been paid or not;

D. Next due date of payment along with the amount of interest/ principal
along with the amount of interest payable;

E. Debenture Redemption Reserve (if applicable);

F. Net worth;

G. Net profit after tax; and

H. Earnings per share.

® Notify the Debenture Trustee

The Company shall provide / cause to be provided information in respect of the
following promptly and no later than 2 (Two) Business Days from the occurrence of
such event (unless otherwise specifically provided):

(1) inform the Debenture Trustee of any significant changes in the composition of
its Board of Directors.

(i1) inform the Debenture Trustee promptly about any failure to create Security and
about all orders, directions, notices of court/tribunal affecting the Hypothecated
Property.

(iii) Inform the Debenture Trustee promptly of any amalgamation, merger or
reconstruction scheme proposed by the Company.

@iv) inform the Debenture Trustee of any major change in the composition of its
Board of Directors, which may amount to change in ‘control’ as defined in SEBI
(Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011.

W) The Company agrees that it shall forward to the Debenture Trustee promptly,
which information can be forwarded in electronic form or fax:

A a copy of the Statutory Auditors’ and Directors’ Annual Report,
Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account and of all periodical and
special reports at the same time as they are issued;

B. a copy of all notices, resolutions and circulars relating to new issue of
debt securities at the same time as they are sent to shareholders/ holders
of debt securities; and

C. a copy of all the notices, call letters, circulars, etc. of the meetings of
debt security holders at the same time as they are sent to the holders of
debt securities or advertised in the media.

(2) notify the Debenture Trustee in writing, of any proposed change in the nature or scope
or the business or operations of the Company or the entering into any agreement or
arrangement by any person that may materially affect the assets and liabilities of the
Company, at least 3 (Three) Business Days prior to the date on which such action is
proposed to be given effect.
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Furnish Information to Debenture Trustee

Give to the Debenture Trustee or their nominee(s) (and to the Debenture Holder(s), if
so requested), information in respect of the following within a maximum of 5 (Five)
calendar days from the occurrence of such event (unless otherwise specifically
provided):

O]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Submit to the Debenture Trustee, if so requested, a statement that the assets of
the Company which are available by way of security is/are sufficient to
discharge the claims of the Debenture Holders as and when they become due.

Such information as the Debenture Holders may require as to all matters relating
to the business, property and affairs of the Company that materially impacts the
interests of the Debenture Holders and provide access to relevant books of
accounts and records in relation to this Issue and to enter into or upon and to
view and inspect the state and condition of all the Hypothecated Property,
together with all records, registers in relation to the Hypothecated Property as
required by the Debenture Trustee.

At the end of each calendar month, furnish to the Debenture Trustee and
Debenture Holders, an updated List of Receivables constituting the
Hypothecated Property, sufficient to maintain the Asset Cover.

Furnish quarterly (unless specified otherwise, in which case, reports shall be
submitted according to the specified timeline) report to the Debenture Trustee
(and to the Debenture Holders), containing the following particulars: -

A. Periodical status/performance reports from the Company within 7
(Seven) days of the relevant board meeting or within 45 (Forty Five)
days of the respective quarter, whichever is earlier;

B. Updated list of the names and addresses of the Debenture Holder(s);

C. Details of the Coupon and principal payments to be made, but unpaid
and reasons for the non-payment thereof;

D. The number and nature of grievances received from the Debenture
Holder(s) and resolved by the Company, and those grievances not yet
solved to the satisfaction of the Debenture Holder(s);

E. A certificate from the Director/ Managing Director of the Company, the
value of the book debts/receivables underlying the Hypothecated
Property and stating that the assets of the Company which are available
by way of security are sufficient to discharge the claims of the
Debenture Holders as and when they become due;

F. Certificate from an independent Chartered Accountant, certifying the
value of book debts/receivables underlying the Hypothecated Property;

G. Promptly and expeditiously attend to and redress the grievances, if any,
of the Debenture Holder(s). The Company further undertakes that it
shall promptly comply with the suggestions and directions that may be
given in this regard, from time to time, by the Debenture Trustee and
shall advise the Debenture Trustee periodically of its compliance.
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The Company hereby covenants and undertakes that it shall within 60 (Sixty)
calendar days from the end of each financial quarter, submit to the Debenture
Trustee, an asset / security cover certificate in respect of the Hypothecated
Property in the applicable format prescribed under Annexure A of the SEBI
circular dated November 12, 2020 (bearing reference number: SEBI/ HO/
MIRSD/ CRADT/ CIR/ P/ 2020/23) to enable the Debenture Trustee to submit
the same to the relevant stock exchange(s) within the timelines stipulated under
Applicable Law.

The Company shall submit a certificate from its statutory auditory to the
Debenture Trustee on a half-yearly basis, giving the value of receivables / book
debts comprising the Hypothecated Property including compliance with the
covenants of the Information Memorandum in the manner as may be specified
by SEBI from time to time and certifying maintenance of the asset / security
cover as per the terms of the Information Memorandum and/or the Debenture
Trust Deed along with the half-yearly financial results of the Company.

The Company undertakes to provide all information/ documents required to be
submitted to the Debenture Trustee, to enable it to carry out the due diligence
in terms of SEBI circular dated November 3, 2020 and bearing number SEBI/
HO/ MIRSD/ CRADT/ CIR/ P/ 2020/218 and necessary reports / certificates to
the stock exchanges / SEBI and make the necessary disclosures on its website,
in terms of the SEBI circular dated November 12, 2020 and bearing number
SEBI/ HO/ MIRSD/ CRADT/ CIR/ P/ 2020/230, as amended, replaced or
modified from time to time.

The Company shall provide to the Debenture Trustee such information as it may
require for any filings, statements, reports that the Debenture Trustee is required
to provide to any Governmental Authority under Applicable Law.

notify the Debenture Trustee in writing, if it becomes aware of any fact, matter
or circumstance which would cause any of the representations and warranties
under any of the Transaction Documents to become untrue or inaccurate or
misleading in any respect.

provide to the Debenture Trustee such further information regarding the
financial condition, business and operations of the Company as the Debenture
Trustee may reasonably request in relation to the Payments due to be made on
the Debentures.

Asset Cover

Shall maintain the Asset Cover as required under the Deed of Hypothecation at all times
until the Final Settlement Date.

Transfer of unclaimed Redemption Amounts.

Comply with the provisions of the Act relating to transfer of unclaimed redemption and
coupon amounts of Debentures to Investor Education and Protection Fund (“IEPF”), if
applicable to it.

Security
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The Company hereby further agrees, declares and covenants with the Debenture Trustee
as follows:

(1) The Debentures shall be secured by way of a first ranking exclusive charge on
the Hypothecated Property by executing the Deed of Hypothecation at least 1
(One) day prior to filing of the listing application with BSE Limited for listing
of the Debentures and in any case prior to the Deemed Date of Allotment;

(i1) It shall perfect the security over the Hypothecated Property by filing Form
CHG-9 with the Registrar of Companies in relation thereto within 30 (Thirty)
calendar days from the date of execution of the Deed of Hypothecation;

(iii)  The Company shall keep the Hypothecated Property adequately insured, in a
proper condition and shall pay all taxes, cesses, insurance premium with the
Hypothecated Property within the time permissible under Applicable Laws.

@iv) The Company covenants that it shall co-operate and shall provide all necessary
assistance and furnish such information or documents as may be required by the
Debenture Trustee and/or the Debenture Holders, to the satisfaction of the
Debenture Trustee to enable it to make necessary filings in connection with the
creation of security over the Hypothecated Property with the Central Registry
of Securitisation Asset Reconstruction and Security Interest of India.

Financial Terms and Conditions

The Company shall at all times during the term of these presents comply with each of
the Financial Terms and Conditions.

The Company shall carry out subsequent valuation of the Hypothecated Property, at the
request of the Debenture Trustee if applicable;

The Company is aware that in terms of Regulation 14 of the SEBI (Debenture Trustees)
Regulations, 1993 as amended from time to time, the Trust Deed has to contain the
matters specified in Section 71 of the Act and Form No. SH.12 specified under the
Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014. The Company hereby agrees
to comply with all the clauses of Form No. SH.12 as specified under the Companies
(Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014 to the extent applicable to it as if they are
actually and physically incorporated herein in the Debenture Trust Deed;

Within 15 (Fifteen) Business Days of receipt of a request from the Debenture Trustee,
the Company shall authenticate any information relating to the Debentures, to be
submitted by the Debenture Trustee with the Information Utility.

The Company shall submit to the Debenture Trustee, such information as may be
required by the Debenture Trustee from time to time.

LISTING

Take all steps for making an application to the WDM segment of the BSE and all steps
necessary to get the Debentures listed within 4 (Four) Business Days from the date of
closing of the Issue. In case of delay in listing of the debt securities beyond 4 (Four)
Business Days from the date of closing of the Issue, the Company will (i) pay penal
interest of 1% (One percent) p.a. over the Coupon Rate from the expiry of 4 (Four)
Business days from the Deemed Date of Allotment till the listing of such Debentures;
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and (ii) be permitted to utilise the issue proceeds of its subsequent two privately placed
issuances of securities only after receiving final listing approval from BSE in respect of
the Debentures.

PRESERVE CORPORATE STATUS

Diligently preserve its corporate existence and status and its license to conduct business
as a non-banking financial company and any other rights, licenses, authorizations and
franchises necessary for its obligations under the Debentures and the Transaction
Documents and continue to be a validly existing organization in good standing and at all
times act and proceed in relation to its affairs and business in compliance with
Applicable Law.

COSTS AND EXPENSES

Pay all costs, charges and expenses in any way incurred by the Debenture Trustee
towards protection of Debenture-holders’ interests, including travelling and other
allowances and such taxes, duties, costs, charges and expenses in connection with or
relating to the Debentures subject to such expenses, costs or charges being approved in
writing by the Company before they are incurred.

INCREASED COSTS

Defend and hold the Debenture Holders, harmless from and against any and all direct
losses, costs or damages incurred by it as a result of, arising from, or in connection with
or relating to (i) any matter inconsistent with, or any breach of, the representations and/or
warranties made by the Company in the Transaction Documents; or (ii) the non-
performance (in whole or in part) by the Company of any of its covenants, obligations
or agreements contained in the Transaction Documents.

FURTHER ASSURANCES
The Company shall:

(1) execute and/or do, at their own expense, all such deeds, assurances, documents,
instruments, acts, matters and things, in such form and otherwise as the
Debenture Trustee may reasonably or by law require or consider necessary in
relation to enforcing or exercising any of the rights and authorities of the
Debenture Trustee;

(i1) obtain, comply with the terms of and do all that is necessary to maintain in full
force and effect all licenses or authorisations necessary to enable it lawfully to
enter into and perform its obligations under the Debenture Trust Deed or to
ensure the legality, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence in India
of the Debenture Trust Deed and the other Transaction Documents;

(iii)  comply with any monitoring and/or servicing requests from Debenture
Holder(s);

(iv)  comply with all Applicable Laws, as applicable in respect of the Debentures and
obtain such regulatory approvals as may be required from time to time, including
but not limited, in relation to the following (i) the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008, as may be in
force from time to time during the currency of the Debentures; and (ii) the
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provisions of the listing agreement entered into by the Company with the Stock
Exchange in relation to the Debentures.

duly and punctually pay any rent, rate, cess, revenue impost, duty, tax, premium,
payables and outgoings which become lawfully payable by the Company in
respect of the assets of the Company or any part thereof or the carrying out by
the Company or maintenance of any business or operations thereon and shall
prevent any part of the assets of the Company from becoming charged with the
payment of any such amounts of any outgoings, duties, taxes, any other
payables, which may be lawfully payable by the Company and shall punctually
discharge all claims and pay all amounts as stated above which are lawfully
payable by the Company, unless contested in good faith.

hereby expressly agrees that each Debenture Holder may in its sole discretion
assign or transfer its rights, title and interest in the Debentures to any other
person.

conduct its business (including the collection of debts owed to them) in a proper,
orderly and efficient manner and must not cease its business without the prior
written consent of the Debenture Trustee (acting on the instructions of the
Majority Debenture Holders).

comply with any directions/ guidelines issued by any Governmental Authority,
in relation to the Issue.

provide such other information relating to the Company (which is relevant to the
rights of the Debenture Holders and/ or the ability of the Company to meet its
obligations in respect of the Debentures) that is requested for reasonably by the
Debenture Trustee in writing at reasonable time intervals. The Company shall
be required to furnish all the relevant details to the Debenture Trustee, within 15
(Fifteen) Business Days from the receipt of such request.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Confirm to and comply with the corporate governance and fair practices code as
prescribed by the RBI.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company shall maintain sufficient internal controls for the purpose of (i) preventing
fraud on monies lent by the Company; and (ii) preventing money from being used for
money laundering or for illegal purposes.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

@

The Company shall submit to the Debenture Trustee (and to the Debenture
Holder(s), if so requested), the duly audited annual financial accounts and
statements on a standalone and consolidated basis within 180 (One Hundred and
Eighty) calendar days from the closure of the preceding financial year. The
Company shall ensure that the audited annual financial statements submitted by
the Company:

A. provide a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company, as at the
relevant date;
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B. contain in all respects: (A) full provision for all actual liabilities; (B) in
respect of audited statements, disclosure / provision for all contingent
liabilities as required by the auditors and/or under Applicable Law and/or
any other law for the time being in force; (C) provision reasonably regarded
as adequate for all bad and doubtful debts for accounts receivables pending
collection; (D) advances recoverable from third parties; and (E) due
provision for depreciation and amortisation and for any obsolescence of
assets in each case in accordance with applicable generally accepted
accounting principles;

C. each set of financial statements delivered to the Debenture Trustee by the
Company shall be certified by the statutory auditor or any director or any
Key Managerial Personnel of the Company as giving a true and fair view of
its financial condition as at the date at which those financial statements were
drawn up.

D. disclose the borrowing / indebtedness incurred by the Company in relation
to the Debentures in its audited balance sheet.

(ii) Submit to the Debenture Trustee (and to the Debenture Holder(s), if so
requested), its provisional/unaudited quarterly financial statements and other
information with respect to the Company including its operations, portfolio, and
asset quality portfolio at risk data, funding data, asset liability management in
such formats as is acceptable and to the satisfaction of the Debenture Holders ,
certified by its chief financial officer, within 30 (Thirty) calendar days from the
close of each financial quarter.

FURTHER DOCUMENTS AND ACTS

Execute all such deeds, documents and assurances and do all such acts and things
including the appointment of any consultant as the Debenture Trustee may reasonably
require for exercising the rights under the Debenture Trust Deed and the Debentures on
behalf of and for the benefit of the Debenture Holder(s).

KYC REQUIREMENTS

In the event any of the Debenture Holder(s) is obliged for any reason to comply with
"know your customer” or similar identification procedures in circumstances where the
necessary information is not already available to it, the Company shall, promptly on the
request of the Debenture Holder(s), supply (or procure the supply of) such
documentation and other evidence as is requested in order for the Debenture Holder(s)
to carry out, and be satisfied that it has complied with, all necessary "know your
customer" or other similar checks under all Applicable Law.

FINANCIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

At all times during the term of these presents comply with each of the Financial Terms
and Conditions.

RECORDS AND INSPECTION

The Company hereby undertakes that it shall:
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(i)  keep such adequate accounting and control systems, management information
systems, books of account, and other records as are required to be maintained
under Applicable Law and such accounts as are adequate to reflect truly and fairly
the financial condition and results of operations and which shall contain full, true
and correct entries in conformity with GAAP consistently applied and all
requirements of Applicable Law;

(i) atits sole cost and expense permit the Debenture Trustee, as the representative of
the Debenture Holders, to enter into its premises and carry out technical, financial
and legal inspections of its assets, facilities and inspect and make copies of the
books of record and accounts of the Company to discuss the affairs, finances and
accounts of the Company with, and be advised as to the same, by its officers.

(iii) in the event that the auditors acting as the statutory auditors for the Company
cease acting as the auditors for any reason, the Company shall promptly inform
the Debenture Trustee of the reasons for such cessation and shall appoint in
accordance with Applicable Law and maintain as the auditors of the Company,
another reputed firm of independent chartered accountants.

(iv) permit the Debenture Trustee (or any person as the Debenture Trustee shall, from
time to time, in writing for that purpose appoint) to enter into or upon and to view
the state and condition of all the Hypothecated Property during the normal
working hours of the Company.

(v)  The Company shall maintain all registers required under the terms of the Act and
permit the Debenture Trustee to inspect the same and take copies and extracts
therefrom.

(cc) The Company shall promptly notify the Debenture Trustee in writing of:

@) Any Financial Indebtedness availed by the Company from any other creditor /
instrument holder is accelerated by such creditor / instrument holder, promptly
upon becoming aware of it;

(i1) any litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings which have been started
or threatened against it which, if adversely determined, would result in a liability
exceeding Rs. 1,00,00,000/- (Rupees One Crore only);

(iii)  any loss or damage which the Company may suffer due to any force majeure
circumstances or act of God, such as earthquake, flood, tempest or typhoon, etc.,
against which the Company may not have insured its properties / assets.

(iv)  occurrence of any event which has or might cause any potential default under
the terms of any agreement entered into by them, in relation to their business,
their assets or for the purpose of availing of any Financial Indebtedness or may
otherwise result in the occurrence of a Material Adverse Effect.

) occurrence of any event which constitutes (or, with the giving of notice, lapse
of time, determination of materiality or satisfaction of other conditions, would
be likely to constitute) an Event of Default, specifying the nature of such event
and the steps the Company is proposing to remedy the same.

(dd) The Company shall ensure that the Debentures are rated by the Rating Agency and
continue to be rated by the Rating Agency(ies) during the tenure of the Debentures.
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Perform all of its respective obligations under the terms of the Transaction Documents
and maintain in full force and effect each of the Transaction Documents to which it is a

party.

Within 45 (Forty Five) calendar days from the end of each financial quarter, the
Company shall submit a certificate signed by the chief financial officer or an authorised
signatory of the Company confirming the Company’s compliance with the Financial
Covenants set out in Clause 7.3.3 of this Information Memorandum.

Within 60 (Sixty) calendar days from the end of each financial quarter, the Company
shall provide the shareholding pattern of the Company.

Unless specified otherwise, within 10 (Ten) Business Days upon the occurrence of the
following event(s):

(1) change in the accounting policy of the Company, which have a material impact
on the Company, excluding any changes in the accounting policy of the
Company pursuant to the compliance with statutory requirements.

(i1) change in the composition of the Board of Directors of the Company.

(ii1) change in the shareholding structure of the Company.

@iv) change in the senior management officials including any Key Managerial
Personnel of the Company including Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

%) approval by the Board of Directors of the annual business plan.

(vi) after the Company obtains knowledge thereof, notice of the occurrence of any
fraud amounting to more than 1% (One Percent) of the Gross Loan Portfolio (as
defined in Clause 7.3.3 of this Information Memorandum) of the Company.

(vil)  any revision in the business plan of the Company.
(viii))  any change / amendment in the constitutional documents of the Company.

(ix) after the Company obtains knowledge thereof, notice of the occurrence of any
event or circumstance that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect.

x) after the Company knew or received, notice of any dispute, litigation,
investigation or other proceeding affecting the Company or its property or

operations, which, if adversely determined, could result in a Material Adverse
Effect.

(xi) any winding up proceeding including initiation of any insolvency resolution
process against the Company under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016
(“IBC??).

(xii)  any potential Event of Default or Events of Default (and the steps, if any, being
taken to remedy it) promptly upon becoming aware of its occurrence;
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(xiii))  Any compulsory prepayment of any Financial Indebtedness by the Company or
upon the receipt of notice of any prepayment of any Financial Indebtedness of
the Company.

As soon as practical and in any case within 2 (Two) Business Days upon the occurrence
of the following event(s):

(i)  Any prepayment of any Financial Indebtedness by the Company or upon the
receipt of notice of any prepayment of any Financial Indebtedness of the
Company.

As soon as practical and in any case within 1 (One) Business Day upon the occurrence
of the following event(s):

(i) any winding up proceeding including initiation of any insolvency resolution
process against the Company under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016
(CEIBC”)'

The Company shall provide / cause to be provided information in respect of the
following promptly and no later than 5 (Five) calendar days from the occurrence of such
event (unless otherwise specifically provided):

(1) forward the details on utilisation of funds raised through the issue of Debentures
duly certified by independent chartered accountant, when required by the
Debenture Trustee, to the Debenture Trustee within 30 (Thirty) calendar days
from the date of such request.

(i1) notify the Debenture Trustee of any revision or downgrade in the rating provided
by the Rating Agency in the Issue or any downgrade in the rating of the
Company.

(iii)  notify the Debenture Trustee of any change in the authorized signatories of the
Company in relation to this Issue.

(iv)  the Company shall inform the Debenture Trustee before declaring any dividend.

7.3.2. NEGATIVE COVENANTS

The Company hereby covenants with the Debenture Trustee that until the Final Settlement Date,
the Company shall not for so long as any amount remains outstanding under the Debentures,
except as may otherwise be previously agreed to in writing by the Debenture Trustee (acting
upon the receipt of the prior written approval of the Majority Debenture Holder(s), take any
action in relation to the items set out below:

(@)

CHANGE IN SHAREHOLDING OF KEY EXECUTIVES AND PROMOTER

(1) Take any action resulting in the dilution in the shareholding of the Key
Executives in the Company in any Financial Year, save and except on account
of fresh capital infusion in the Company.

(i1) Take any dilution in the shareholding of the Promoters and Promoter family

exceeding more than 5% (Five Percent) of the shareholding in any Financial
Year, save and except on account of fresh capital infusion in the Company.
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CHANGE IN MANAGEMENT

Take any action resulting in the significant change in the management of the Company
without the prior written approval of the Debenture Holder(s).

CHANGE IN CONTROL / OWNERSHIP
Take any action resulting in a change in the ownership or Control of the Company.
MERGER, RESTRUCTURING ETC.

Engage in or undertake any corporate restructuring, by way of merger, de-merger,
acquisition, restructuring or amalgamation, consolidation.

ARRANGEMENT WITH CREDITORS/SHAREHOLDERS

Enter into any transaction of merger, acquisition, amalgamation, de-merger,
consolidation, re-organization, scheme of arrangement or compromise with its creditors
or shareholders or effect any scheme of amalgamation or reconstruction. provided
however that this restriction shall not apply in the event that the compliance with this
restriction would result in the Company defaulting in relation to any of its payment
obligations in relation to the Debentures.

UNDERTAKE GUARANTEE

Undertake guarantee or other undertaking on behalf of any other firm or company.
PURCHASE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL

Shall not purchase or redeem any of its issued share capital or reduce its share capital.
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Save and except any amendment or modification which is required to be made to the
clauses of its Memorandum of Association or to the Articles of Association on account
of the Company or Promoter raising fresh equity capital, it shall not make any
amendments or modifications to the Memorandum of Association or to the Articles of
Association in a manner which would, in the opinion of the Debenture Trustee would
have a Material Adverse Effect.

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR

The Company shall not change its financial year-end from March 31 (or such other date
as may be approved by the Debenture Holders) unless required for statutory compliance.

CHANGE OF BUSINESS

Undertake any major new business outside of financial services or diversify or any
change in the general nature and conduct of its business outside of financial services;

Undertake any material change in the nature and conduct of business of the
Company.

AMENDMENTS TO TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS

73



Information Memorandum Private & Confidential

Date: July 20, 2021

M

(m)

(n)

(0)

(p)

(@

(1)

(s)

For Private Circulation Only
(This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus)

Shall not make any amendments, variations, waiver or modification to the provisions of
the Transaction Documents.

DEBT AND UNDERTAKING GUARANTEE

Shall not make any debt / loan, advance, inter-corporate deposits, grant credit facility
(other than in the ordinary course of business) or give / grant any guarantee or issue any
indemnity to make any investments to or for the benefit of any person including the Key
Executives.

TERMINATION OF BUSINESS

Shall not do or voluntarily suffer or permit to be done any act or thing whereby the right
of the Company to transact its business might or could be terminated or whereby
payment of any amounts hereunder may or would be hindered or delayed.

WINDING UP / LIQUIDATION

Shal not voluntarily wind up, liquidate, or dissolve its affairs, and shall ensure that the
shareholders of each of such persons, do not vote on any resolution placed before the
shareholders related to liquidation (whether voluntary or compulsory) of such persons
prior to fulfilment of its obligations in respect of the Debentures.

COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT

Shall not enter into any compromise or arrangement or settlement with any of their
creditors, whether secured or unsecured and shall ensure that the shareholders of each
of such persons, do not vote for such persons to enter into any scheme of arrangement
with their creditors generally without its liability with respect to the Debentures being
completely discharged.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGE IN BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Undertake any significant change of the composition of the Board of Directors of the
Company.

DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

Sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of assets / business / division in any manner
whatsoever, which has the effect of exiting the business or restructuring of the existing
business.

DIVIDEND AND BUYBACK OF SHARES

Declare or pay any dividend to its shareholders during any Financial Year and/or
buyback any of its shares unless it has paid all the amounts then due and payable on the
Debentures and other amounts under the Transaction Documents or has made provisions

satisfactory to the Debenture Trustee for making such payments and so long as no Event
of Default exists or is continuing or would result therefrom.

NO ENCUMBRANCE OVER HYPOTHECATED PROPERTY
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The Company shall not, until the Final Settlement Date, create any further charge or
encumbrance over the Hypothecated Property, except as created in favour of the
Debenture Trustee for the benefit of the Debenture Holders, under the terms of the
Debenture Trust Deed and the Deed of Hypothecation.

7.3.3. FINANCIAL COVENANTS

The Company shall ensure that at all times until the Final Settlement Date:

(a)

On standalone basis, the ratio of Total Debt divided by Net Worth should not be more
than 4 (Four) times during the tenor of the Debentures.

On consolidated basis, the ratio of Total Debt divided by Net Worth should not be more
than 3 (Four) times including OFB Tech during the tenor of the Debentures

the Gross NPA, expressed as a percentage, should not exceed 4% (Four Percent).
the Net NPA, expressed as a percentage, should not exceed 2% (Two Percent).

The loss of the Company in each Financial Year should not cross 15% (Fifteen Percent)
of the Net Worth of the Company.

The credit rating assigned to the Debentures by the Rating Agency shall not fall below
“A-/ Stable” (pronounced as “CRISIL A Minus / Stable”).

the Capital Adequacy Ratio and the Tier I Capital shall, at all times, be maintained above
20% (Twenty Percent) and 15% (Fifteen Percent) respectively.

the Key Executives of the Company shall continue to remain on the board of directors
of the Company and Promoter and shall hold an executive position in the Company and
the Promoter.

The prior written approval shall be required before any dilution in shareholding of
Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited except due to any equity infusion from the
Promoter. Any dilution in shareholding of the Promoter and Promoter family exceeding
5% (Five Percent) of the shareholding in any financial year save and except on accounts
of fresh capital infusion in the Company, shall require the prior written approval of the
Debenture Trustee. It is hereby clarified that a breach of this clause shall amount to an
Event of Default.

All loans funded / disbursed by the Company other than the procurement of raw material
whether secured or unsecured shall not exceed 20% (Twenty Percent) of the loan
portfolio of the Company.

For the purposes of this sub-clause 7.3.3 (Financial Covenants), following terms shall have the
following meaning:

“Capital Adequacy Ratio” means the capital adequacy ratio for non-banking financial
institutions as defined by the Reserve Bank of India from time to time;

“Gross Loan Portfolio” shall mean and include the outstanding principal amount of the loans
originated by the Company on its own books, securitized portfolio as well as loans originated on
behalf of other entities by entering into partnership agreements but not included on the
Company’s own book;
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“Gross NPA” shall mean the outstanding principal value of the relevant portfolio of the Company
that has one or more instalments of principal, interest payments overdue for 90 (Ninety) calendar
days or more;

“Net NPA” shall be calculated as Gross NPA less provision made for Gross NPA.

The Debenture Trustee shall monitor the compliance with the above covenants set out in Clause
7.3.3 (Financial Covenants), as on the last date of every quarter, i.e. on March 31, June 30,
December 31 or on September 30 starting from March 31, 2022 (“Testing Date”).

The Company shall within 45 (forty five) calendar days of the expiry of each financial quarter,
provide to the Debenture Trustee, a certificate issued by an authorised officer of the Company
certifying the compliance by the Company of each of the financial covenants provided for in
Clause 7.3.3 (Financial Covenants) above, which certificate shall be delivered to the Debenture
Trustee, (i) in the event that the Testing Date, is March 31 of any year, based on audited financial
statements of the Company; and (ii) in the event that the Testing Date is June 30, September 30
and December 31, based on the unaudited financial statements of the Company.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

If one or more of the events specified herein (hereinafter each an “Event of Default” and
collectively, “Events of Default”) happen(s), the Debenture Trustee may, in their discretion,
and shall, upon request in writing of the Majority Debenture Holder(s) by a notice in writing to
the Company take all such action, expressly or impliedly permitted under the Transaction
Documents or in law. For the avoidance of doubt, it is hereby clarified that the determination
whether any of the acts, matters, events or circumstances mentioned in this clause have occurred,
the opinion of the Debenture Trustee (acting on the instructions of the Majority Debenture
Holders) shall be final and conclusive and be binding on the Company.

(a) INSOLVENCY OR INABILITY TO PAY DEBTS

1) The Company is unable or admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as they
mature or, suspends making payments on any of its debts, by reason of actual
or anticipated financial difficulties or proceedings for taking it into liquidation
have been admitted by any competent court or a moratorium or other protection
from its creditors is declared or imposed in respect of any indebtedness of the
Company.

(i1) In the event that any notice is received by the Company threatening the initiation
of corporate insolvency resolution process of the Company under the IBC in
terms of the Insolvency and Bankruptcy (Insolvency and Liquidation
Proceedings of Financial Service Providers and Application to Adjudicating
Authority) Rules, 2019.

(iii)  Any application or any application has been filed or proceedings have been
initiated against the Company by any financial creditor or any other entities

under IBC and such petition is not dismissed within 3 (Three) calendar days
from the date of filing / initiation.

(b) FRAUD, EMBEZZLEMENT ETC
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There shall have occurred any act of fraud, embezzlement, misstatement,
misappropriation or siphoning off of the funds of the Company or revenues or the funds
of the promoter or any other act having a similar effect being committed by the
management or an officer of the Company.

CROSS DEFAULT

If the Company, in regards to any Financial Indebtedness availed by it from the
Debenture Holders and/or any third party (A) defaults in any payment of any Financial
Indebtedness beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or agreement
under which such Financial Indebtedness was created or (B) defaults in the observance
or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any Financial Indebtedness,
the effect of which default or other event or condition is to cause or to permit the holder
or holders of such Financial Indebtedness to cause (with the giving of notice or the
passage of time or both would permit or cause) any such Indebtedness to become due
prior to its stated maturity; or (C) due to any default or an event of default, any Financial
Indebtedness of the Company shall be declared to be due and payable, or required to be
prepaid other than by a regularly scheduled required prepayment, (whether or not such
right shall have been waived) prior to the stated maturity thereof.

LIQUIDATION OR DISSOLUTION OF THE COMPANY / APPOINTMENT OF
RECEIVER OR LIQUIDATOR

Any corporate action, legal proceedings or other procedure or step is taken in relation
to:

@) the suspension of payments, a moratorium of any indebtedness (unless waived
by the Debenture Holder(s) in writing), winding-up, dissolution, insolvency,
administration or reorganisation (by way of voluntary arrangement, scheme of
arrangement or otherwise) of the Company;

(i1) a composition, compromise, assignment or arrangement with any creditor of the
Company;

(iii)  the appointment of a liquidator, provisional liquidator, insolvency resolution
professional, supervisor, receiver, administrative receiver, administrator,
compulsory manager, trustee or other similar officer in respect of the Company
or any of its assets for all or any part of the undertaking of the Company;

(iv) enforcement of any security over any assets of the Company or any analogous
procedure or step is taken in any jurisdiction; or

) any other event occurs or proceeding is instituted that under any Applicable Law
would have an effect analogous to any of the events listed in clauses (i), (ii, (iii)
and (iv) above.

DEPRECIATION IN SECURITY

There is a depreciation in the value of assets offered as Security to such an extent that
in the opinion of the Debenture Trustee, there is a requirement to provide further security
/ additional assets to their satisfaction and such additional security / assets is not
provided within 15 (Fifteen) Business Days of the written notice served by the
Debenture Trustee.
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CREDITORS’ PROCESS

Any expropriation, attachment, sequestration, distress or execution affects any asset or
assets of the Company.

HYPOTHECATED PROPERTY

@) Any attachment or expropriation or restraint of act of sequestration is levied on
the Hypothecated Property of the Company or any part thereof having an
aggregate value of 5% (Five percent) of the total assets of the Company and such
Hypothecated Property (including any such part thereof) is not replaced /
discharged within 30 (Thirty) calendar days of such attachment or expropriation
or restraint of act of sequestration or as given in the said order.

(i1) In the event the Company without obtaining the no objection certificate of the
Debenture Trustee (acting on the instructions of the Majority Debenture
Holders) attempts or purports to create any mortgage, charge, pledge,
hypothecation, lien or encumbrance over the receivables comprised in the
Hypothecated Property.

TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS

The Debenture Trust Deed or any other Transaction Document in whole or in part,
becomes invalid or ceases to be a legally valid, binding and enforceable obligation of
the Company.

WINDING UP

1) In the event the shareholders of the Company pass a resolution for the winding
up of the Company.

(i1) In the event a petition is filed for the winding up of the Company or a petition
is filed in relation to the insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company and the same
is admitted, and such petition is not dismissed or stayed within a period of 30
(Thirty) calendar days of such petition being admitted;

EXPROPRIATION, NATIONALIZATION ETC.

All or a material part of the undertaking, assets, rights or revenues of the Company are
condemned, seized, nationalised, expropriated or compulsorily acquired by any
Governmental Authority, or any Governmental Authority shall have assumed custody
or Control of the business or operations of the Company, or shall have taken any action
for the dissolution of the Company, or any action that would prevent the Company, their
member, or their officers from carrying on their business or operations or a substantial
part thereof, by or under the authority of any Government or Governmental authority.

OFFENCES BY THE PROMOTER, MANAGEMENT ETC

The Key Executives or any of the senior management officials including Key
Managerial Personnel (each as defined under the Act) being declared as a ‘wilful
defaulter’ as defined under the applicable RBI regulations and/or any of the director(s)
and/or any of the Key Executives of the Company are accused of, charged with, arrested
or convicted in a criminal offence involving moral turpitude, dishonesty or which
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otherwise impinges on the integrity of the Key Executives and/or the director(s),
including any accusations, charges and/or convictions of any offence relating to bribery;

NET WORTH

There shall have been an erosion of at least 50% (Fifty Percent) of the Net Worth of the
Company.

PETITION FOR REORGANIZATION, WINDING UP

A petition for the reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding up or composition
of debts of the Company is filed on the Company (voluntary or otherwise) or have been
admitted or makes an assignment for the benefits of its creditors generally and such
proceeding is not contested by the Company for staying, quashing or dismissed within
15 (Fifteen) calendar days.

MANAGEMENT CONTROL

There shall have occurred a change in the Management Control of the Company without
the prior written consent from the Debenture Holder(s). For the purposes of this sub-
clause (m), the term “Management Control” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term
“Control” in the Debenture Trust Deed.

REORGANISATION, REARRANGEMENT ETC.

The Company has taken or suffered to be taken any action for re-organisation of its share
capital or any rearrangement, merger or amalgamation without the prior written
approval of the Debenture Holder(s).

SECURITY

Failure of the Company to create the Security and to register and perfect the charge
created over the Hypothecated Property by filing Form CHG-9 with the relevant
Registrar of Companies within the timelines stipulated the in Debenture Trust Deed.

NON-PAYMENT

The failure to pay any amount payable in relation to the Debentures, including without
limitation failure to make payment of the principal amount of the Debentures and/or the
Coupon and/or any other amounts due in respect of the Debentures including the
Payments in respect of the Debentures on the Due Date(s) at the place at which and in
the currency in which it is expressed to be payable, unless such failure to pay is caused
due to administrative or technical errors and payment is made within 1 (One) Business
Day of the relevant Due Date.

CESSATION OF BUSINESS

1) The Company ceases to carry on its business or any substantial part thereof or
gives notice, in writing, of its intention to do so.

(i1) The cessation of business by or the dissolution, winding-up, insolvency or
liquidation of the Company or the passing of any order of a court ordering,
restraining or otherwise preventing the Company from conducting all or any
material part of its business.
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BREACH OF TERMS OF THE DEBENTURE TRUST DEED AND THE
TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS

Except for the event contained in sub-clause (p) (Payment Defaulf) above, the Company
defaults in the performance of any of its representations, warranties, obligations and
covenants provided under the terms of the Transaction Documents.

SECURITY

(1) When the Company creates or attempts to create any charge on the
Hypothecated Property or any part thereof without the prior approval of the
Debenture Trustee / Debenture Holders.

(i1) If the Hypothecated Property or any part thereof is sold, leased, transferred,
assigned, charged, encumbered or alienated without the approval of the
Debenture Trustee.

(iii)  if, in the reasonable opinion of the Debenture Trustee, the Security is in
jeopardy.

CONSEQUENCES OF EVENTS OF DEFAULT

On and at any time after the occurrence of an Event of Default, unless such Event of Default at
the request of the Company is expressly waived by the Debenture Trustee acting on the
instructions of the Majority Debenture Holder(s), (a) upon the expiry of the cure period provided
to the Company (if any), or (b) if the cure period provided is mutually extended by the Parties
hereto upon the expiry of such extended period or (c) where it is not practical to provide a cure
period, then forthwith, or (d) where no cure period has been provided and the Parties mutually
agree to provide for a cure period, upon the expiry of such mutually agreed cure period, the
Debenture Trustee shall if so directed by the Majority Debenture Holder(s) to exercise any or all
of the following rights:

(@)

(b)

(©)

to accelerate the redemption of the Debentures and declare by way of written notice that
all of the Debentures, together with accrued but unpaid Coupon, and the Secured
Obligations including all other costs, charges and expenses accrued or outstanding under
the Transaction Documents to be immediately (or such other date as the Debenture
Trustee may specify) due and payable (“Event of Default Notice”), whereupon they
shall become so due and payable immediately upon receipt of the date of the Event of
Default Notice. It is hereby clarified that the non-issuance of the Event of Default Notice
by the Debenture Trustee (acting on the instructions of the Majority Debenture
Holder(s)) shall not relinquish its rights, in any manner, to exercise any other rights
available to them under the terms of this Clause 7.5.1; and/or

In the event that on the date falling at the expiry of 2 (Two) Business Days from the date
of the Event of Default Notice, the Company fails to redeem the Debentures and
discharge the Secured Obligations, the Debenture Trustee shall be entitled to enforce the
charge over the Hypothecated Property in accordance with the terms of the Deed of
Hypothecation;

Simultaneously, the Debenture Trustee (acting on the instructions of the Majority
Debenture Holders) shall be entitled to enforce its charge over the Security in terms of
the Transaction Documents to recover the amounts due and payable in respect of the
Debentures under the Transaction Documents;
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exercise any and all rights specified under the Debenture Trust Deed and/or the other
Transaction Documents, including without limitation, to accelerate the redemption of
the Debentures; and/or

assign or transfer by novation or sell all or part of the rights and obligations of the
Debenture Holders in relation to the Debentures, to any Person; and/or

exercise such other remedies, including legal and equitable rights, as permitted or
available under Applicable Law (including initiating insolvency proceedings under
IBC) or the Transaction Documents; and/or

appoint a nominee director on the Board of Directors of the Company upon the
occurrence of events set out in the Debenture Trust Deed; and/or

appoint any independent agency to examine and inspect the working of the Company
and provide a report to the Debenture Trustee. The Company shall provide full
cooperation and provide necessary assistance to such agency and bear all costs and
expenses of the examination including the professional fees and travelling and other
expenses; and/or

In addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under Applicable Law or otherwise,
and not by way of limitation of any such rights, upon the occurrence and continuation
of an Event of Default, the Debenture Holders are hereby authorized at any time or from
time to time, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind to the
Company or to any other Person, any such presentment, demand, protest or notice to the
Company being hereby expressly waived, to set off and to appropriate and apply any
and all funds, deposits or assets at any time held or owing by the Debenture Holders
(including, without limitation, by any branches and agencies of the Debenture Holders
wherever located) to or for the credit or the account of the Company against and on
account of the obligations and liabilities of the Company to the Debenture Holders under
the Debenture Trust Deed or under any of the other Transaction Documents, and all
other claims of any nature or description arising out of or in connection with the
Debenture Trust Deed or any other Transaction Documents, and the Debenture Holders
shall be entitled to appropriate and apply any such funds, deposits and assets towards
satisfaction of its dues; and/or

exercise any other right that the Debenture Trustee and /or Debenture Holder(s) may
have under the Transaction Documents or under Applicable law including in relation to
the enforcement of security / entering into the inter-creditor agreement by the Debenture
Trustee (acting on the instructions of the Majority Debenture Holders with the creditors
of the Company pursuant to the SEBI Circular dated October 13, 2020 (bearing
reference number: SEBI/HO/MIRSD/CRADT/CIR/P/2020/203), as amended, modified
or replaced from time to time and in relation to Recovery Expense Fund pursuant to the
circular bearing reference number SEBI/HO/MIRSD/CRADT/CIR/P/2020/207 dated
October 22, 2020 issued by SEBI, as amended, modified or replaced from time to time.

It is clarified that upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Default Interest at the rate of
2% (Two Percent) per annum over and above the Coupon Rate shall be charged on the
outstanding Secured Obligations, in addition to the rights of the Debenture Holders under Clause
7.5.1 above.

It is clarified that upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Company shall not create any
securities or create any fresh security or sell any assets including Hypothecated Property
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including by way of direct assignment or securitisation, without the written permission of the
Majority Debenture Holders.

7.5.4. Notwithstanding any cancellation or termination pursuant to Clause 7.5.1 (Consequences of an
Event of Default) above, all the provisions of the Transaction Documents for the benefit or
protection of the Debenture Holders and their interests shall continue to be in full force and
effect as specifically provided in the Transaction Documents. The Debenture Trustee shall, on
being informed by the Company of the happening of any of the Event(s) of Default set out in the
Debenture Trust Deed or upon the happening of any of such Event(s) of Default coming to its
notice, forthwith give written notice to the Debenture Holder(s) of the same.

*Please note that any capitalised terms used in this section, but not defined herein, shall have the
meaning as assigned to such term in the Debenture Trust Deed.
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SECTION 8: OTHER INFORMATION AND APPLICATION PROCESS

The Debentures being offered as part of the Issue are subject to the provisions of the Act, the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Issuer, the terms of this Information Memorandum,
Application Form and other terms and conditions as may be incorporated in the Transaction Documents.

8.1 Mode of Transfer/Transmission of Debentures

The Debentures shall be transferable freely; however, it is clarified that no Investor shall be entitled to
transfer the Debentures to a person who is not entitled to subscribe to the Debentures. The Debenture(s)
shall be transferred and/or transmitted in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Act and other
applicable laws. The Debentures held in dematerialized form shall be transferred subject to and in
accordance with the rules/procedures as prescribed by NSDL/CDSL and the relevant DPs of the
transferor or transferee and any other applicable laws and rules notified in respect thereof. The
transferee(s) should ensure that the transfer formalities are completed prior to the Record Date. In the
absence of the same, amounts due will be paid/redemption will be made to the person, whose name
appears in the register of debenture holders maintained by the R&T Agent as on the Record Date, under
all circumstances. In cases where the transfer formalities have not been completed by the transferor,
claims, if any, by the transferees would need to be settled with the transferor(s) and not with the Issuer.
The normal procedure followed for transfer of securities held in dematerialized form shall be followed
for transfer of these Debentures held in dematerialised form. The seller should give delivery instructions
containing details of the buyer’s DP account to his DP.

8.2 Debentures held in Dematerialised Form

The Debentures shall be held in dematerialised form and no action is required on the part of the
Debenture Holder(s) for redemption purposes and the redemption proceeds will be paid by cheque/fund
transfer/RTGS to those Debenture Holder(s) whose names appear on the list of beneficiaries maintained
by the R&T Agent. The names would be as per the R&T Agent’s records on the Record Date fixed for
the purpose of redemption. All such Debentures will be simultaneously redeemed through appropriate
corporate action.

The list of beneficiaries as of the Record Date setting out the relevant beneficiaries’ name and account
number, address, bank details and DP’s identification number will be given by the R&T Agent to the
Issuer. If permitted, the Issuer may transfer payments required to be made in any relation by EFT/RTGS
to the bank account of the Debenture Holder(s) for redemption payments.

8.3 Trustee for the Debenture Holder(s)

The Issuer has appointed IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited to act as trustee for the Debenture Holder(s).
The Issuer and the Debenture Trustee intends to enter into the Debenture Trustee Agreement and the
Debenture Trust Deed inter alia, specifying the powers, authorities and obligations of the Debenture
Trustee and the Issuer. The Debenture Holder(s) shall, without further act or deed, be deemed to have
irrevocably given their consent to the Debenture Trustee or any of its agents or authorized officials to do
all such acts, deeds, matters and things in respect of or relating to the Debentures as the Debenture
Trustee may in its absolute discretion deem necessary or require to be done in the interest of the
Debenture Holder(s). Any payment made by the Issuer to the Debenture Trustee on behalf of the
Debenture Holder(s) shall discharge the Issuer pro tanto to the Debenture Holder(s). The Debenture
Trustee will protect the interest of the Debenture Holder(s) in regard to the repayment of principal and
coupon thereon and they will take necessary action, subject to and in accordance with the Debenture
Trustee Agreement and the Debenture Trust Deed, at the cost of the Issuer. No Debenture Holder shall
be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Debenture Trustee, having become so bound
to proceed, fails to do so. The Debenture Trustee Agreement and the Debenture Trust Deed shall more
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specifically set out the rights and remedies of the Debenture Holder(s) and the manner of enforcement
thereof.

8.4 Sharing of Information

The Issuer may, at its option, but subject to applicable laws, use on its own, as well as exchange, share
or part with any financial or other information about the Debenture Holder(s) available with the Issuer,
with its subsidiaries and affiliates and other banks, financial institutions, credit bureaus, agencies,
statutory bodies, as may be required and neither the Issuer nor its subsidiaries and affiliates nor their
agents shall be liable for use of the aforesaid information.

8.5 Debenture Holder not a Shareholder

The Debenture Holder(s) shall not be entitled to any right and privileges of shareholders other than those
available to them under the Act. The Debentures shall not confer upon the Debenture Holders the right
to receive notice(s) or to attend and to vote at any general meeting(s) of the shareholders of the Issuer.

8.6 Modification of Debentures

The Debenture Trustee and the Issuer will agree to make any modifications in the Information
Memorandum which in the opinion of the Debenture Trustee is of a formal, minor or technical nature or
is to correct a manifest error.

Any other change or modification to the terms of the Debentures shall require approval by the Majority
Debenture Holders in the manner as provided for in the Debenture Trust Deed.

For the avoidance of doubt, the following matters require the consent of Majority Debenture Holders,
either by providing their express consent in writing or by way of a resolution at a duly convened meeting
of the Debenture Holders:

A. Amendment to the terms and conditions of the Debentures or the Transaction Documents.
8.7 Right to accept or reject Applications

The Board of Directors/Committee of Directors reserves its full, unqualified and absolute right to accept
or reject any application for subscription to the Debentures, in part or in full, without assigning any
reason thereof.

8.8 Notices

Any notice may be served by the Issuer/ Debenture Trustee upon the Debenture Holders through
registered post, recognized overnight courier service, hand delivery or by facsimile transmission
addressed to such Debenture Holder at its/his registered address, e-mail or facsimile number.

All notice(s) to be given by the Debenture Holder(s) to the Issuer/ Debenture Trustee shall be sent by
registered post, recognized overnight courier service, hand delivery, email or by facsimile transmission
to the Issuer or to such persons at such address/ facsimile number as may be notified by the Issuer from
time to time through suitable communication. All correspondence regarding the Debentures should be
marked “Private Placement of Debentures”.

Notice(s) shall be deemed to be effective (a) in the case of registered mail, 5 (Five) Business Days after
posting via certified or registered mail, return receipt requested; (b) 1 (One) Business Day after delivery
by recognized overnight courier service, if sent for next Business day delivery (c) in the case of facsimile
at the time when dispatched with a report confirming proper transmission; (d) in the case of personal
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delivery, at the time of delivery or (e) or in case of e-mail at the time of the sending thereof (provided
no delivery failure notification is received by the sender within 24 hours of sending such email).

8.9 Issue Procedure

Only Eligible Investors as given hereunder and identified upfront by the Issuer may apply for the
Debentures by completing the Application Form in the prescribed format in block letters in English as
per the instructions contained therein. The minimum number of Debentures that can be applied for and
the multiples thereof shall be set out in the Application Form. No application can be made for a fraction
of a Debenture. Application Forms should be duly completed in all respects and applications not
completed in the said manner are liable to be rejected. The name of the applicant’s bank, type of account
and account number must be duly completed by the applicant. This is required for the applicant’s own
safety and these details will be printed on the refund orders and /or redemptions warrants.

The applicant should transfer payments required to be made in any relation by EFT/RTGS, to the bank
account of the Issuer as per the details mentioned in the Application Form.

8.10  Application Procedure

Eligible Investors will be invited to subscribe by way of the Application Form prescribed in the
Information Memorandum during the period between the Issue Opening Date and the Issue Closing Date
(both dates inclusive). The Issuer reserves the right to change the issue schedule including the Deemed
Date of Allotment at its sole discretion, without giving any reasons or prior notice. The Issue will be
open for subscription during the banking hours on each day during the period covered by the Issue
Schedule.

8.11 Fictitious Application
All fictitious applications will be rejected.
8.12  Basis of Allotment

Notwithstanding anything stated elsewhere, Issuer reserves the right to accept or reject any application,
in part or in full, without assigning any reason. Subject to the aforesaid, in case of over subscription,
priority will be given to Investors on a first come first serve basis. The investors will be required to remit
the funds as well as submit the duly completed Application Form along with other necessary documents
to Issuer by the Deemed Date of Allotment.

8.13  Payment Instructions
The Application Form should be submitted directly. The entire amount of Rs. 10,00,000/- (Rupees Ten

Lakhs only) per Debenture is payable along with the making of an application. Applicants can remit the
application amount through RTGS on Pay-in Date. The RTGS details of the Issuer are as under:

Beneficiary Name: OXYZO FINANCIAL SERVICES PRIVATE
LIMITED

Bank Account No. 9914092149

SWIFT CODE: NA

IFSC CODE: KKBK0000261

Bank Name KOTAK MAHINDRA BANK LIMITED

Branch Address: JMD REGENT SQUARE, MG ROAD, GURGAON
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8.14  Eligible Investors

The following categories of investors, when specifically approached and have been identified upfront,
are eligible to apply for this private placement of Debentures subject to fulfilling their respective
investment norms/rules and compliance with laws applicable to them by submitting all the relevant
documents along with the Application Form (“Eligible Investors”):

A. Mutual Funds;

B. Public financial institutions as defined in Section 2(72) of the Companies Act, 2013;

C. Scheduled banks and Non-banking financial companies;

D. Insurance companies;

E. Cooperative banks, regional rural banks and infra-financing companies authorised to invest in
debentures;

F. Provident Funds, Gratuity Funds, Superannuation Funds and Pension Funds;

G. Corporates;

H. Banks;

L. Foreign Portfolio Investors (FPIs) (subject to compliance with the SEBI/ RBI norms);

J. Foreign Institutional Investors (FIIs) (subject to compliance with the SEBI/ RBI norms);

K. Qualified Foreign Investors (QFIs);

L. Insurance Companies;

M. Investment holding companies of high net worth individuals;

N. Trusts authorised to invest in debentures;

0. Statutory corporations/ undertakings established by Central/ State legislature authorized to
invest in Debentures; and

P. Any other person / investor (not being an individual or a group of individuals) eligible to invest

in the Debentures as per extant rules and regulations.

All potential Investors are required to comply with the relevant regulations/guidelines applicable to them
for investing in this issue of Debentures.

Note: Participation by potential investors in the Issue may be subject to statutory and/or regulatory
requirements applicable to them in connection with subscription to Indian securities by such categories
of persons or entities. Applicants are advised to ensure that they comply with all regulatory requirements
applicable to them, including exchange controls and other requirements. Applicants ought to seek
independent legal and regulatory advice in relation to the laws applicable to them.

8.15  Procedure for Applying for Dematerialised Facility

A. The applicant must have at least one beneficiary account with any of the DP’s of NSDL/CDSL
prior to making the application.

B. The applicant must necessarily fill in the details (including the beneficiary account number and
DP - ID) appearing in the Application Form under the heading “Details for Issue of Debentures
in Electronic/Dematerialised Form”.

C. Debentures allotted to an applicant will be credited to the applicant’s respective beneficiary
account(s) with the DP.

D. For subscribing to the Debentures, names in the Application Form should be identical to those
appearing in the details in the Depository. In case of joint holders, the names should necessarily

be in the same sequence as they appear in the account details maintained with the DP.

E. Non-transferable allotment advice/refund orders will be directly sent to the applicant by the
Registrar and Transfer Agent to the Issue.
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F. If incomplete/incorrect details are given under the heading “Details for Issue of Debentures in
Electronic/Dematerialised Form” in the Application Form, it will be deemed to be an incomplete
application and the same may be held liable for rejection at the sole discretion of the Issuer.

G. For allotment of Debentures, the address, nomination details and other details of the applicant
as registered with his/her DP shall be used for all correspondence with the applicant. The
applicant is therefore responsible for the correctness of his/her demographic details given in the
Application Form vis-a-vis those with his/her DP. In case the information is incorrect or
insufficient, the Issuer would not be liable for the losses, if any.

H. The redemption amount or other benefits would be paid to those Debenture Holders whose
names appear on the list of beneficial owners maintained by the R&T Agent as on the Record
Date. In case of those Debentures for which the beneficial owner is not identified in the records
of the R&T Agent as on the Record Date, the Issuer would keep in abeyance the payment of the
redemption amount or other benefits, until such time that the beneficial owner is identified by
the R&T Agent and conveyed to the Issuer, whereupon the redemption amount and benefits will
be paid to the beneficiaries, as identified.

8.16  Depository Arrangements

The Issuer shall make necessary arrangement with CDSL or NSDL for issue and holding of Debenture
in dematerialised form.

8.17 List of Beneficiaries

The Issuer shall request the R&T Agent to provide a list of beneficiaries as at the end of each Record
Date. This shall be the list, which will be used for payment or repayment of redemption monies.

8.18  Application under Power of Attorney

A certified true copy of the power of attorney or the relevant authority as the case may be along with the
names and specimen signature(s) of all the authorized signatories of the Investor and the tax exemption
certificate/document of the Investor, if any, must be lodged along with the submission of the completed
Application Form. Further modifications/additions in the power of attorney or authority should be
notified to the Issuer or to its agents or to such other person(s) at such other address(es) as may be
specified by the Issuer from time to time through a suitable communication.

In case of an application made by companies under a power of attorney or resolution or authority, a
certified true copy thereof along with memorandum and articles of association and/or bye-laws along
with other constitutional documents must be attached to the Application Form at the time of making the
application, failing which, the Issuer reserves the full, unqualified and absolute right to accept or reject
any application in whole or in part and in either case without assigning any reason thereto. Names and
specimen signatures of all the authorized signatories must also be lodged along with the submission of
the completed Application Form.

8.19  Procedure for application by Mutual Funds and Multiple Applications

In case of applications by mutual funds and venture capital funds, a separate application must be made
in respect of each scheme of an Indian mutual fund/venture capital fund registered with the SEBI and
such applications will not be treated as multiple application, provided that the application made by the
asset management company/trustee/custodian clearly indicated their intention as to the scheme for which
the application has been made.
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The application forms duly filled shall clearly indicate the name of the concerned scheme for which
application is being made and must be accompanied by certified true copies of:

A. SEBI registration certificate
B. Resolution authorizing investment and containing operating instructions
C. Specimen signature of authorized signatories

8.20 Documents to be provided by Investors

Investors need to submit the following documents, as applicable

Memorandum and Articles of Association or other constitutional documents
Resolution authorising investment

Power of Attorney to custodian

Specimen signatures of the authorised signatories

SEBI registration certificate (for Mutual Funds)

Copy of PAN card

Application Form (including EFT/RTGS details)

ammoawy

8.21  Applications to be accompanied with Bank Account Details

Every application shall be required to be accompanied by the bank account details of the applicant and
the magnetic ink character reader code of the bank for the purpose of availing direct credit of redemption
amount and all other amounts payable to the Debenture Holder(s) through EFT/RTGS.

8.22  Succession

In the event of winding-up of the holder of the Debenture(s), the Issuer will recognize the liquidator or
such other legal representative of the Debenture Holder(s) as having title to the Debenture(s).

The Issuer may, in its absolute discretion, where it thinks fit, dispense with production of such other
legal representation, in order to recognize such holder as being entitled to the Debenture(s) standing in
the name of the concerned Debenture Holder on production of sufficient documentary proof and/or an
indemnity.

8.23  Mode of Payment
All payments must be made through EFT/RTGS as set out in the Application Form.
8.24  Effect of Holidays

In case any Coupon Payment Date falls on a day which is not a Business Day the payment to be made
on such Coupon Payment Date shall be made on the immediately succeeding Business Day. When the
Redemption Date falls on a day which is not a Business Day, all payments to be made on the Redemption
Date (including accrued Coupon), shall be made on the immediately preceding Business Day.

8.25 Tax Deduction at Source

Tax as applicable under the Income Tax Act, 1961, or any other statutory modification or re-enactment
thereof will be deducted at source. For seeking TDS exemption/lower rate of TDS, relevant
certificate/document must be lodged by the Debenture Holder(s) at the office of the R&T Agents of the
Issuer at least 15 (Fifteen) calendar days before the relevant payment becoming due. Tax exemption
certificate / declaration of non-deduction of tax at source on interest on application money, should be
submitted along with the Application Form.
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8.26 Letters of Allotment

The letter of allotment, indicating allotment of the Debentures, will be credited in dematerialised form
within 2 (Two) Business Days from the Deemed Date of Allotment. The aforesaid letter of allotment
shall be replaced with the actual credit of Debentures, in dematerialised form, within 2 (Two) Business
Days from the Deemed Date of Allotment or within such timelines as permissible under applicable law.

8.27 Deemed Date of Allotment

All the benefits under the Debentures will accrue to the Investor from the specified Deemed Date of
Allotment. The Deemed Date of Allotment for the Issue is July 22, 2021 by which date the Investors
would be intimated of allotment.

8.28 Record Date
The Record Date will be 15 (Fifteen) Business Days prior to any Due Date.
8.29  Refunds

For applicants whose applications have been rejected or allotted in part, refund orders will be dispatched
within 7 (seven) days from the Deemed Date of Allotment of the Debentures.

In case the Issuer has received money from applicants for Debentures in excess of the aggregate of the
application money relating to the Debentures in respect of which allotments have been made, the R&T
Agent shall upon receiving instructions in relation to the same from the Issuer repay the moneys to the
extent of such excess, if any.

8.30  Interest on Application Money

Interest shall be payable on all application monies received at the Coupon Rate (subject to deduction of
tax at source under the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961, or any other statutory modification or
re-enactment thereof, as applicable). Such interest shall be payable from the from the credit of
subscription monies in respect of the Debentures until 1 (One) day prior to the Deemed Date of
Allotment. Where Pay-in Date and Deemed Date of Allotment are the same, no interest on application
money is to be paid.

8.31 PAN Number

Every applicant should mention its Permanent Account Number (“PAN”) allotted under Income Tax
Act, 1961, on the Application Form and attach a self-attested copy as evidence. Application forms
without PAN will be considered incomplete and are liable to be rejected.

8.32 Payment on Redemption

Payment on redemption will be made by way of cheque(s)/redemption warrant(s)/demand draft(s)/credit
through RTGS system/funds transfer in the name of the Debenture Holder(s) whose names appear on
the list of beneficial owners given by the Depository to the Issuer as on the Record Date.

The Debentures shall be taken as discharged on payment of the redemption amount by the Issuer on
maturity to the registered Debenture Holder(s) whose name appears in the Register of Debenture
Holder(s) on the Record Date. On such payment being made, the Issuer will inform NSDL/CDSL and
accordingly the account of the Debenture Holder(s) with NSDL/CDSL will be adjusted.
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On the Issuer dispatching the amount as specified above in respect of the Debentures, the liability of the
Issuer shall stand extinguished.

Disclaimer: Please note that only those persons to whom this Information Memorandum has been
specifically addressed are eligible to apply. However, an application, even if complete in all
respects, is liable to be rejected without assigning any reason for the same. The list of documents
provided above is only indicative, and an investor is required to provide all those documents /
authorizations / information, which are likely to be required by the Issuer. The Issuer may, but is
not bound to revert to any investor for any additional documents / information, and can accept or
reject an application as it deems fit. Investment by investors falling in the categories mentioned
above are merely indicative and the Issuer does not warrant that they are permitted to invest as
per extant laws, regulations, etc. Each of the above categories of investors is required to check and
comply with extant rules/regulations/ guidelines, etc. governing or regulating their investments as
applicable to them and the Issuer is not, in any way, directly or indirectly, responsible for any
statutory or regulatory breaches by any investor, neither is the Issuer required to check or confirm
the same.
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SECTION 9: DECLARATION

A. The Company has complied with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made
hereunder;

B. The compliance with the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder do not imply that
payment of dividend or interest or repayment of the Debentures, if applicable, is guaranteed by the
Central Government;

C. the monies received under the offer shall be used only for the purposes and objects indicated in this
Information Memorandum:;

I am authorized by the Board of Directors of the Company vide resolution dated July 12, 2021 to sign
this form and declare that all the requirements of Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder in
respect of the subject matter of this form and matters incidental thereto have been complied with.
Whatever is stated in this form and in the attachments thereto is true, correct and complete and no
information material to the subject matter of the Disclosure document has been suppressed or concealed
and is as per the original records maintained by the promoters subscribing to the Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association.

It is further declared and verified that all the required attachments have been completely, correctly and
legibly attached to this form.

For Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

=3

Name: i ra

Title: CFO and Whole Time Director
Date: July 20, 2021
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ANNEXURE I: TERM SHEET

Please refer Clause 5.23 (Issue Details) above.
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ANNEXURE II: RATING RATIONALE FROM THE RATING AGENCY

5712021 Rating Rationale

Ratings CRISIL

An &P Global Company

Pursuant to SEBI notifications, CRISIL Limited (CRISIL) has transferred its Ratings business to its wholly owned
subsidiary, CRISIL Ratings Limited (CRISIL Ratings), with effect from December 31st 2020. Any reference to CRISIL in
the documents published by the Ratings division of CRISIL, such as Rating Rationales, Credit Rating Reports, Press
Releases, Criteria, Methodology, FAQs, Policies and Disclosures, shall henceforth refer to CRISIL Ratings.

Rating Rationale
May 06, 2021 | Mumbai

Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
'CRISIL A/CRISIL PPMLD A r/Stable' assigned to bank debt and debt instruments

Rating Action
Total Bank Loan Fagilities Rated Rs.800 Crore

Long Term Rating CRISIL A/Stable {Assigned)

Rs.100 Crore Long Term Principal Protected Market
Linked Debentures

Rs.100 Crore Non Convertible Debentures CRISIL A/Stable {Assigned)
1 crore = 10 miflion

Refer fo Annexure for Details of instruments & Bank Facilities

Detailed Rationale

CRISIL Ratings has assigned its 'CRISIL A/CRISIL PPMLD A r/Stable’ ratings to the propsed long term bank loan facilities,
non-convertible debenture, long term principal protected market linked debentures of Oxyzo Financial Services Private
Limited {(Oxyzo Financial). Oxyzo Financial is a 100% subsidiary of OFB Tech Pvt Ltd (OFB Tech), together referred to as
the OFB group.

CRISIL PPMLD A r/Stable {Assigned)

The rating reflects OFB group's strong risk protection business model, healthy ramp-up in operations of trading business,
strong capitalisation metrics, and adequate earnings profile during initial stages of operations itself. These strengths are
partially offset by the inherent vulnerability of the asset quality metrics for the unsecured portfolic for the group, moderately
large working capital requirement and exposure to competition for trading business and currently moderate resource profile.
Additicnally, the ability to profitably scale up operations while maintaining current business model mix remains a
monitorable

QFB group through its business model has created one stop solution for B2B SMEs through which it provides mul
services i.e. procurement of raw material, financing for procuring raw material and business development opportunities.
QOFB Tech, the parent company of the group having a brand name ‘Ofbusiness”, started its trading operations in 2015
catering largely to small and medium corporates. It trades products like steel, cement, polymers, petroleum derivatives, non-
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ferrous metals, industrial chemicals, building material, etc. With the increase in scale of operations, the company has now
started catering to large corporates as well. The business model of trading involves multiple products of multiple brands,
with the procurement being supported by MoUs with direct manufacturers. Furthermore, it does not hold any inventory as
100% of its sales are order-backed, this protects company against any price volatility risk and inventory risk. Oxyzo Finance,
the NBFC arm of the group started its lending operations in November 2017 and mainly provides financing to SMEs for
purchasing raw material through its prime-product, purchase financing. The business model ensures high cross-selling
opportunities and high engagement with SME customers. Consequently, there are high interlinkages between the
operations of both the entities as both entities work as lead generation for one another, both entities are added services to
each other’s customers and both entities act as data sources for each other providing market insights. As a result,
significant monthly disbursements from Oxyzo Finance goes towards SMEs procuring raw material from OFB Tech and
significant business of OFB Tech comes from Oxyzo Finance’s customers. Therefore, CRISIL Ratings has adopted a
consolidated approach. Furthermore, CRISIL Ratings has considered trade receivables of OFB Tech as part of the group’s
assets under management (AUM)

The OFB group has registered strong growth over the past couple of years with the consolidated AUM (comprising of loan
book in Oxyzo Finance and trade receivables in OFB Tech) growing at a compounded-annual-growth-rate (CAGR) of 188%
during fiscals 2018-2020 to Rs 1178 crore (77:23 ratio of AUM and trade receivables) as on Mar-20. It has further increased
to Rs 1572 crore (76:24 ratio of AUM and Trade receivables) as on Dec-20 registering an annualised growth of 45% in first
nine-months of fiscal 2021. There has been a healthy scale up in revenue for trading business under OFB Tech as well with
operating income growing at a healthy CAGR of 162% over the last five fiscals ended 2021 and is estimated to be in excess
of Rs 1250 crore in fiscal 2021 as against Rs 10.2 crore in fiscal 2016; operating income was around Rs 801.5 crore during
9M FY21

On the risk management side, the OFB group has pivoted its loan book over the last two years with focus on strong risk
protection mechanisms along with underwriting practices in the form of taking bank guarantee / letter of credit (BG/LC) as
security against loans and trade receivables. As on Mar-19, the BG/LC backed loan book / receivables was at 29% and
37% for Oxyzo Finance and OFB Tech, respectively. However, with focus on growing this book, around 69% of Oxyzo
Finance’s total portfolio is secured by BG as on Dec-20 and around 76% of total trade receivables are backed by BG/ILC
(letter of credit) in OFB Tech as on Dec-20. The consolidated portfolio backed by BG/LC is expected to be at 65-70% level
on steady state basis. CRISIL Ratings believes that these factors provide significant layer of comfort with respect to asset
quality performance. Additionally, OFB Tech does not carry any inventory and hence is not exposed to any commodity price
volatility and inventory risk. Further, purchase financing, being the main product of Oxyzo Finance (88% of total portfolio as
on Dec-20) ensures high control over end usage of funds as the funds are directly transferred to the supplier to procure raw
materials. This along with a cap on ticket size has ensured comfortable performance of asset quality even for unsecured
purchase financing (20% of total Oxyzo Finance's portfolio as on Dec-20). As a result, the performance on asset quality has
been comfortable even during the past pandemic year with GNPA ranging between 0%-1.2% since inception. GNPA stood
at 1.2% as on Dec-20 as compared to 0.9% as on Mar-20. Furthermore only Rs 2 crore (0.1% of total portfolio) of the
portfolio has been restructured as on Mar-21. Even for trade receivables book in OFB Tech, the total cumulative bad debts
have been less than Rs 1 crore in last 5 fiscals

For the remaining AUM, the performance would remain a monitorable even though it has remained comfortable even during
pandemic year. Nevertheless, to offset risk in unsecured business, the group has strong capitalisation metrics with
consolidated networth and adjusted gearing at Rs 661 crore and 1.8 times as on Dec-20, respectively. The networth and
adjusted gearing stood at Rs 372 crore and 2.5 times, respectively, as on same date at standalone level for Oxyzo Finance.
For OFB Tech, gearing and total outside liabilities to tangible networth (TOLTNW) have remained sub-1 time in the past at
standalone level. Capitalisation has been supported by regular capital infusion with group raising a primary equity of Rs 794
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crore till Mar-21 with latest infusion of Rs 201 crore taking place in Mar-21. The group has further raised another Rs 488
crore during Apr-21 which has increased the networth of the group to above ~ Rs 1400 crore

Analytical Approach

CRISIL Ratings has evaluated the credit risk profile of both OFB Tech and Oxyzo Financial referred to as OFB group at
consolidated level due to the common management, shared infrastructure and significant operational linkages. Additionally,
all equity raises are done at the parent company, part of which is infused in subsidiaries. OFB Tech has 2 more subsidiaries
i.e. OFCONS Projects & Services (OFCONS) and O'AgriFarm, however, both of them are very small with OFCONS having
total assets and revenues of Rs 6.5 crore and Rs 19 crore, respectively, as on/during the period ended Mar-20 and
O'AgriFarm starting its operations during fiscal 2021 only.

Please refer Annexure - List of entities consolidated, which captures the list of entities considered and their analytical treatment of consolidation.

Key Rating Drivers & Detailed Description

Strengths:

« Strong synergies and risk protection mechanisms ensuring good asset quality management
The OFB group has built its book with focus on risk protection mechanisms along with underwriting practices. As on Mar-
19, the BG/LC backed loan book / receivables was at just 29% and 37% for Oxyzo and OFB Tech, respectively.
However, over the years, Oxyzo Finance has increased it to around 69% and 76% in Oxyzo Finance and OFB Tech,
respectively as on Dec-20. Apart from BG, in Oxyzo Finance, another 6% of the portfolio is fully secured through
property, machinery or semi-secured through 20% FLDG. The consolidated portfolio backed by BG/LC is expected to be
at 65-70% level on steady state basis. Consequently, GNPA of the portfolio backed by BG has been 0% since inception
with nil ultimate losses and it stood at 0.1% as on Dec-20 as the group did not invoke BGs in some cases because of
past relations with good track record with borrowers along with having surety about full payment from them.

OFB group through its business model has created one stop solution for B2B SMEs through which it provides multiple
services i.e. procurement of raw material, financing for procuring raw material and business development opportunities.
OFB Tech is engaged in selling raw materials to SMEs. Oxyzo Finance through its prime product called purchase
financing (88% of the portfolio as on Dec-20) provides financing solution to SMEs for buying raw material wherein it
directly transfers the funds to supplier, therefore, ensuring high control over end usage of funds. Since, OFB Tech is also
one of the supplier to Oxyzo Finance customers, significant monthly disbursements go directly to OFB Tech. The group
has one more platform called “BidAssist” which enlists all the outstanding tenders on a daily basis from where SMEs can
choose relevant tenders and increase their business. Around 12+ lakh users actively look for tender information on
bidassist which additionally acts as one of the lead acquisition channels for OFB Tech and Oxyzo. Therefore, through its
business model, the group has created multiple touch points with SMEs which helps it to find early warning signals at
both individual borrowers and sector level

Additionally, OFB Tech does not hold any inventory as 100% of its sales are order-backed; the minimal inventory which
appears on the books is on account of inventory in transit. This protects company against any price volatility risk and
inventory risk. Furthermore, as the company is trading in multiple product categories like industrial steel, infra steel,
cement/RMC, polymers, petroleum derivatives, non-ferrous metals, industrial chemicals, building material, pipes, non-
perishable agro commodities, etc. and also catering to clients from different sectors, hence it is not exposed to downturn
in any particular industry. OFB Tech also gives unsecured credit to only good quality customers having long track record.
Overall in OFB Tech, the total cumulative bad debts have been less than Rs 1 crore in last 5 fiscals

Having control over end usage of funds, along with a cap of ticket size on unsecured lending has ensured comfortable
performance of asset quality even for unsecured purchase financing in Oxyzo Finance (20% of total portfolio as on Dec-
20) as ultimate loss on this book on an average has been around 0.6% of monthly scheduled billings since inception till
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Dec-20. The GNPA for unsecured purchase financing book stood at 2.6% as on Dec-20 as compared to 2.2% as on Mar-
20. Furthermore, through its early warning signals and market intelligence owing to its business model, the group
identified the key focused sectors amidst weak macro-economic environment which helped it to maintain good asset
quality along with increasing the proportion of secured portfolio. All these factors have led to the group showing
resilience even during pandemic year with it facing minimum asset quality challenges.

Oxyzo Finance also has unsecured long-term financing book constituting around 6% of total portfolio as on Dec-20.
However, the group is trying to de-grow this book as it is not the focus area owing to limited control over end usage of
funds, low engagement with the customer and relatively low asset quality than other products.

Consequently, total GNPA of Oxyzo Finance stood at 1.2% as on Dec-20 as compared to 0.9% as on Mar-20. Also, the
peak book under moratorium was around 5% for Oxyzo Finance during the moratorium period. Furthermore, only Rs 2
crore (~0.1%) of the portfolio has been restructured as on Mar-21. These further showcase the good performance of the
asset quality even during pandemic year. Having said that, as the portfolio scales up with new customer acquisitions and
geographical expansion, the ability to maintain asset quality will remain a key monitorable.

¢ Healthy p-up in scale of op i for OFB Tech

There has been a healthy scale up in revenue for OFB Tech since the company’s incorporation in Aug-2015: operating
income has grown at a healthy compound-annual-growth-rate (CAGR) of 162% over the last five fiscals ended 2021 and
is estimated to be in excess of Rs 1250 crore in fiscal 2021 as against Rs 10.2 crore in fiscal 2016; revenue was around
Rs 801.5 crore during 9M FY21. The healthy growth has been driven by addition of products, expansion to newer
geographies supporting addition of new customers, and higher volume sold to existing customers. Over the last three
years, the company has successfully been able to add more products/SKUs to its portfolio and offer value added
services to its clients. OFB Tech currently trades in more than 10 SKUs including industrial steel, cement/RMC,
polymers, petroleum derivatives, non-ferrous metals, industrial chemicals, building material, pipes, non-perishable agro
commodities, etc. The company has signed MoUs and procures material from reputed OEMs like JSW Steel, Jindal
Steel and Power, Tata Steel, SAIL, HPCL, IOCL, Reliance Industries, etc. Company has also diversified from north India
to newer geographies in the west and south, which has helped add new customers gradually. Furthermore, company has
also diversified horizontally, wherein it has started supplying different category of products to the same final customers.

« Strong capitalisation metrics
Capitalisation metrics are comfortable supported by regular capital infusion. The group has raised about Rs 593 crore of
equity since inception from a diverse set of sources such as private equity players, promoters and high networth
individuals (HNIs) till Dec-20. Consequently, the networth of the group stood at Rs 661 crore (including goodwill) while
Oxyzo Finance reported a networth of Rs 372 crore as on December 31, 2020

Adjusted gearing too was comfortable at 1.8 times and 2.5 times for the group and Oxyzo Finance, respectively, as on
December 31, 2020. For OFB Tech at standalone level, capital structure is healthy, reflected in gearing and total outside
liabilities / tangible networth (TOL/TNW) expected at ~0.17 time and ~0.19 time, respectively as on March 31, 2021.
Gearing and TOL/TNW have remained sub-1 time in the past.

The adjusted gearing is expected to remain under 3 times at Oxyzo Finance level, 2 times at group level and under 1
time at OFB Tech level on a steady state basis. Furthermore, the group raised additional equity of Rs 689 crore in March
and April 2021. This has further boosted the networth of the group to over Rs 1400 crore. CRISIL Ratings expects
gearing to be maintained supported by regular capital raise and accretion of profits thus providing a cushion against
asset-side risks.
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« Adequate earnings profile during initial stage of operations itself
At consolidated level, the group turned profitable in fiscal 2019 and has been profitable since then, earning healthy return
on managed assets (RoMA). RoMA at consolidated level was around 3.1% (annualised) in first nine-months of fiscal
2021 as compared to 3.2% in fiscal 2020.

Oxyzo Finance has been making profits since inception. While in the initial stages, the earnings profile was constrained
by operating expenses, the same has improved to 3% (annualized) in 9MFY21 from 8.3% in fiscal 2019 thereby
supporting the earnings profile. Consequently, RoMA improved in fiscal 2020 and first nine-months of fiscal 2021 to 3.1%
and 3.2% (annualised), respectively, in spite of increased covid-19 related provisioning made by the company towards
the end of fiscal 2020 (RoMA of 2.0% in fiscal 2019)

At standalone level, as OFB Tech is engaged in trading business, the operating margin is modest; however the same has
improved over the last four fiscals. Company’s operating margin turned positive in fiscal 2018. The operating margin
stood at 3.9% in first nine-months of fiscal 2021 as compared to 3.0% in fiscal 2020 and is expected to be at around
3.7% for fiscal 2021. The operating margin has been supported by improved pricing (supported by stronger aggregation
volumes across limited set of direct manufacturers & suppliers and MoU benefits) and by the interest income from
customers for credit sales. Debt protection metrics are also comfortable, with interest cover and net cash accruals to
adjusted debt estimated at ~3.9 times and 0.13 time, respectively in fiscal 2021.

Earnings profile of the group has been supported by decreasing operating expenses owing to operating leverage kicking
in with scale and controlled credit costs. Having said that, the ability to keep the credit cost under control as the portfolio
scales further up along with maintaining adequate NIMs with competition expected to come in will remain key
monitorables.

Weaknesses:

« Inherent vulnerability of the asset quality metrics for the unsecured lending portfolio for the group
The focus of OFB group has been to grow the AUM with significant share of secured exposures in the medium term
However, around 27% of the consolidated AUM comprises of unsecured!l loans. Given the fact that the scale up
happened recently, the track record of the lending operations is limited. While the performance in unsecured purchase
financing has been comfortable even during pandemic year with GNPA being at 2.6% as on Dec-20 as compared to
2.2% as on Mar-20 despite giving no moratorium on this portfolio, the group has faced challenges in unsecured long
term financing loan segment with GNPA being at 10.7% as on Dec-20 as compared to 3.2% as on Mar-20. However, the
increase in GNPA is partially because of de-growth of this portfolio as the total AUM of unsecured term loans reduced by
62% to Rs 68.4 crore as on Dec-20 as compared to total disbursements of Rs 181.4 crore done since inception, implying
around 4% losses on disbursements level. While the GNPAs in this segment have 70% provisioning, the same is an
indication of the fact that issues may crop up in future as the group increases its scale or enters newer geographies.
Hence, owing to limited track record of operations, the performance on asset quality of unsecured loans remain a key
monitorable.

« Moderately large working capital requirement and exp to petition for trading of
OFB Tech has moderately large working capital requirements as reflected in gross current assets estimated at 190-200
days (~105 days net off cash) as on March 31, 2021, largely driven by debtors expected at around 110 days (debtor days
are calculated against net sales i.e. excluding GST). However, 70-80% of the company’s debtors are secured by LC/BG
Also, the product categories that company trades are currently dominated by fragmented distributors and they remain
exposed to intense competition. OFB Tech, however, has presence across multiple brands and products, and offers
additional services to its customers which can be a competitive edge.
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« Ability to profitably scale up operations while maintaining current il model mix ins a monitorable

The group has managed to scale up their operations while increasing the secured BG/LC backed business mix over the
last two years. However, as these borrowers scale up and enhance repayment track record, there is a risk of competition
from Banks or other NBFCs who may offer higher limits and /or financing at more competitive rates. CRISIL Ratings
notes that all these customers also enjoy working capital limits from banking system. And this may entail a move to a
traditional non-BG backed secured lending model in order to retain clientele. Nevertheless, CRISIL Ratings notes that
the group is focused on offering a holistic package to its borrowers covering the entire purchase ecosystem and not just
focused on financing. Thus, the ability of the group to profitably scale up operations while maintaining current business
model mix remains a monitorable

« Moderate resource profile in NBFC business

The large portion of funding is required in Oxyzo Finance in the group owing to nature of lending business. The company
started off with being fully reliant on non-bank financial institutions (NBFCs). However, over the years, the company has
diversified its resource profile with increasing share of banks (term loans/CC/WCDL) and capital market instruments
(NCD, MLD, CP) as Fls (including NBFCs), Banks and capital markets constituted around 36%, 31% and 33%,
respectively, as on January 2021 as compared to 43%, 27% and 30%, respectively, as on March 2019. However, within
funding from banks, private banks constituted majority portion such as 19% of total funding followed by small finance
banks and public sector banks at 7% and 4%, respectively as on January 2021. Including NCDs/MLDs/CPs raised from
banks, private banks, public banks and SFBs constituted around 21%, 17% and 9%, respectively, as on January 31
2021. Furthermore, while incremental cost of funding (interest per annum on a monthly basis) has improved as weighted
average rate of funding was 10.9% in 9M FY21 as compared to 12.5% in FY20, it still remains higher compared to
similarly CRISIL Ratings rated peers. However, with growth in good quality assets under management, CRISIL Ratings
expects an improvement in cost of funds over the medium term.

Mynsecured includes Unsecured long-term loans, unsecured purchase financing loans, semi-secured loans with 20% FLDG and
unsecured trade receivables

Liquidity: Strong

As on December 31, 2020, the asset-liability maturity profile of Oxyzo Finance was comfortable with positive cumulative
gaps in the up to one-year bucket. As on March 31, 2021, OFB group had adequate liquidity balance of Rs 523 crore
(comprising of cash and liquid investments of Rs 459 crore and unutilized CCAMCDL limit of Rs 70 crore). This balance,
without factoring in any further collections or accretions, covers the estimated outflow for 3 months comprising debt
obligations (excluding CC/WCDL renewal/roli-overs as they are a line which typically gets renewed or rolled over) and
operating expenses around 3 times.

Outlook: Stable
CRISIL Ratings believes that OFB group will benefit from its secured BG/LC backed business model and will maintain its
comfortable capitalisation, asset quality and earnings metrics.

Rating Sen
Upward Factors

* Asset quality remaining comfortable with GNPA remaining under 2.0% as the portfolio scales up

« Substantial ramp up in operations with earnings and capitalisation metrics continuing to remain comfortable

y factors

Downward Factors

e Any adverse movement in asset quality with GNPA increasing beyond 4% and earnings profile of the group getting
impacted

« Reduction in share of secured BG / LC backed assets under management from desired level

* Any steep decline in revenue and an operating margin below 2% or sizeable provision for bad debts
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* Stress in capitalisation metrics with significant jump in adjusted gearing while scaling up the portfolio

About the Company.

Oxyzo Finance Pvt Ltd.

Oxyzo Finance is a Gurgaen-based NBFC, which commenced lending operations in Navember 2017. It primarily provides
secured and unsecured purchase finance loans to small and medium enterprises (SMEs) for financing the purchase of raw
materials that are used in their core business. Additionally, small proportion of portfolio also included secured and
unsecured long-term financing to SMEs. The company is 100% subsidiary of OFB Tech Pvt Ltd and operates as a branch-
based hub and spoke model with presence across 70+ indusitrial clusters in 15 states.

OFB Tech Pvt Ltd

OFB Tech Private Limited (OFBY), incorperated on 24th August 2015, is engaged in trading of products like steel, cement
polymer, etc. and catering to SME centric B2B business entities and corporates. It is also the parent company of the group
having a brand name "Ofbusiness”. The group is a technology-enabled SME focussed services platfarm which combines
services such as product fulfilment and new growth oppertunities along with lending in the manufacturing and contracting
SME segment. The Group is backed by private equity investors including Matrix Partners India, Creation Capital, Zodius
Capital, Falcon Edge, and Norwest Venture Partners. As on March 31, 2021, promoters held around 28.7% with rest
primarily being held by private equity investors.

Key Financial Indicators - (Oxyzo Finance-Standalone)

Particulars Unit Dec-20* Mar-204 Mar-1gA4
Total Assets Rs crore 1323 965 379
Advances Rs crore 1196 901 358
Total Income Rs crore 138 135 48
Profit After Tax (PAT) Rs crore 28 21 4.7
GNPA % 1.2 0.8 1.0
Adjusted gearing Times 25 2.0 25
Return on managed assets Times 3.2 341 20

MND-AS

M-GAAP

*Annualised

Key Financial Indicators (Consolidated)

Particulars Unit Dec-20" Mar-20+ Mar-19~4
Total Assets Rs crore 1952 1445 603
Advances Rs crore 1196 901 358
Trade receivables Rs crore 375 277 96
Total Income™ Rs crore 189 187 75
Profit After Tax (PAT) Rs crore 40 32 15
GNPA {(NBFC) % 1.2 0.9 1.0
Adjusted gearing Times 1.8 1.3 1.1
Return on 1 assets Times 3.1 3.2 36

MND-AS

AMLGAAP

*Annualised
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*Ineludes Revenue from sale of products — Purchase of stock-in frade-Transport and other direct costs-Change in inventories for stock in
trade

Any other information: Not applicable

Note on complexity levels of the rated instrument:

CRISIL complexity levels are assigned to various types of financial instruments. The CRISIL complexity levels are available
an wyw crisil comicomplexity-levels. Users are advised to refer to the CRISIL complexity levels for instruments that they
consider for investment. Users may also call the Custorner Service Helpdesk with queries on specific instruments.

Annexure - Details of Instrument(s)
i Issue N : =
. Date of | Coupon | Maturity| _. C Rating
ISIN| Name ofinstument | allotment | rate (%) | " date | 22 (R* | Level with outiook
Proposed Long Term Bank
NA Loan Facilty NA NA NA 800 NA CRISIL A/Stable
Non Convertible :
NA Debektirash NA MNA NA 100 Simple CRISIL A/Stable
Long Term Principal
NA |  Protected Market Linked NA NA NA 100 Simple SRR
Debentures”
"Yet fo be issued
Annexure — List of entities consolidated
Names of Entities Consolidated Extent of G idati i forC
OFB Tech Pvt Ltd Full Parent
OFCONS Projects & Services Full Subsidiary of the same parent

Annexure - Rating History for last 3 Years

Current 2021 (History) 2020 2019 2018 Seart of
Instrument Type °"“a:“:"'t"‘9 Rating Date Rating Date Rating Date Rating Date Rating Rating
Fund Based CRISIL
Facilities B oo AsStable = i ¥ 7t =
Non Convertible CRISIL . ) _ _ =
Debentures 5 1000 pstable
Long Term
Principal CRISIL
Protected Market LT 1000 PPMLDA - - - - -
Linked T iStable
Debentures
All amauris are in Rs.CF.
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Annexure - Details of various bank facilities

Gurrent facilities Previous facilities
it Amount : i Amount "
Facility (Rs.Crore) Rating Facility (Rs.Crore) Rating
Proposed Long Term 800 CRISIL " . "
Bank Loan Facility A/Stable
Total 800 - Total - -
Criteria Details
Links to related criteria
Rating Criteria for Finance Companies
CRISILs Criteria for Consolidation
Media Relations Analytical Contacts Customer Service Helpdesk
Saman Khan Krishnan Sitaraman Timings: 10.00 am to 7.00 pm
Media Relations Senior Director and Deputy Chief Ratings Toll free Number: 1800 267 1301
CRISIL Limited Officer
D: +91 22 3342 3895 CRISIL Ratings Limited For a copy of Rationales / Rating Reports:
B: +91 223342 2000 D:+81 22 3342 8070 CRISILratingdesk@erisil.com
saman.khan@crisil.com krishnan sitaraman@crisil.com
For Analytical queries:
Naireen Ahmed Ajit Velonie ratingsinvestordesk@crisil.com
Media Relations Director
CRISIL Limited CRISIL Ratings Limited
D: +9122 3342 1818 D491 22 4097 8209
B2 +01 22 3342 3000 it velonie@crisil.com
naireen.ahmed@crisil com
Vishal Singh
Senior Rating Analyst
CRISIL Ratings Limited
D:+91 22 3342 3419
Vishal Singh@crisil.com
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Note for Media:

This rating rationale s transmitted to you for the sle purpose of dissemination through your newspaper f magazine / agency. The rating rationale may be
used by you in full or in part without changing the meaning or context thereof but with due credit to CRISIL Ratings, However, CRISIL Ratings alone has.
the <ol right of distribution (whether directly or of its rationales for or otherwise through any media including websites, portals etc,

About CRISIL Ratings Limited

CRISIL Ratings pioneered the concept of credit rating in India in 1987, With a tradition of independence, analytical rigour and
innovation, we set the standards in the credit rating business. We rate the entire range of debt instruments, such as, bank loans,
certificates of deposit, commercial paper, non-convertible / convertible f partially convertible bonds and debentures, perpetual
bonds, bank hybrid capital ir t-backed and mortg: backed securities, partial guarantees and other structured
debt instruments. We have rated over 33 000 large and mid-scale corporates and financial institutions. \We have also instituted
several innovations in India in the rating busmess, including rating municipal bonds, partially guaranteed instruments and
infrastructure investment trusts (InvITs)

CRISIL Ratings Limited {"CRISIL Ratings") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRISIL Limited ("CRISIL"). CRISIL Ratings Limited is
registered in India as a credit rating agency with the Securities and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI").

For more information, visit www.crisil.com/ratings

About CRISIL Limited

CRISIL is a global analytical company providing ratings, research, and risk and policy advisory services. We are India's leading
ratings agency. We are also the foremost provider of high-end research to the world's largest banks and leading corporations.

CRISIL is majority owned by S&P Global Inc., a leading provider of transparent and ratings, ber analytics
and data to the capital and commedity markets worldwide

For more information, visit wwwe crisil. com

Connect with Us: TWITTER | LINKEDIM | YOUTUBE | FACEBOOK

CRISIL PRIVACY NOTICE

CRISIL respects your privacy. We may use your contact Information, such as your name, address, and emall Id to fulfll your request and service your
accaunt and to provide you with additional i from CRISIL For further on CRISIL's privacy palicy please visit www.crisil.com.

DISCLAIMER

This disclaimer forms part of and applies to each credit rating report andior credit rating rationale (each a "Report”} that is provided by CRISIL Ratings Limited
(herainafter referrad ta as "CRISIL Ratings") - For the avaidance of doubt tha term *Raport” intiudas the informabion, ratings and other content forming part of the
Report. The Report s intended for the jurisdiction of India enly. This Report does not constitute an offer of services, Without limiting the generality of the faregoing,
nothing in the Reportis to be construed as CRISIL Ratings providing or intending to provide any services in jurisdictions whers CRISIL Ratings doss not have th
necessary licenses. and/ur rEg\slramn ta camy out its business activities refered to above. Access or use of this Report does not create a client relationship between
CRISIL Ratings and the

Vile are not aware that any user intends to rely on the Repart of of the manner in which a user intends to use the Report. In preparing our Report we have ot taken
into consideratien the ebjectives or partieular needs of any particular user. It is made abundantly clear that the Report is not intended to and does not eonstitute sn
investrent advice. The Report is not an offer to sell or an offer to purchass or subscribe for any investrent in any secuiities, instruments, facilties of solictation of
any kind or otherwise enter into any desl or transaction with the entity to which the Report pertains. The Reportshould not be the scle or primary basis for any
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investment decision within the meaning of any law or regulation (including the laws and regulations applicable in the US),

Ratings from CRISIL Ratings are statements of opinion as of the date they are expressed and not statements of fact ar recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell
any securities / instruments or to make any investment decisions. Any opinions expressed here ars in good faith, are subject to change witheut notice, and are only
clvant as ofthe stated dute of hok Issus, CRISIL Ratgs asaumes no dbligation 1o update s op¥ions flowing publicaion in any forn o forviatakhough CRISIL
Ratings may disseminate its opinions and analysis. Rating by CRISIL Ratings contained in the Repart is not a subsitute for the skill, jucdgment and experience ofthe
user, its management. employees, advisors and/or clients when making investment or ether business decisions. The recipients of the Report should rely on their own
judgment and take their own professional advice before acting on the Report in any way. CRISIL Ratings of its associates may have other commercial tran sactions.
with the company/entity.

Netlior CRIEIL Rullon noe oMMt Hed patly prm o anial aaisk desciom. oficars:shinemh ldacy sevglymns ce mgenin eollseively, 1EREV Rallngn
Parties") guarantee the accuracy, completeness or adequacy of the Report, and no CRISIL Ratings Party shal have any liability for any errors, omissions,
intemuptions therein, regarcless of the cause, or for the results obtained fram the use of any part of the Report. EACH CRISIL RATINGS' PARTY DISCLAMS ANY
AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, SUITABILITY OR FITNESS
FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE. In no event shall any CRISIL Ratings Party be liable to any party for any direct, indirect, incidental, exemplary,
compensatory, punitive, special or consequential damages, cosfs, expenses, legal fees, or losses (including, without imitation, lost income or lost profits and
opportunity costs) in connection with any use of any part of the Report even if advised of the passiiity of such damages

CRISIL Ratings may receive compensation for its ratings and certain credit-related analyses, normally fiom issuers or undenwriters afthe instruments, facilties.
secuiities or from obligors. CRISIL Raling's public ratings and analysis as are required to be disclosed under the requlations of the Securities and Exchange Board of
India (and other applicable regulations, if any) are made available on its web sites, ww.crisil,com (e of charge). Reports with more detail and additional
information may ba available for subscription at a fee - mora dtails about ratings by CRISIL Ratings are availabla here: www crisiratings com

CRISIL Ratings and its affiliates do not act as a fiduciary. While CRISIL Ratings has obtzined information from sources it believes to be reliable, CRISIL Ratings does
not perform an audit and undertaies no duty of due diigence or independent verification of any informatian it receives and f or relies in its Reports. GRISIL Ratings
has established policies and procedures to maintain the confidentiality of certain non-public information recaived in connaction with each analytical process. CRISIL
Ratings has in place a ratings code of conduct and pelicies for analytical firewalls and for managing conflict of interest. For details please refer to:

hitp:rww.crisl i i

Rating criteria by CRISIL Ratings are generally available without charge to the public on the CRISIL Ratings public web site, w crisil.com. For latest raing
inforrmation on any instrument of any company rated by GRISIL Ratings you may contact GRISIL RATING DESK at CRISILratingdesk@srisil com, of at (0097) 1800
267 1301

This Report should nok be reprocuced or redistributed to any other person or in any form without & prior written consent of CRISIL Ratings.

All rights reserved @ CRISIL Ratings Limited. CRISIL Ratings Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of CRISIL Limited

CRISIL Ratings uses the prefix ‘PP-MLD! for the ratings of principal-protected market-linked debentures (PPMLD) with effect from November 1, 2011 to comply with
the SEBI circular, "Guidelines for Issue and Listing of Structured Products/Market Linked Debantures”. The revision in rating symbels for PPMLDs should not be.

construad as a change in the rating of the subject instrument. For dstails on CRISIL Ratiings' use of ‘PE-MLD' please refr o the notes o Rating scale for Dbt
Instruments and Structured Finance at the following link: wyw.crisil it-rating-scale htmi

hitps:/Awwea crisil i ing: inglist/RatingDocs/O; i i i il imited_May 06, 2021_RR_269922 html 1212
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ANNEXURE III: CONSENT LETTER FROM THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE
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ANNEXURE 1V: APPLICATION FORM

OXYZO FINANCIAL SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED
A private limited company incorporated under the Companies Act, 2013
Date of Incorporation: September 21, 2016
Registered Office: Shop No. G-22 C (UGF) D-1 (K-84) Green Park Main New Delhi, South Delhi -
110016

Telephone No.: 1800 102 9586 /.: +91-9540013068
Website: www.oxyzo.in

| DEBENTURE SERIES APPLICATION FORMSERIALNO. | | | | | | | | | |

Issue of upto 480 (Four Hundred and Eighty) Rated, Listed, Senior, Secured, Redeemable,
Taxable, Non-Convertible Debentures (“NCDs” or “Debentures”) of face value of Rs. 10,00,000/-
(Rupees Ten Lakh Only) each, aggregating up to Rs. 48,00,00,000/- (Rupees Forty Eight Crores
Only) issued on a fully paid basis and on a private placement basis (the “Issue”)

DEBENTURE SERIES APPLIED FOR:

Number of Debentures In words

Amount Rs. /- in words Rupees Crores only
DETAILS OF PAYMENT:

RTGS

No. Drawn on

Funds transferred to Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
Dated

Total Amount Enclosed
(In Figures) (In words)

APPLICANT’S NAME IN FULL (CAPITALS) SPECIMEN SIGNATURE

APPLICANT’S ADDRESS
ADDRESS
STREET
CITY

PIN |PHONE ‘ ‘FAX ‘
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APPLICANT’S PAN/GIR NO. AAICM0721B IT CIRCLE/WARD/DISTRICT
WE ARE () COMPANY () OTHERS ( ) SPECIFY

We have read and understood the Terms and Conditions of the issue of Debentures including the Risk
Factors described in the Memorandum and have considered these in making our decision to apply. We
bind ourselves to these Terms and Conditions and wish to apply for allotment of these Debentures. We
request you to please place our name(s) on the Register of Holders.

Name of the Authorised Designation Signature
Signatory(ies)

Applicant’s
Signature

We the undersigned, are agreeable to holding the Debentures of the Company in dematerialised form.
Details of my/our Beneficial Owner Account are given below:

DEPOSITORY NSDL () CDSL ()
DEPOSITORY PARTICIPANT NAME
DP-ID

BENEFICIARY ACCOUNT NUMBER
NAME OF THE APPLICANT(S)

Applicant Bank Account:

(Settlement by way of Cheque / Demand Draft /
Pay Order / Direct Credit / ECS /
NEFT/RTGS/other permitted mechanisms)

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
DATE OF RECEIPT DATE OF CLEARANCE

(Note: Cheque and Drafts are subject to realisation)

We understand and confirm that the information provided in the Information Memorandum is provided
by the Issuer and the same has not been verified by any legal advisors to the Issuer and other
intermediaries and their agents and advisors associated with this Issue. We confirm that we have for the
purpose of investing in these Debentures carried out our own due diligence and made our own decisions
with respect to investment in these Debentures and have not relied on any representations made by
anyone other than the Issuer, if any.

We understand that: i) in case of allotment of Debentures to us, our Beneficiary Account as mentioned

above would get credited to the extent of allotted Debentures, ii) the Applicant must ensure that the
sequence of names as mentioned in the Application Form matches the sequence of name held with our
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Depository Participant, iii) if the names of the Applicant in this application are not identical and also not
in the same order as the Beneficiary Account details with the above mentioned Depository Participant
or if the Debentures cannot be credited to our Beneficiary Account for any reason whatsoever, the
Company shall be entitled at its sole discretion to reject the application or issue the Debentures in
physical form.

We understand that we are assuming on our own account, all risk of loss that may occur or be suffered
by us including as to the returns on and/or the sale value of the Debentures to indemnify or otherwise
hold us harmless in respect of any such loss and/or damage. We undertake that upon sale or transfer to
subsequent investor or transferee (“Transferee”), we shall convey all the terms and conditions contained
herein and in this Information Memorandum to such Transferee. In the event of any Transferee
(including any intermediate or final holder of the Debentures) suing the Issuer (or any person acting on
its or their behalf) we shall indemnify the Issuer (and all such persons acting on its or their behalf) and
also hold the Issuer and each of such person harmless in respect of any claim by any Transferee.

Applicant’s
Signature
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
DATE OF RECEIPT DATE OF CLEARANCE

(Note : Cheque and Drafts are subject to realisation)

(TEAR HERE)
- ACKNOWLEDGMENT SLIP -
| (To be filled in by Applicant) SERIAL NO. i LT 1] | ]

Received from

Address

Cheque/Draft/UTR  # Drawn on for
Rs. on account of application of Debenture
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ANNEXURE V: LAST AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (PREVIOUS THREE YEAR)

OXYZO FINANCIAL SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2020
(All amounts in Lakhs of ¥ unless otherwise stated)

As at As at As at
Particulars Notes March 31,2020 March 31,2019 April 1, 2018
A ASSETS
1 Financial assets
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 3 5,085.63 492.56 331.14
(b) Bank balances other than (a) above 4 131.52 50.59 -
(c) Loans 5 89,786.80 35,945.16 8,206.35
(d) Investments 6 - 757.83 -
(e) Other financial assets 7 638.66 84.38 11.72
95,642.61 37,330.52 8,549.21
2 Non-financial assets
(a) Current tax assets (Net) 7.00 7.00 2.26
(b) Deferred tax assets (Net) 8 350.68 87.01 9.76
(c) Investment property q 149.92 13.32 -
(d) Property, plant and equipment 10 60,37 37.89 5.83
(e) Other non-financial assets 11 253.33 275.48 42.53
821.30 420.70 60.38
TOTAL ASSETS 96,463.91 37,751.22 8,609.59

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
(a) Payables
(I) Trade payables
(i) Total outstanding dues to micro and small enterprises - - -
(ii) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 174.32 80.70 95.33
(1) Other payables
(i) Total outstanding dues to micro and small enterprises - 2 5

"

(i) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 12 92.00 487.25 7.97
(b) Debt securities 13 14,635.91 7,921.64 -
(c) Borrowings (Other than debt securities) 14 47,847.95 18,164.85 5,808.81
(d) Other financial liabilities 15 991.31 494.85 128.28
63,741.49 27,149.29 6,040.39
2 Non-financial liabilities
(a) Current tax liabilities (Net) 16 370.04 5 “
(b) Provisions 17 112:0f 50.32 9.61
(c) Other non-financial liabilities 18 375.52 323.23 78.79
857.67 373.55 88.40
EQUITY
(a) Equity share capital 19 4,774.80 3,552.69 2,500.00
(b) Other equity 20 27,089.95 6,675.69 (19.20)
31,864.75 10,228.38 2,480.80
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 96,463.91 37,751.22 8,609.59
See accompanying notes forming part of the Ind AS financial statements 1-53
In terms of our report attached For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
A s
Chaftered Accountants \' I Mt,kl":
Sy
w M"//\‘Ig( Ru®hi Kalra Asish Mohapatra
Whole-time director and Chief Financial Officer Director
Jaideep Bhargava DIN: 03103474 DIN: 06666246
Partner %9
Brij Kishorh(iradoo
Company Secretary
M.No.;: A40347
Place : Gurugram Place: Gurugram
Date : 25 June 2020 Date : 25 June 2020
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For the year ended

For the year ended

i N
Particulacs otes March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
(@) Revenue from operations
(i) Interest income 21 13,094.33 4,185.13
(ii) Fee and commission income 22 397.52 57.03
(iii) Net gain on fair value changes 23 25.66 3.67
(b) Other income 24 1.50 =
I Total Income (a+b) 13,519.01 4,245.83
Expenses
(a) Finance costs 25 6,029.19 1,803.95
(b) Impairment on financial instruments 26 1,571.25 282.31
(c) Employees benefit expenses 27 2,258.05 1,264.42
(d) Depreciation and amortisation expense 10 22.07 5.35
(e) Other expenses 28 808.26 379.21
II Total expenses 10,688.82 3,735.24
IIT Profit before tax (I-II) 2,830.19 510.59
IV Tax expense
(a) Current tax 29 987.29 184.23
(b) Deferred tax charge/(benefits) 29 (263.03) (78.14)
Total tax expense 724,26 106.09
V' Profit for the year (III-IV) 2,105.93 404,50
VI Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
(a) Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans (2.56) 3.1
Income tax benefit/ (charge) on above 0.64 (0.89)
Other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year (1.92) 2.32
VII Total comprehensive profit for the year (V+VI) 2,104.01 406.82
Earnings per equity share:
Basic and diluted 30 5.02 1.36
See accompanying notes forming part of the Ind AS financial statements 1-53

In terms of our report attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants

pesgoes

Jaideep Bhargav
Partner

Place : Gurugram
Date: 25 June 2020

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Whole-time director and Chief Financial Officer
DIN: 03103474

ok
Mﬁ\"w/' !
Asish Mohapatra

Director
DIN: 06666246

; \L;iﬁ?
Brii Kishore Kiradoo
Company Secretary
M.No.: A40347
Place: Gurugram
Date: 25 June 2020
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Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2019
(All amounts cre in Indian Rupees, unless othervise stated)

As at As at
Note 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ funds
Share capital 3 355,268,810 250,000,000
Reserves and surplus 4 695,519,209 2,515,963
1,050,788,019 252,515,963
Non-current liabilities
. Long-term borrowings . . 5 1,004,416,097 -
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 6 1,479,364 562,006
Lonig-term provisions t . & 2 5;779,902 1,084,218
1,011,675,363 1,646,224

Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings 8 679,989,127 579,200,000

Trade navables
TraGe payabics

(a) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises

(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 9 8,070,386 9,532,844
enterprises
Other current liabilities 10 1,026,232,828 17,437,436
Short-term provisions : i 11,805,542 1,934,018
1,726,097,883 608,104,298
TOTAL ) 3,788,561,265 862,266,485
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 5,120,672 583,872
Non-current investment : 12 80,753,020 %
Long-term loans and advances . 13 336,912,112 51,373,761
Other non-current assets 14 6,250,000 -
L 429,035,804 51,957,633
Current Assets . :
Cash and bank balances 15 49,256,212 33,113,817 *
Short-term loans and advances 13 3,275,946,923 771,622,441
Other current assets 14 34,322,326 5,572,594
) 3,359,525,461 810,308,852
! TOTAL 3,788,561,265 862,266,485

‘ Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements 2-35
The notes referred to above form an integral part of these financial statements
’ As per our report of even date attached
For B& R & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

| Cl red Accountants Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited %
T i

Registration No.: 116231W/W-100024

- e Wit B

} Manish Gupta RuchiKalra Asish Mohapatra

s
<

Partner Whole-time director and Chief Financial Officer Director
Membership No.: 095037 DIN: 03103474 DIN: 06666246

| e

Brij Kishore Kiradoo

Company Secretary
M.No.: A40347
Place: Gurugram Place: Gurugram Place: Gurugram

] Date: 30 May 2019 Date: 30 May 2019 Date: 30 May 2019
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For the year ended

For the year ended

Membership No.: 095037

Place: Gurugram
Date: 30 May 2019

DIN: 03103474
N

Brij Kishore Kiradoo

Company Secretary
M.No.: A40347

Place: Gurugram
Date: 30 May 2019

Note 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

Revenue
Revenue from operations 16 452,567,391 36,990,348
Other income 17 3,520,290 301,553
Total revenue 456,087,681 37,291,901
Expenses

Employee benefits 18 122,036,122 12,497,673
Finance Costs 19 179,168,197 9,900,405
Depreciation 11 534,550 1,653
Other expenses 20 87,555,449 10,939,004

" Total expenses 389,294,318 33,338,735

Profit before prior period items and tax 66,793,363 3,953,166
Prior period items 21 - 590,660
Profit before tax 66,793,363 3,362,506
Tax expense: \

- Current income tax 18;424,314 1,139,616
- Deferred tax charge 6 917,358 562,006
Profit after tax S - S— Y
Earnings per equity share inominal vlaue of share Rs.10 each 2 7

(previous year Rs.10 each)]

- Basic 1.58 0.20
- Diluted 1.58 0.20
Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements 2-35

The notes referred to above form an integral part of these financial statements

As per our report of even date attached s

For B S R & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

Ch; d Accountants Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

1C Registration No.: 116231W/W-100024 U\kw 8
Manish Gupta Ruchi Kalra Asish Mohapatra
Partner Whole-time director and Chief Financial Officer Director

DIN: 06666246

Place: Gurugram
Date: 30 May 2019
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ funds

Share capital

Reserves and surplus

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (net)
Long-term provisions

Current liakilities

Short-term borrowings

Trade payables

Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018

Note

- total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises
- total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises 8

and smal! enterprises
Other current liabilitics
Short-term provisions

TOTAL

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Long-term loans and advances

Current Assets

Cash and bark balances
Short-term loans and advances

Other current assets

TOTAL

10
11

12
1
13

Significant accounting policies and notes 1o the financial statements 2 - 33

The notes referred to above torm an integral part of these financials statements
As per our report of even date attached

For B S R & Associates LLP
Chyriefed Aceountants
Firg| Rieplstration No.: 11623 | W/W-100024

Manish Gupta
Partner

Membership No.: 095037

Place : Gurugram
Date: 29 June 2018

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

(All amounts in Indian Rupees, unless otherwise stated)

As at
31 March 2018

250,000,000
2,515,963
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For Private Circulation Only
(This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus)

As at
31 March 2017

20,000,000

252,515,963

562,006
1.084.218

20,000,000

1,646,224

579,200,000

9,532,844

17,437,436
1,934,018

608,104,298

862,266,485

20,000,000

583,872
51,373,761

51,957,633

33,113,817
771,622,441
5.572,594

20,000,000

810,308,852

20,000,000

862,266,485

20,000,900

Oxyzo Finaneial Services Privaie Limited

L

tuchi Kalra
lirectur
DIN 03103474

Place : Gurugram
Date; 29 June 2018

{

"’-I\

[ JosH

!
Vasant Stidhar
Director
DIN : 076835035

Place : Gurugram
Date: 29 June 2018

9‘\(}.9\9_’:
Brij Kishore Kiradoo

Company Secretary
M.No.; A40347

Place : Gurugram
Date; 29 June 2018
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Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amounts in Indian Rupees, unless otherwise stated)

Note For the year ended For the period from
31 March 2018 21 September 2016

to 31 March 2017
Revenue
Revenue from operations 14 36,990,348 -
Other income 15 301,553 -
Total revenue 37,291,901 -
Expenses
Finance Cost 16 9,900,405 -
Employee benefit 17 12,497,673 -
Depreciation 10 1,653 -
Other expenses 18 8,882,267 -
Contingent provision for standard assets 19 2,056,737 -
Total expenses 33,338,735 -
Profit before prior period items and tax 3,953,166 -
Prior period items 20 590,660 -
Profit before tax 3,362,506 -
Income tax
= Current tax 1,139,616 .
- Deferred tax 5 562,006 -
Profit after tax 1,660,884 =

Earnings per equity share [nominal value of share Rs. 10

each (previous period: Rs. 10 each)] gl
- Basic 0.20 &
- Diluted 0.20 -

Significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statement:  2-33
The notes referred to above form an integral part of these financials statements

As per our report of even date attached

For, R & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

Ch Ac Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

IFirfed Risgistration No.: 116231W/W-100024 \ f;\ . \‘&,)

> W I ‘. 0

. \:ﬂ’” L LV

Manish Gupta uehi Kalrs Vasant Sridhar Brij Ki;ﬁlre Kiradoo

Partner Direciar Director Canpreny Secretary

Membership No.: 095037 IIN: 03103474 DIN : 07685035 M.No.: Ad0347

Place ; Gurugram Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram

Date: 29 June 2018 Date: 29 June 2018 Date: 29 June 2018 Date: 29 June 2018
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OXYZO FINANCIAL SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021
(All amounts in Lakhs of  unless otherwise stated)

As at As at
Particulars Notes March 31,2021 March 31,2020
A ASSETS
1 Financial assets
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 3 19,900.71 5,085.63
(b) Bank balances other than (a) above 4 908.76 131.52
(c) Loans 5 135,652.45 89,510.38
(d) Investments 6 6,969.55 &
(e) Other financial assets 7 294.98 638.66
163,726.45 95,366.19
2 Non-financial assets
(a) Current tax assets {Net) 78.66 7.00
(b) Deferred tax assets (Net) 8 501.53 350.68
(c) Investment property 9 149.92 149.92
(d) Property, plant and equipment 10 35.08 60.37
(e) Other non-financial assets 11 21.29 19.03
786.48 587.00
TOTAL ASSETS 164,512.93 95,953.19

B LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
1 Financial liabilities
(a) Payables
(I) Trade payables
(i) Total outstanding dues to micro and small enterprises - -
(ii) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 205.70 174,32
(II) Other payables
(i) Total outstanding dues to micro and small enterprises - -

(i) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 12 21 46 22,00
(b) Debt securities 13 32,468.10 14,529.07
(c) Borrowings (Other than debt securities) 14 84,369.47 47,720.49
(d) Other financial liabilities 15 1,868.14 991,31
118,932.87 63,507.19
2 Non-financial liabilities
(a) Current tax liabilities (Net) 16 - 370.04
(b) Provisions 17 187.19 112.11
(c) Other non-financial liabilities 18 431.22 99.10
618.41 581.25
EQUITY
(a) Equity share capital 19 5,010.34 4,774.80
(b) Other equity 20 39,851.31 27,089.95
44,961.65 31,864.75
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 164,512.93 95,953.19
See accompanying notes forming part of the Ind AS financial statements 1-54
In terms of our report attached For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited '
Chartered Accountants
( \MJ)\L,LM‘ nw&/‘*k'd
ij Ruchi Kalra Asish Mohapatra

Partner
Whole-time directer and Chief Financial Officer Director

DIN: 03103474_ DIN: 06666246
M\L”\iﬁ@

Brij Kishore Kirad
Company Secretary
M.No.: A40347
Place: Gurugram
Date : 07 June 2021

Place : Gurugram
Date : 07 June 2021
(\D' i
V Accountants
w©

Chartered
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OXYZO FINANCIAL SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2021

(All amounts in Lakhs of Z unless otherwise stated)

Particulars

(a) Revenue from operations
(i) Interest income
(i) Fee and commission income
(iii) Net gain on fair value changes
(b) Other income
I Total Income (a+b)

Expenses

(a) Finance costs

(b) Impairment on financial instruments
(c) Employees benefit expenses

(d) Depreciation and amortisation expense
(e) Other expenses

II Total expenses

IIT1 Profit before tax (I-II)

IV Tax expense

(a) Current tax

(b) Deferred tax charge/(benefits)
Total tax expense

V  Profit for the year (ITI-1V)

VI Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

(a) Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans
Income tax benefit/ (charge) on above

Giher compiehensiveincome; (ioss) for the year

VII Total comprehensive profit for the year (V+VI)

Earnings per equity share:
Basic and diluted

See accompanying notes forming part of the Ind AS financial statements

In terms of our report attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants

g

Vijay Agarwal

Partner

Place : Gurugram
Date : 07 June 2021

R
&3
s
e =
g
lo Chartered
— | Acco
w o K_/

¥ 7

A

¢

Notes

21
22
23
24

25
26
27
9&10
28

29
29

1-54
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For the year ended
March 31, 2021

For the year ended
March 31, 2020

19,250.25 13,094.33
414.33 397.52
88.39 25.66
4.20 1.50
19,757.17 13,519.01
9,021.93 6,029.19
1,576.47 1,571.25
2,995.48 2,258.05
26.44 22.07
755.17 808.26
14,375.49 10,688.82
5,381.68 2,830.19
1,538.43 987.29
(150.44) (263.03)
1,387.99 724.26
3,993.69 2,105,93
(1.64) (2.56)
0.41 0.64
(1.23) (1.92)
3,992.46 2,104.01
8.29 5.03

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Ruchi Kalra

Whole-time director and Chief Financial Officer
DIN: 03103474

Brij Kishore Kiradoo
Company Secretary
M.No.: A40347

Place: Gurugram
Date : 07 June 2021

>

Asish Mohapatra

Director
DIN: 06666246
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Information Memorandum
Date: July 20, 2021

AUDITED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE 3 (THREE) YEARS IMMEDIATELY
PRECEDING THE DATE OF CIRCULATION OF THIS DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

OXYZO FINANCIAL SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2020

(All amounts in Lakhs of T unless otherwise stated)

Particulars

For the year ended
31 March 2020

For the year ended
31 March 2019

A CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 2,830.19 510.59
Adjustments for:
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans (2.56) 3.21
Depreciation and amortisation expense 22.07 5.35
Profit on sale of mutual funds (25.66) (3.67)
Interest income on bonds (105.11) (16.34)
Interest income on fixed deposits (25.42) (3.71)
Interest on income tax refund (1.47) -
Profit from sale of property, plant & equipment (0.03) -
Loss on sale of bonds 19.22 -
Impairment allowance on loans 1,032.02 207.31
Provision on account of covid-19 154.12 -
Loss on loans & advances written off 385.11 75.00
Employee stock options expense 51.91 49,06
Operating profit before working capital changes 4,334.39 826.80

.

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 93.62 (14.63)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables (379.12) 468.69
Increase/(decrease) in Other financial liabilities 496.46 366.57
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 61.79 40.71
Increase/(decrease) in Other non-financial liabilities 52.29 244.44
(Increase)/decrease in Loans and advances (55,412.90) (28,021.11)
(Increase)/decrease in Other financial assets (552.01) (72.37)
(Increase)/decrease in Other non-financial assets 22.15 (232.95)
Cash flow from operating activities post working capital changes (51,283.33) (26,393.85)
Income- tax paid (617.25) (188.97)
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) (51,900.58) (26,582.82)

B CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (63.33) (26.82)
Purchase of Investment property (136.60) (13.32)
Investment in mutual fund (9,000.00) (1,550.00)
Proceeds from sale of mutual funds 9,025.66 1,553.67
Investment in bonds # (730.00)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2.68 -
Proceeds from sale of bonds 710.78 -
Investment in Fixed deposits (73.00) (50.00)
Interest income on Income Tax refund 1.47 =
Interest received on fixed deposit and security deposit 148.17 (8.67)
Net cash used in investing activities (B) 615.83 (825.14)

C CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from debt securities 16,535,91 7,921.64
Repayments of debt securities (9,821.64) -
Net proceeds from cash credit and bank overdraft 712.81 1,097.64
Proceeds from other borrowings 59,693.25 28,774.34
Repayments of other borrowings (30,722.96) (17,515.94)
Proceeds from issue of equity shares including share premium 19,480.45 7,291.70
Net cash flow from financing activities (C) 55,877.82 27,569.38
Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 4,593.07 161.42
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 492.56 331.14
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5,085.63 492.56




Information Memorandum
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OXYZO FINANCIAL SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2020
(All amounts in Lakhs of ¥ unless otherwise stated)

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Private & Confidential
For Private Circulation Only

(This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus)

Particulars

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Cash on hand
Balance with banks
-In current accounts
-In deposit accounts
Accrued interest

See accompanying notes forming part of the Ind AS financial statements
In terms of our report attached

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartgred Accountants

/A W-P 7 Vil N
Jaideep Bhargava
Partner

Place : Gurugram
Date: 25 June 2020

11.87 -
2,572.00 492.56
2,500.00 -

1.76 =
5,085.63 492.56

1-53

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

M,W Wm"fﬁ

Ruchi Kalra Asish Mohapatra
Whole-time director and Chief Financial Office Director
DIN: 03103474 DIN: 06666246

Brij Kishore Kiradoo
Company Secretary
M.No.: A40347

Place: Gurugram
Date: 25 June 2020
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Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2019
(All amounts in Indian Rupees. unless otherwise stated)

Cash flow from operating activities:
Net Profit before tax

Adjustment for:

Depreciation

Contingent provisions for standard assets
Provisions for sub-standard assets
Loan portfolio written-off

Profit on sale of mutual funds

Interest income on bonds

Interest income on fixed deposits
Employee stock options expense

Operating cash flow before working capital changes -

I / (d Se) in trade payabl

Increase/ (decrease) in provisions

Increase/ (decrease) in other current liabilities
(Increase)/ decrease in loans and advances
(Increase)/ decrease in other current assets
Cash generated irom operations

Income taxes paid
Net cash used by operating activities (A)

Cash flow from investing activities:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Investment in mutual fund

Proceeds from sale of mutual funds

Investment in fixed deposit

Investment in security deposit

Proceeds from maturity of security deposit

Proceeds from maturity of fixed deposit

Investment in bonds

Interest received on fixed deposit and security deposit
Net cash provided/ (used) by investing activities (B)

Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from short-term borrowings
Proceeds from loan-term borrowings
Repayments of short-term borrowings
Repayments of long-term borrowings

Proceeds from premium on issue of equity shares including share premium

Net cash flow from financing activities (C)

Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (refer Note 15)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (refer Note 15)

Note: Cash flows are reported using the Indirect method in accordance with Accounting S

Companies Act, 2013.

As per our report of even date attached

For & Associates LLP

Chafterpd Accountants

1C Registration No.: 116231W/W-100024

Manish Gupta
Partner
Membership No.: 095037

Place: Gurugram
Date: 30 May 2019

For the year ended
31 March 2019

Private & Confidential
For Private Circulation Only
(This Information Memorandum is neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus)

For the year ended
31 March 2018

66,793,363 3,362,506
534,550 1,653
6,881,239 2,056,737
3615272 =
7,499,800 .
(366,983) (301,553)
(2,782,692) ) -
(370,615) <
820,917 855,079
82,624,851 5,974,422
(1,462,458) 9,532,844
4,070,698 961,499
106,321,138 16,883,828
(2,796,887,302) (822,770,702)
(20,879,096) (5,572,594)

(2,626,212,169)

(794,990,703)

(18,899,645) (1,365,116)
(2,645,111,814) (796,355,819)
(4,011,792) (31,917)
(155,000,001) (136,000,000)
155,366,984 136,301,553
(105,000,000) .
(7,500,000) =
1,250,000 i
100,000,000 .
(80,753,020) .
282,671 -
(95,365,158) 269,636
.
7,597,007,455 711,700,000
2,020,000,000 =
(7,496,218,328) (132,500,000)
(114,169,208) -
749,999,448 230,000,000
2,756,619,367 809,200,000
16,142,395 13,113,817
33,113 817 20,000,000
49,256,212 33,113,817

dard-3 'Cash Flow S

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of *
Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Ruchi Kalra
Whole-time director and Chief Financial Officer

DIN: 03103474
R A
M \l).rp

Brij Kishore Kiradoo
Company Secretary
M.No.: A40347

Place: Gurugram
Date: 30 May 2019

' specified under Section 133 of the

X

XM
o

Asish Mohapatra
Director
DIN: 06666246

Place: Gurugram
Date: 30 May 2019
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Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amounts in Indian Rupees, unless otherwise stated)

For the year ended For the period from
31 March 2018 21 September 2016
to 31 March 2017
Cash flow from operating activities:

Profit before tax 3,362,506 -
Adjustment for ;

Employee stock options expense 855,079

Depreciation 1,653

Contingent provisions for standard assets 2,056,737 =
Profit on redemption of mutual funds (301,353) -
Operating cash flow before working capital changes 5,974,422 -
Adjustment for working capital changes-

Inerease in trade payables 9,532,844

Increase in provisions 961,499 -
Increase in other current liabilities 16,883,828 -
(Increase) in loans and advances (822,770,702)

(Increase) in other current assets (5,572,594)

Cash used in operations (794,990,703)

Income tax paid _(1,365,116) -
Net cash used in operating activities (A) (796,355,819) -
Cash flow from investing activities:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (31,917) -
Purchase of mutual funds (136,000,000) -
Sale proceeds from mutual funds 136,301,553 -
Net eash flow from investing activities (B) 269,636 -
Cash flow from financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings 711,700,000

Repayment of borrowings (132,500,000) -
Proceeds [rom issue of equity shares 230,000,000 20,000,000
Net cash flow from financing activities (C) 809,200,000 20,000,000
Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 13,113.817 20,000,000
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (refer Note 12) 20,000,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (refer Note 12) 33,113,817 20,000,000

Note: Cash flows are reported using the indirect method in accordance with Accounting Standard-3 'Cash Flow Statements' specified
under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 7 of the Companies {Accounis) Rules, 2014

As per our report of even date attached

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Ozxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

A G

P

Manish Gupta Iuchi Kalra Vasant Sridhar Brij Kishore Kiradoo
Partner Director Director Company Secretary
Membership No.: 095037 DIN 03103474 DIN : 07685035 M.No.: A40347

Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram Place | Gurugram Place : Gurugram
Dale: 29 June 2018 Date: 29 Junc 2018 Date: 29 June 2018 Date: 29 June 2018
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OXYZO FINANCIAL SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2021

(All amounts in Lakhs of ¥ unless otherwise stated)
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Particulars

For the year ended
31 March 2021

For the year ended
31 March 2020

A

(2l

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 5,381.68 2,830.19
Adjustments for:
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans (1.64) (2.56)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 26.44 22.07
Net gain on Alternative investment funds (88.39) %,
Profit an sale of mutual funds 2 (25.66)
Interest income on bonds (233.35) (105.11)
Interest income on fixed deposits (132.03) (25.42)
Interest on income tax refund (3.56) (1.47)
Profit from sale of property, plant & equipment (0.64) (0.03)
Loss on sale of bonds/Investment property 1.04 19.22
Impairment allowance on loans 713.28 1,032.02
Impairment allowance an investment 8.43 -
Impairment on account of COVID-19 245,50 154,12
Loss on loans & advances written off 609.26 385.11
Employee stock options expense 106.67 51.91
Operating profit before working capital changes 6,632.69 4,334.39
Changes jn working capital
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 31.38 93.62
Increase/(decrease) in other payables (70.54) (379.12)
Increase/(decrease) in Other financial liabilities 876.83 496.46
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 75.08 61,79
Increase/(decrease) in Other non-financial liabilities 332.12 29.00
(Increase)/decrease in Loans and advances (47,710.11) (55,389.61)
(Increase)/decrease in Other finan, assets 342.34 (552.01)
(Increase)/decrease in Other non-financial assets (2.26) 256.45
Cash flow from operating activities post working capital changes (39,492.47) (51,049.03)
Income- tax paid (1,980.13) (617.25)
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) (41,472.60) (51,666.28)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (17.58) (63.33)
Purchase of Investment property (23.41) (136.60)
Proceeds from sale of Investment property 22.00 -
Investment in units of Alternative investment funds (5,057.25) -
Redemption from units of Alternative investment funds 2,088.39 =t
Investment in mutual fund - (9,000.00)
Proceeds from sale of mutual funds = 9,025.66
Investment in bonds (3,802.91) 3
Investment in Pass through certificates (3,990.36) -
Redemption from Pass through certificates 1,882.07 -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 17.44 2.68
Proceeds from sale of bonds 2,002.91 710.78
Investment in Fixed deposits (757.00) (73.00)
Interest income on Income Tax refund 3.56 1.47
Interest received on fixed deposit and security deposit 334.04 148.17
Net cash used in investing activities (B) (7,298.10) 615.83
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from debt securities 30,299.94 16,429.07
Repayments of debt securities (12,360.91) (9,821.64)
Net proceeds from cash credit and bank overdraft 2,158.09 712.81
Proceeds from other borrowings 98,248.81 59,565.79
Repayments of other borrowings (63,757.92) (30,722.96)
Proceeds from issue of equity shares including share premium 8,997.77 19,480.45
Net cash flow from financing activities (C) 63,585.78 55,643.52
Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 14,815.08 4,593.07
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5,085.63

19,900.71

Cash and cash equivalents at'the end of the year
TR,

Chartered
Ac:our‘.iams
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OXYZO FINANCIAL SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2021
(All amounts in Lakhs of ¥ unless otherwise stated)

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2020

As at
March 31, 2021

Cash on hand
Balance with banks
-In current accounts
-In deposit accounts
Accrued interest

See accompanying notes forming part of the Ind AS financial statements

In terms of our report attached
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants

Partner

Place : Gurugram
Date : 07 June 2021

5.96 11.87
19,894.75 2,572.00
= 2,500.00

s 1.76
19,900.71 5,085.63

1-54

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

o

Whole-time director and Chief Financial Officer
DIN: 03103474

o\
Brij Kishore Kira}oc
Company Secretary
M.No.: A40347
Place: Gurugram
Date : 07 June 2021

MM"}W

RucHi Kalra Asish Mohapatra
Director

DIN: 06666246
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ANNEXURE VI: ILLUSTRATION OF BOND CASH FLOWS

Illustration of Bond Cash Flows

Company Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Face Value (per security) Rs. 10,00,000/- (Rupees Ten Lakh only)

Issue Date / Date of Allotment Issue Opening Date: July 20, 2021
Deemed Date of Allotment: July 22, 2021

Maturity Date 22 July 2023

Frequency of the Coupon Payment with | Coupon payable monthly.

specified dates First Coupon on August 22, 2021 and subsequently on
each month of every calendar year until the Maturity
Date (subject to adjustments for Business Day
Convention).

Day Count Convention Actual/Actual

Coupon Payment | No. of | Coupon Amount Principal Principal Amount (in
Dates days (in Rupees) Payment Date(s) Rupees)

August 22, 2021 31.00 3,791,342.47
September 22, 2021 | 31.00 3,791,342.47
October 22, 2021 30.00 3,669,041.10 October 22, 2021 6,00,00,000
November 22,2021 | 31.00 3,317,424.66
December 22,2021 | 30.00 3,210,410.96
January 22, 2022 31.00 3,317,424.66 January 22, 2022 6,00,00,000
February 22, 2022 31.00 2,843,506.85
March 22, 2022 28.00 2,568,328.77

April 22, 2022 31.00 2,843,506.85 April 22, 2022 6,00,00,000
May 22, 2022 30.00 2,293,150.68
June 22, 2022 31.00 2,369,589.04
July 22, 2022 30.00 2,293,150.68 July 22, 2022 6,00,00,000

August 22, 2022 31.00 1,895,671.23
September 22,2022 | 31.00 1,895,671.23
October 22, 2022 30.00 1,834,520.55 October 22, 2022 6,00,00,000
November 22,2022 | 31.00 1,421,753.42
December 22,2022 | 30.00 1,375,890.41

January 22, 2023 31.00 1,421,753.42 January 22, 2023 6,00,00,000
February 22, 2023 31.00 947,835.62
March 22, 2023 28.00 856,109.59
April 22, 2023 31.00 947,835.62 April 22, 2023 6,00,00,000
May 22, 2023 30.00 458,630.14
June 22, 2023 31.00 473,917.81
July 22, 2023 30.00 458,630.14 July 22, 2023 6,00,00,000
TOTAL 48,00,00,000
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Haryana, India

Tel: +91 124 679 2000

Fax: +91 124 679 2012

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON AUDIT OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS

To the Board of Directors of
Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Opinion

We have audited the Financial Results for the year ended March 31, 2021 included in the
accompanying “Statement of Financial Results for the half year and year ended March 31,
2021" of Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited ("the Company”), (“the Statement”), being
submitted by the Company pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 52 of the SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended (“the Listing
Regulations”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to
us, the Financial Results for the year ended March 31, 2021:

is presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 52 of the SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended; and

gives a true and fair view in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles
laid down in the Indian Accounting Standards and other accounting principles generally
accepted in India of the net profit and total comprehensive income and other financial
information of the Company for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing ("SAs") specified under
Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”). Our responsibilities under those
Standards are further described in Auditor’s Responsibilities for audit of the Annual Financial
Results section below. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of
Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“the ICAI”) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Results for the year ended
March 31, 2021 under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ICAI's Code
of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion,

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 5 to the Statement, which fully describes that the Company has
recognised impairment on financial assets to reflect the adverse business impact and
uncertainties arising from the COVID 19 pandemic. Such estimates are based on current facts
and circumstances and may not necessarily reflect the future uncertainties and events arising
from the full impact of the COVID 19 pandemic.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

¥

Chartered Accountants
7" Floor, Building 10, Tower B
DLF Cyber City Complex
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Management’s Responsibilities for the Statement

This Statement, which includes the Financial Results is the responsibility of the Company's
Board of Directors and has been approved by them for the issuance. The Statement has been
compiled from the related audited financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021
and interim financial information for the half year ended March 31, 2021. This responsibility
includes the preparation and presentation of the Financial Results for the half year and year
ended March 31, 2021 that give a true and fair view of the net profit and other comprehensive
income and other financial information in accordance with the recognition and measurement
principles laid down in the Indian Accounting Standards (*Ind AS") prescribed under Section
133 of the Act read with relevant rules issued thereunder and other accounting principles
generally accepted in India and in compliance with Regulation 52 of the Listing Regulations.
This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing
and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were
operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records,
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Financial Results that give a true and fair
view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Annual Financial Results, the Board of Directors are responsible for assessing
the Company’s ability, to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of
Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of
the Company.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for audit of Annual Financial Results

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Results for the
year ended March 31, 2021 as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggreqgate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of this Financial Results.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Annual Financial Results,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

U'\gQ omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal contral.

-
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= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors.

» Evaluate the appropriateness and reasonableness of disclosures made by the Board of
Directors in terms of the requirements specified under Regulation 52 of the Listing
Regulations.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the
Company to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
Statement or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Annual Financial Results,
including the disclosures, and whether the Annual Financial Results represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the Annual Financial Results of the
Company to express an opinion on the Annual Financial Results.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Annual Financial Results that, individually
orin aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable
user of the Annual Financial Results may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality
and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results
of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the Annual
Financial Results.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safequards.

D

/
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Other Matters

The Statement includes the results for the half-year ended March 31, 2021 being the
balancing figure between audited figures in respect of the full financial year and the published
year to date figures up to the half-year ended September 30, 2020 which were subject to
limited review by us.

Our opinion on the Statement is not modified in respect of this matter.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells
Chartered Accountants
(Firm's Registration No. 015125N)

[N

| Q.\.k.'\\""(

Vijay Agarwal
Partner
(Membership No. 094468)
(UDIN: 21094468AAAAEUT661)
Place: Gurugram
Date: June 7, 2021

b
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Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
Registered office: Shop No. G-22C (UGF) D-1 (K-84) Green Park Main, New Delhi-110016
Tel. No: 011-40507973, Website: www.oxyzo.in

CIN: U65929DL2016PTC306174

< of audited fi

results for the half year ended and year ended 31 March 2021

[Regulation 52 (8), read with Regulation 52 (4), of the SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015]

(All amounts in Rupees lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Half year ended

Year ended

Sr No. Particulars 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)
1 Total Income from Operations 10,768.35 8,132.15 19,752.97 13,517.51
2 Net Profit / (Loss) for the period after tax 2,193.31 1,255.29 3,993.69 2,105.93
3 Total comprehensive income 2,192.08 1,246.32 3,992.46 2,104.01
4 Paid up Equity Share Capital 5,010.34 4,774.80 5,010.34 4,774.80
5 Reserves (excluding Revaluation Reserve) 39,951.31 27,089.95 39,951.31 27,089.95
6 Net worth 44,961.65 31,864.75 44,961.65 31,864.75
7 Debt Equity Ratio 2.60 1.95 2.60 1.95
8 Earnings per share (nominal value of share Rs. 10 each):
Basic (in Rupees)* 4.51 2.76 8.29 5.03
Diluted (in Rupees)* 4.51 2.76 8.29 5.03

b)

* not annualised for the six month period ended.
Note:

The above is an extract of the detailed format of half yearly/annual financial results filed with the Stock Exchanges under Regulation 52 of the SEBI
(Listing and Other Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, The full format of the half yearly/annual financial results are available on the websites

of the Stock Exchange(s) and at our website www.oxyzo.in.

For the items referred in sub-clauses (a), (b), (d) and (e) of the Regulation 52 (4) of the SEBI (Listing and Other Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2015, the pertinent disclosures have been made to the Stock Exchange(s) (specify names of Stock Exchanges) and can be accessed on the website,

Place: Gurugram
Date: 07 June 2021

Fofjand on bel

If of the Board of Directors
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Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2021

(All amounts in Rupees lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
Registered office: Shop No. G-22C (UGF) D-1 (K-84) Green Park Main, New Delhi-110016
Corporate office: 101, First Floor Vipul Agora Mall, MG Road Gurgaon, Haryana- 122002

Tel. No: 011-40507973, Website: www,oxyzo.in

CIN: U65929DL2016PTC306174

Particulars As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
(Audited) (Audited)
ASSETS
1 Financial Assets
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 19,900.71 5,085.63
(b) Bank balances other than (a) above 908.76 131.52
(c) Loans 135,652.45 89,510.38
(d) Investments 6,969.55 -
(e) Other financial assets 294.98 638.66
163,726.45 95,366.19
2 Non-Financial Assets
(a) Current tax assets (Net) 78.66 7.00
(b) Deferred tax assets (Net) 501.53 350.68
(c) Investment property 149.92 149.92
(d) Property, plant and equipment 35.08 60.37
(e) Other non-financial assets 21.29 19.03
786.48 587.00
Total Assets 164,512.93 95,953.19
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
1 Financial Liabilities
(a) Payables
(1) Trade payables
(i) total outstanding dues to micro and small enterprises - -
(ii) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 205.70 174,32
(II) Other payables
(i) total outstanding dues to micro and small enterprises - -
(ii) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 21.46 92.00
(b) Debt securities 32,468.10 14,529.07
(c) Borrowings (other than debt securities) 84,369.47 47,720.49
(d) Other financial liabilities 1,868.14 991.31
118,932.87 63,507.19
2 Non-Financial Liabilities
(a) Current tax liabilities (Net) - 370.04
(b) Provisians 187.19 112.11
(c) Other non-financial liabilities 431.22 99.10
618.41 581.25
Total liabilities 119,551.28 64,088.44
EQUITY
(a) Equity Share capital 5,010.34 4,774.80
(b) Other Equity 39,951.31 27,089.95
44,961.65 31,864.75
Total Liabilities and Equity 164,512.93 95,953.19

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Oxyzdg Financial Services Private Limited

Ruchi Kalra
Whole time Director and Chief Financk
(DIN: 03103474)

Place: Gurugram
Date: 07 June 2021
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Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
Statement of financial results for the half year ended and year ended 31 March 2021
{All amounts in Rupees lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
Registered office: Shop No. G-22C (UGF) D-1 (K-84) Green Park Main, New Delhi-110016
Tel. No: 011-40507973, Website: www,oxyzo.in
CIN: U65929DL2016PTC306174
Half year ended Year ended
Particulars 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)
(Refer note 10) (Refer note 10)
1 Revenue from operations
(i) Interest income 10,450.89 7,890.68 19,250.25 13,094.33
(ii) Fee and commission income 229.07 216.19 414.33 397.52
(iii) Net gain on fair value changes 88.39 25.28 88.39 25.66
Total Revenue from operations 10,768.35 8,132.15 19,752,97 13,517.51
2 Other income 0.64 1.50 4.20 1.50
3 Total Income (1+2) 10,768.99 8,133.65 19,757.17 13,519.01
4 Expenses
(i) Finance costs 5,169.62 3,630.38 9,021.93 6,029.19
(ii) Impairment on financial instruments 495.19 1,156.18 1,576.47 1,571.25
(iii) Employees benefit expenses 1,647.22 1,200.14 2,995.48 2,258.05
(iv) Depreciation and amortisation expense 13.12 12.21 26.44 22.07
(v) Other expenses 475.79 458.03 755.17 808.26
Total expenses 7,800.94 6,456.94 14,375.49 10,688.82
5 Profit before tax (3-4) 2,968.05 1,676.71 5,381.68 2,830.19
6 Tax expense
Current tax 746.68 624,48 1,538.43 987.29
Deferred tax charge/ (benefit) 28.06 (203.06) (150.44) (263.03)
774.74 421.42 1,387.99 724.26
7 Profit for the year/ period (5-6) 2,193.31 1,255.29 3,993.69 2,105.93
8 Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Tterns that will not be reciassified to profit orjoss
Remeasurement (loss)/ gain on defined benefit plans (1.64) (8.19) (1.64) (2.56)
Income tax benefit/ (charge) on above 0.41 (0.78) 0.41 0.64
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year/ period (1.23) (8.97) (1.23) (1.92)
9 Total comprehensive income for the year/ period (7+8) 2,192.08 1,246.32 3,992.46 2,104.01
10 Earnings per share (nominal value of share Rs. 10 each):
Basic (in Rupees)* 4,51 2,76 8.29 5.03
Diluted (in Rupees)* 4.51 2.76 B8.29 5.03
* not annualised for the six month period.
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Registered office: Shop No. G-22C (UGF) D-1 (K-84) Green Park Main, New Delhi-110016
Tel. No: 011-40507973, Website: www.oxyzo.in
CIN: U65929DL2016PTC306174
Notes forming part of financial results for the half year and year ended 31 March 2021

1 The Company is a Non-Banking Financial Company - Non-Deposit taking Systemically Important Company ('"NBFC-ND-SI'), registered
with the Reserve Bank of India (‘the RBI').

2 The above financial results for the half-year and year ended 31 March 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved
by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 07 June 2021. The report is being filed with Bombay stock exchange ("BSE") and is also
available on the Company’s website www.oxyzo.in,

3 These results have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in Ind AS 34 - Interim
Financial Reporting, prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with relevant rules issued thereunder and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India.

4 The Company during the half year ended 31 March 2021 has issued 7,525 units of Non-Convertible Debenture amounting to Rs. 13,825
lakhs on private placement basis which are listed on BSE,

5 The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic across the globe and in India has contributed to a significant decline and volatility in the global and
Indian financial markets and slowdown in the economic activities. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic, including the current
“second wave” that has significantly increased the number of cases in India, will continue to impact the Company's performance will
depend on ongoing as well as future developments, which are highly uncertain, including, among other things, any new information
concerning the severity of the COVID-19 pandemic and any action to contain its spread or mitigate its impact whether government
mandated or elected by us. Reserve Bank of India (RBI) has issued guidelines dated 27 March, 2020, 17 April, 2020 and 23 May, 2020
relating to 'COVID-19 - Regulatory Package’ and in accordance therewith, the Company in accordance with its board approved policy has
offered a moratorium for eligible borrowers on the payment of principal amount, EMI installments and/or interest, falling due between 01
March, 2020 and 31 August, 2020 excluding the collection already made in the month of March 2020. For all such accounts where
moratorium is granted, the asset classification remained standstill during the moratorium period (i.e. the number of days past due shall
exclude moratorium period for the purpose of asset classification as per the prudential norms).

Further, the Company has based on currently available information and based on the policy approved by the Board of Directors,
determined the prudential estimate of the provision for impairment of financial assets. In estimating the provision for impairment of
financial assets, the Company has considered internal and external sources of information including ecanomic forecasts and industry
reports up to the date of approval of these financial statements and results,

Accordingly, the provision for expected credit loss on financial assets as at 31 March 2021 aggregates Rs. 2,372.80 lakhs (as at 31 March
2020, Rs. 1,414.02 lakhs) which includes potential impact on account of the pandemic amounting to Rs, 399.62 lakhs (as at 31 March
2020, Rs. 154.12 lakhs). The eventual outcome of global health pandemic due to prevailing uncertainty may be different from those
estimated as on the date of approval of financial results and Company will continue to monitor any material changes for future economic
conditions. However, based on the current indicators of future economic conditions, the Company considers this provision to be adequate
and expects to recover the carrying amount of these financial assets.

6 RBI circular dated 7 April, 2021 advised all lending institutions to put in place a Board-approved policy to refund/adjust the ‘interest on
interest’ charged to the borrowers during the moratorium period, i.e. 01 March, 2020 to 31 August, 2020 in conformity with the Supreme
Court judgement dated 23 March, 2021 ("Supreme Court judgement”). Further, the circular stated that the methodology for calculation
of the amount to be refunded/adjusted for different facilities shall be finalised by the Indian Banks Association ("IBA") in consultation
with other industry participants/bodies, which shall be adopted by all lending institutions and also advised all lending institutions to
disclose the aggregate amount to be refunded/adjusted in respect of their borrowers based on the above reliefs in their financial results
for the year ended 31 March, 2021.

The IBA has released clarification on identification of borrowers and the calculation methodology of the amount to be refunded/adjusted
in relation to compound interest/interest on interest/ penal interest vide letter CIB/ADV/MBR/9833 dated 19 April, 2021.

The Company has estimated the said amount and made a provision of Rs. 192.75 Lakhs through interest reversal in its Statement of
Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 March, 2021.

7 Disclosure as required under RBI notification no. RBI/2019-20/220 DOR.No.BP.BC.63/21,04.048/2019-20 dated 17 April
2020 on COVID-19 Regulatory Package - Asset Classification and Provisioning

Particulars 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Amount in SMA/overdue categories as of February 29, 2020 5,631.30 4,322.74
Respective amounts in SMA/overdue categories, where the moratorium/deferment was - -
extended, in terms of paragraph 2 and 3 (as of February 29, 2020)

Respective amounts where asset classification benefits is extended (net of accounts
which have moved out of SMA/overdue category during the moratorium period)

Provisions made during the period (As per para 4, Applicable to NBFC's covered under - 22.93
Ind AS)

Provisions adjusted slippages in terms of paragraph 6 of the circular
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Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
Registered office: Shop No. G-22C (UGF) D-1 (K-84) Green Park Main, New Delhi-110016
Tel. No: 011-40507973, Website: www.oxyzo.in
CIN: U65929DL2016PTC306174
Notes forming part of financial results for the half year and year ended 31 March 2021

The Company is engaged primarily in the business of financing and all its operations are in India only. Accordingly, there is no separate
reportable segment as per Ind AS 108 on 'Operating Segments' in respect of the Campany.

The Code on Social Security 2020 has been notified in the Official Gazette on 29 September, 2020. The effective date from which the
changes are applicable is yet to be notified and the rules are yet to be framed. Impact, if any, of the change will be assessed and
accounted in the period in which said code becomes effective and the rules formed thereunder are published.

The figures for the half year ended 31 March, 2021 and 31 March, 2020 are the balancing figures between audited figures in respect of

the full financial year and the published audited year-to-date figures upto half year ended 30 September, 2020 and 30 September, 2019
respectively.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited

Ruchi Kalra

Whole time Director and Chief Financial Officer
(DIN: 03103474)

Place: Gurugram
Date: 07 June 2021
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Oxyzo Financial Services Private Limited
Annexure-I

Additional information

(All amounts in Rupees lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

(a) Credit Rating

The ICRA Limited (ICRA) and CARE Ratings have assigned following ratings to the Company:

Instrument Rating Agency Rating

Non convertible debentures ICRA Ltd BBB+ Stable
Non convertible debentures ICRA Ltd BBB+ Stable
Commercial paper ICRA Ltd A2+

Bank Lines ICRA Ltd BBB+ Stable
Principal Protected Market Linked Debenture ICRA Ltd PP-MLD BBB+ Stable
Other Instruments ICRA Ltd A-(CE) Stable
Non convertible debentures ICRA Ltd A-(CE) Stable
Bank Lines CARE BBB+

Non convertible debentures CARE BBB+

Non convertible debentures CARE BBB+

(b) Asset cover available, in case of non-convertible debentures
Not applicable

(c) Following is the information regarding interest and principal repayment of non-convertible debentures:

Previous due date of interest and principal
ISIN Credit rating Principal Interest/Premium
Date Amount Date Amount |Payment status

INE04VS07032 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 30-Jun-20 34.20 Paid
INE04VS07032 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 30-Sep-20 34.58 Paid
INEQ4VSD7032 ICRA-BBB+[Stable] *Not due *Not due 31-Dec-28 34.58 Paid
INEO4VS07032 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 15-Mar-21 1,000.00 15-Mar-21 27.82 Paid
INE04VS07057 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 30-Jun-20 34.70 Paid
INEQ4VS07057 ICRA BBEB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 30-Sep-20 35.09 Paid
INE04VS07057 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 31-Dec-20 35.09 Paid
INEQ4VS07057 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 31-Mar-21 34.41 Paid
INEQ4VS07065 ICRA BBB [Stable] *Not due *Not due 30-Apr-20 12.16 Paid
INEQ4VS07073 ICRA BBB [Stable] *Not due *Not due 30-Apr-20 12.16 Paid
INE04VS07065 ICRA BBB [Stable] 06-May-20 1,000.00 06-May-20 2.43 Paid
INEO4VS507073 ICRA BBB [Stable] 06-May-20 1,000.00 06-May-20 2.43 Paid
INE04VS07099 CARE BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 12-Jun-20 227.57 Paid
INEO4VS07099 CARE BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 14-Dec-20 227.50 Paid
INEQ4VS07107 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 28-Apr-20 32.04 Paid
INE04VS07107 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 23-Jul-20 200.00 23-Jul-20 32.04 Paid
INE04VS07107 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 23-0ct-20 25.91 Paid
INE04VS07107 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 22-Jan-21 200.00 22-Jan-21 25.91 Paid
INE04VS07149 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 15-Sep-20 76.06 Paid
INE04VS07149 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 15-Dec-20 1,250.00 15-Dec-20 75:23 Paid
INE0O4V507149 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 15-Mar-21 37.20 Paid
INEO4VS07156 ICRA A-(CE) [Stable] *Not due *Not due 21-Jul-20 21.74 Paid
INEQ4VSQ7156 ICRA A-(CE) [Stable] *Not due *Not due 21-Aug-20 22.46 Paid
INEQ4VS07156 ICRA A-(CE) [Stable] 21-Sep-20 191.67 21-Sep-20 22.46 Paid
INEQ4VS07156 ICRA A-(CE) [Stable] *Not due *Not due 20-Oct-20 19.93 Paid
INEQ4VS07156 ICRA A-(CE) [Stable] *Not due *Not due 21-Nov-20 20.59 Paid
INEQ4VS07156 [CRA A-(CE) [Stable] 21-Dec-20 191.67 21-Dec-20 19.93 Paid
INE04VS07156 ICRA A-(CE) [Stable] *Not due *Not due 20-Jan-21 18.72 Paid
INE04VS507156 ICRA A-(CE) [Stable] *Not due *Not due 18-Feb-21 18.12 Paid
INEO4VS07156 ICRA A-(CE) [Stable] 20-Mar-21 191.67 20-Mar-21 17.51 Paid
INE04VS07172 CARE BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 10-Mar-21 123.29 Paid
INE04VS07172 CARE BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 10-Mar-21 24.66 Paid
INEO4VS07180 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 31-Mar-21 53.97 Paid
INEQ4VS07206 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] *Not due *Not due 31-Mar-21 24.93 Paid
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Next due date of interest and principal
ISIN Credit rating Principal Interest/Premium
Date Amount Date Amount
INEQ4VS07057 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 30-Jun-22 1,000.00 30-Jun-21 34.80
INEQ4VS07081 PP-MLD ICRA BBB+ 27-Jun-22 1,700.00 27-Jun-22 797.77
INEQ4VS07099 CARE BBB+ [Stable] 12-Dec-23 3,500.00 14-Jun-21 226.87
INEO4VS07107 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 28-Jul-21 200.00 28-Apr-21 19.01
INEQ4VS07149 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 29-Jun-21 1,250.00 29-Jun-21 43.82
INEO4VS07156 ICRA A-(CE) [Stable] 24-Jun-21 191.67 20-Apr-21 16.85
INEO4VS07164 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 26-Jun-23 5,000.00 26-Jun-21 535.00
INEQ4VS07172 CARE BBB+ [Stable] 12-Sep-21 1,250.00 10-Jun-21 126.03
INEQ4VS07172 CARE BBB+ [Stable] 12-Sep-21 250.00 10-Jun-21 25.21
INEQ4VS07180 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 15-Dec-23 1,500.00 30-Jun-21 47.68
INE0O4VS07198 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 15-Dec-21 941.67 15-Jun-21 161.88
INEQ4VS07206 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 31-Oct-21 200.00 30-Jun-21 24.93
INEQ4VS07214 ICRA BBB+ [Stable] 30-Apr-21 138.90 30-Apr-21 23.78
INE04VS07115 PP-MLD CARE BBB+ 13-May-21 900.00 13-May-21 149.25
INED4VS07123 PP-MLD CARE BBB+ 13-Mar-22 900.00 13-Mar-22 272.72
INEQ4VS07131 PP-MLD CARE BBB+ 13-Mar-23 800.00 13-Mar-23 393.05
*Not due - Principal repayment not yet due
(d) Debt-equity ratio
Particulars As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Debt-equity ratio 2.60 1.95

(e) Debt service coverage ratio

Not applicable

(f) Interest service coverage ratio

Not applicable

(g) Outstanding redemption reserve/ Debenture redemption reserve

Not applicable, since, debenture redemption reserve Is not required in respect of privately

18(7)(b)(ii) of Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014

(h) Outstanding redeemable preference shares

Not applicable

(i) Net worth

Particulars As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
[Net worth 44,961.65 31,864.75 |

placed debentures in terms of Rules
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ANNEXURE VIII: DUE DILIGENCE CERTIFICATE

IDEI Trustesship Services Ltd
TN m:HH?EIIﬂ[ﬂ::‘H @lL}Bl brustese

M08/ TISL /PR, 200 22

To,

The Chisf General Manager
Dreparbmert of Corporate Services,
Lst Flocr, P.T Towers.

Dralad Street, Mumbed 400 (00

DUE DILIGESNCE CERTIFICATE TO BE GIVEN BY THE DEEENTURE TRUSTEE
AT THE TIME OF FILING THE DERAFT OFFER DhOCURENT OR
INFOBRRIATION MENMORAND U

Ciear Sir f Madam,

S5UB.: ISSUE OF RATED, LISTED, SECURED, BEDEEMABLE, NON-
CONVERTIBLE DEFENTLURES (INCDHS) AGGREGATING UP TO RS, 48 CRORES
By Oy E0 FINANCIAL SERVICES FEIWVATE LINTITELD

¥e, ke debentom trosteeis] to the abowve menboned I'n:|rl:]'u.'nrrrl.'url;f_r Isvue skl a5 follows:

1p We have examined documenss pertaining o the sud ssor and other such relevant
docamenss, reparts and oerifications

] O thie basis of such examinzton and of the descassions widh the [ssoer, @5 directors
and ather officers, other agencies and an independent venficabion of the wamous
relmvant documenis, repoeres and certifications, WE COMFIRM that

a. The bssuer has made adeguate provinons for and, or has taken sieps io provide
for adegquabe secumty for the debi serumbes fo be tasued

b The issuer has ohtamed ihe permassions | consenis necessary far creafning secuniy
om the said properiefiesh

. The lsseer has made all the relevamd dhisclosores aboat the secunty and also its
conbnoed abigabons iowands the kieiders of debt spconities.

d.  Iesuer hos ademaiely disclosed all consentsf permassions mogqaired for crrateon of
further charge oo assets in offer domamen® or povase placement memorandum;/
miormation memorandum and all disclosemes made in the offer documenit aor
prvale placemnent memorandam informanon memarandam with respect o
creabon of seourify ane in confirmation with the claoses of debenane rastoe

q;mrmmt

e lssuerhas desclosed all covenants proposed o be incladed in debenfure srust deed
{mchdmg any sde lefier, accelerabed payment clamse et offer document ar
prnvale placement memorandum,’ informaton memomandum.

Rogd. Offioe | A wlh? Groming Fiar |7, 0, samare Marg, Baiang Extae, Momnal --u':l'mll
Bl [ GFE 4000 P00 « Paw | O GENL 1000 « il iDE DRI INIFLsEEe COiT @ Fiei e O LR sl G
‘WWakiailbE ¢ eniiee dlliFistee coim
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IDAI Trusteeship Servioes Ltd -
CIN - USSR IMHE GO 30 5 i

. bswer has given an ondertakmp thal charge shall be reated o favour of
debeniare rusion 25 per werme of sswe before filmg of histing appheation,

W' hawve sehsfied ooreehves about the aimbiy of ibe [sver o sernce the debt seoanfics
PLACE: Mumbai
DATE: July 19, 2021

[ | P S p—

- Veig——

b2 T TP

Hagd, Ofice ; A . Bround Pioor, |7, & samard Marg, Baliend Essate, Murtai -qn.'; 0ol
Bl | ORE-A0NG POI0 « Fae | U048 GESL 1T ¢ Dl cbsldind s e i) = pERpOE R R e CEE

iWelintbn | weeee elbibrstes o
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ANNEXURE IX: TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF DEBENTURE TRUSTEE AGREEMENT

Attached separately.
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